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UAE
2018 UAE
UAE
UAE
2011
MENA
Daesh ISIS
UAE
UAE
2015 12
UAE MENA
2021
UAE
2020 UAE
2021
MENA
UAE
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oOoOooodn
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
MIC 37.9
NBAD NBAD FGB
2008 2009
NBAD FGB
NBAD FGB 4.0
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
2021 12 31 UAE 49
2022 UAE
NBD
UAE 2021 12 31
2021 12 31 UAE

UAE

UAE
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2021 12 31
DIFC 49
2022 UAE
2021 OPEC

UAE

2020

UAE

UAE
UVAE

UAE
22

2015

UAE
22 UAE
2020
UAE
S&P AA-
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UAE

2019

UAE

oOoOooodn

9.3

NBAD FGB

Aa3

1980 11
GCC
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GCC

UAE

GCC

UAE

2019

2017 11

2020 11

VAT

2021 12 31

2015 20
2015 12 21
UAE
UAE
GCC UAE
2020
GCC VAT 2021
VAT
UAE 2017 23
28 UAE VAT
VAT
2020 11 UAE
UAE
2022 31 UAE
CIT
CIT 375,000
CIT
GCC
21.7

16 11
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UAE GCC
UAE
UAE
2018
VAT
15
16 VAT
2017 UAE
15 2020
UAE VAT
2023 CIT
CIT
UAE
17
5.7
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OOooOoOoOoo
NIT 117
1S
3.0
2021 NIM  1.50 2020 12 31
1.75
59 10.0 46
2020 34
30 750
BAE
2021 12 31
26.4 2020 12 31 27
2021 12 31 17.0
4.0
2021 12 31
2.7 65
ECL 166 98
UAE TESS
2021 12 31
2022 30 2021 12 31 5.5
*ECL ECL +
ECL + IFRS
2021 12 31
2021 12 31 410
25 191
14 614
CASA
29 65

2021 12 31 47
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LCR 134
UAE
2021
4.7
MENA
MENA

Loans in the Middle East in 2021

ARR

MENA
** 2021 11 30 UAE
2020 12 31 13.3
2022 30 TESS
16.5 15.4
2021 12 31
RORWA 15.1
2.1
70
2021
1B

CB

1B

2021

21

2021 12 31
100

10

MENA

oOoOooodn

2015

2021

605

1.4

Outstanding Leadership in Sustainable Finance and Green

RoTE

MENA
MENA
SONIA
2021 11
113
CET
2021
15.4 14.3
2.3 2020 12 31
49
CCB
PB
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SOFR

1.3

2020 12 31
12.4

11
2021 12 31
2020 12 31

13.0

2021 12 31
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1B 2021

69
10

46
55

GM

GCF

240
SLL
NEMA

MENA
2021

2021
12

510
CCB

FABeSign

SCF

13

CASA

oOoOooodn

2020
MENA
CASA
UAE MENA
UAE UAE
GTB
UEA GCC MENA
CCB
CCB
2021
27
DigiCheques
2,000

UEA
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oooooog
UAE
Etisalat
FABeSCF The Innovators for Trade
Finance
CB
2021 4.9
CASA
2021 Travel
Card 2020 50
28 Elite World
13 46
Payment
Buy Now, Pay Later 2021 Fintech Partnership
Award MEA Best Customer Experience
Al
FAB Mobile
FAB Mobile
MEA Best Mobile Banking Services
Implementation Award in 2021
GPB
GPB 2021 50
GPB
UAE 2021
23 UAE
GPB
GPB
MENA2021 Most Promising New Private Bank Proposition
Private Bank or Wealth Manager Servicing the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Best Private Bank
Servicing Clients with Investable Assets Between USD 1 Million and USD 5 Million Best
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Private Bank Servicing Clients with investable assets between USD 5 Million and USD 25

Million

2021 26 18
BAE
52
34 14
BAE
27
BAE
2022

IT

NBAD FGB IT IT
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2021 12 31
11

2021 12 31 5.7

2021 12 31

7.0

2021 12 31
132
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oOoOooodn

ADX 2000
2021 12 31 10,920,000
2020 12 31
10,920,000 40 UAE
2021 12 31
10,920,000 10,920,000
2021 12 31
10,920,000 ADX
2017 12 31
5,643,000 10,897,545 5,643,000 10,897,545
2018 1231 0 10,897,545 0 10,897,545
2019 12 31
22,455 10,920,000 22,455 10,920,000
2020 12 31
0 10,920,000 0 10,920,000
2021 12 31
0 10,920,000 0 10,920,000
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oOoOooodn
2017 2017 FGB
5,643,000 FGB NBAD 1.254
2019 NBAD
2021 12 31
5 874 3,848 4,727
* 239,556,675 8,693,181,179 1,980,755,729 10,913,493,583
2.20% 79.66% 18.15% 100.00%
ADX
6,506,417
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(2021 12 31 )

4,182,671 38.3%

15

10 50

10
50

10
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2009 518 SCA
2010
UAE 2010
UAE
UAE SCA
UAE
2009 UAE UAE
UAE 2019
BRCC
11
GCEO
GCEO
GCEO GCEO GCEO

UAE
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REMCO

REMCO GCEO
REMCO
REMCO

REMCO H.H.
H.E.
H.E. GCEO

REMCO REMCO

REMCO
2021 12 31 REMCO

BMC

BMC GCEO BMC
BMC

UAE

BMC H.E.
H.E. H.E.
H.E. GCEO

BMC BMC

BMC
2021 12 31 BMC

BRCC

BRCC GCEO
BRCC
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oOoOooodn
BRCC
BRCC H.E.
H.E. H.E.
GCEO
BRCC BRCC
BRCC
2021 12 31 BRCC
BAC
BAC GCEO
BAC H.E. H.E.
H.E.
H.E.
GCEO
BAC BAC
BAC
2021 12 31 BAC
GCEO
10

GCEO
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oOoOooodn
2021 12 31 14
BRCC
BRCC
GCEO
2021 12 31
BRCC BRCC
GCEO
2021 12 31

2021 12 31
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oOoOooodn
BRCC
11
GCEO
2021 12 31 12
REMCO
GCEO
2021 12 31
BRCC IT
2021 12 31 14
/
/
BRCC
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ooooooo
/
2021 12 31
/
/
BRCC
/
/
2021 12 31
11
(2021 12
31 )
H_H. FGB UAE
(Royal Group)
1968
H_H. Sheikh 12
Tahnoon Bin
Zayed Al
Nahyan
H.E. NBAD
17
1978 Abu Dhabi National
H.E. 10 19 Insurance Company
Sheikh Mohamed
Bin Saif Bin
Mohamad Al
Nahyan
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OOoOooOodd
UAE
UAE
H.E.
Mubadala
UAE
1974
H.E. Jassim 28
BMOQaE:efu MODON Properties
uza ab_ Etisalat
aabi ADQ
Abu Dhabi National Oil
Company ADNOC
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Ooooooog
UAE UAE
ADNOC GCEO UAE
ADNOC ADNOC
ADNOC
Distribution
ADNOC
ADNOC
Mubadala Investment Company
MIC
MIC
Masdar 2009
H.E 2019
Abu Dhabi Ports Company
1973
H.E. Dr. 81 2012
Sultan Ahmed
Al Jaber
2013
CBE 2019
2021
Emirates
Development Bank
Masdar
Emirates Global
Aluminium
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oOoOooodn

NBAD
Bin Srour
Engineering
H.E.
Emirates Communication Etisalat
Abu Dhabi National Hotels
1971
Company
H.E. Sheikh Abu Dhabi Aviation
Ahmed Mohammed Al Dhafra
Sultan Al Insurance
Dhahiri Al Dhaheri Group
1996 2009
FGB
SHUAA Capital GCEO
Gulf Finance House
H.E. _
SALAMA Islamic Arab
1984 Insurance Company
. H-E. 26 Eshragq Investments PJSC
Jassim Mohamed
Al Seddiqi Dana
Gas
Petroleum Institute
Mubadala UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
H.E.
1971 Mubadala Petroleum
H.E. Yahsat
27

Musabbeh Helal
Musabbeh Al
Kaabi

Masdar
Mubadala Health
Emirates
Global Aluminium
Tabreed
Dolphin Energy
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FGB
H.E.

National Marina Dredging Co.
Thani
1966 Murshed Unilever

HE Abu Dhabi Sports Council

Mohammed Thani
Murshid Ghanem
Al Rumaithi

Alfa Dhabi Holding GCC

FGB

Arab Bank for Investment and Foreign
Trade Al Masraf)
(Asian Infrastructure
Investment Bank AlIB )

H-E. Emirates Steel Company
Emirates Development
1968 ' velop
. Bank (EDB)
B 10 DP World
Mohammed Saif Al
Al Suwaidi

Jazira Sports and Cultural Club
Abu Dhabi
Tourism Investments Company (ADTIC)

(ADUI)
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oOoOooodn

MIC

2030

UAE
Offsets Program Bureau

H.E.

McKinsey & Company
1974

H.E. Waleed 12

Al Mokarrab Al
Muhairi

Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi
Waha Capital
Global
Institute for Disease Elimination
GLIDE UAE
US-UAE Business Council
Mubadala Health

Cleveland Clinic
Aldar
Noon.com 71 Hub71

Ellipses Pharma Manager

Investcorp Holdings
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ooooooo
30
2021 GCEO
2017 2020
FGB 20
2006 2017 FGB

FGB FGB

UAE
1954 Multiply Group
Andre George 1
Sayegh

UAE
14 )
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ooooOoog
(2021 12
31 )
GCEO
Emirates Integrated Telecommunication
Company u)
1972 Emirates |Institute for Banking and
Hana Al GCEO 19 Financial Services
Rostamani
UAE
UAE
2021
Emirates Islamic Bank
1978 -
Suhail Bin 12 15 Emirates NBD Group
Tanfeeth
Tarraf
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20

Danske Bank

ABN AMRO
Standard Chartered Bank
1969
Pradeep 20
Rana
2001
2017
2020
FAB
FAB Islamic
1964
Karim 16 First Gulf Financial Services
Karoui

Industrie Cosmetique
Internationale ICI
Citibank Tunisia

Institut des Hautes Etudes
Commerciales [IHEC )

78/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOoOooOodd
Australia and New Zealand
Banking Group ANZ
ANZ
1968 ANZ
James 31
Burdett HSBC Bank plc HSBC
17
HSBC
HSBC
UAE
24
SME
Sara Al- 1977 FGB NBAD
Binali 31 FGB
FGB
ADIA
FAB
First Abu Dhabi Bank Securities FAB
FAB Capital
KSA Reem
Finance
INSEAD
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Ooooooog
30
UAE
1966
Nurendra
Perera CIA
CFSA
CRMA
1SACA
CISA
CRISC
CIB
INSEAD
HSBC
, 1962
Martin
Tricaud 1 HSBC Middle East Ltd.
HSBC Australia
HSBC Korea
HSBC
20
10
UAE
15
1982
Futoon Al 15
Mazrouei UAE UAE
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oOoOooodn
2015 UAE 169
10%
2021 12 31 48,000
)
7613
15 1995
UAE 22 UAE
2021 12 31
11 10
IT
UAE
)

Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
150,000
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oOoOooodn

)
UAE 6,392,506 314,414 6,706,919
728,712 - 728,712
644,007 - 644,007
120,062 - 120,062
470,419 - 470,419
145,621 - 145,621
AIB* 199,467 - 199,467
216,338 - 216,338
* 650,207 75,620 725,827
239,371 - 239,371
98,711 38,871 137,582
ADNL* - - -
197,904 12,141 210,045
ADNP* 166,950 - 166,950
ADNIF* 141,908 - 141,908
FAB 212,444 - 212,444
25,888 - 25,888
DIFC* - - -
16,695 - 16,695
FG 70,725 - 70,725
FGP -
50,085 50,085
Midmak 83,475 83,475
Mismak 139,125 139,125
Sas -
33,390 33,390
38,517 38,517
11,082,526 441,045 | 11,523,571
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oOoOooodn

UAE 3,964,901 22,260 3,987,161
656,985 - 656,985

262,078 96,642 358,719

345,796 - 345,796

294,279 - 294,279

AIB* 7 - 7
188,570 92,586 281,156

* 588,262 122,215 710,477
184,256 - 184,256

130,943 18,414 149,356

ADNL* - - -
132,996 103,836 236,832

ADNP* - - -
ADNIF* 75,128 - 75,128
FAB 169,956 - 169,956
23,654 - 23,654

DIFC* - - -
378,759 19,467 398,226

139,125 - 139,125

311,640 - 311,640

FG 273,877 - 273,877
FGP - - -
Midmak - - -
Mismak - - -
Sas - - -
38,308 - 38,308

8,159,520 475,420 8,634,939
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12 31

131

2022
35.40

UAE

38
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IFRS 2021

59
AED
UFJ
IFRS
IFRS
IFRS
b.
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23 25 193
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0000000
12 31
2021 2020
258,778,449  9,160,757,095 227,872,592 8,066,689,757
45,572,252 1,613,257,721 21,266,243 752,825,002
19,325,594 684,126,028 27,357,639 968,460,421
46,260,645 1,637,626,833 44,069,241  1,560,051,131
38 24,273,766 859,291,316 32,558,881  1,152,584,387
410,154,614  14,519,473,336 386,643,996  13,687,197,458
145,475,380  5,149,828,806 131,573,762 4,657,711,175
10 6,962,576 246,475,190 7,603,230 269,154,342
1 5,748,574 203,499,520 4,867,126 172,296,260
12 19,440,403 688,190,266 19,296,864 683,108,986
13 18,351,114 649,629,436 15,950,958 564,663,913
1,000,343,377  35,412,155,546 919,060,532  32,534,742,833
14 56,985,180  2,017,275,372 57,632,476  2,040,189,650
15 55,074,494  1,949,637,088 56,005,314  1,982,588,116
16 39,664,252 1,404,114,521 31,174,128  1,103,564,131
38 28,395,085 1,005,186,009 38,832,004  1,374,652,942
17 614,459,265  21,751,857,981 540,882,472  19,147,239,509
18 71,643,816  2,536,191,086 62,437,103  2,210,273,446
19 448,908 15,891,343 470,805 16,666,497
20 20,842,804 737,835,262 22,587,238 799,588,225
887,513,804  31,417,988,662 810,021,540  28,674,762,516
21 10,920,000 386,568,000 10,920,000 386,568,000
53,557,581 1,895,938,367 53,538,584  1,895,265,874
(6,430) (227,622) (8,980) (317,892)
10,920,000 386,568,000 10,920,000 386,568,000
21 3,569,185 126,349,149 2,882,421 102,037,703
22 10,754,750 380,718,150 10,754,750 380,718,150
23 249,816 8,843,486 249,816 8,843,486
22,849,243 808,863,202 19,418,076 687,399,890
112,814,145  3,993,620,733 108,674,667  3,847,083,212
15,428 546,151 364,325 12,897,105
112,829,573  3,994,166,884 109,038,992  3,859,980,317
1,000,343,377  35,412,155,546 919,060,532  32,534,742,833

2022 26
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48
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Ooooood
12 31
2021 2020
24 16,240,568 574,916,107 17,958,417 635,727,962
25 (5.561,216)  (196,867,046) (6,585,674)  (233,132,860)
10,679,352 378,049,061 11,372,743 402,595,102
26 1,843,179 65,248,537 2,143,026 75,863,120
27 (864,399) (30,599,725) (1,259,291) (44,578,901)
978,780 34,648,812 883,735 31,284,219
11,658,132 412,697,873 12,256,478 433,879,321
28 4,894,369 173,260,663 4,354,473 154,148,344
28 (1,859,821) (65,837,663) (1,442,393) (51,060,712)
3,034,548 107,422,999 2,912,080 103,087,632
29 692,339 24,508,801 1,240,355 43,908,567
30 6,484,786 229,561,424 951,027 33,666,356
31 (188,550) (6,674,670) 1,213,971 42,974,573
21,681,255 767,516,427 18,573,911 657,516,449
32 (5.836,474)  (206,611,180) (5,060,265)  (179,133,381)
15,844,781 560,905,247 13,513,646 478,383,068
33 (2,658,237) (94,101,590) (2,619,940) (92,745,876)
13,186,544 466,803,658 10,893,706 385,637,192
34 (644,272) (22,807,229) (341,198) (12,078, 409)
12,542,272 443,996,429 10,552,508 373,558,783
12,531,111 443,601,329 10,555,229 373,655,107
11,161 395,009 2,721) (96,323)
12,542,272 443,996,429 10,552,508 373,558,783
/) 40 1.12 39.65 0.93 32.92
/) 4 1.12 39.65 0.93 32.92

48
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ooooogd
12 31
2021 2020
12,542,272 443,996,429 10,552,508 373,558,783
(503,745) (17,832,573) 3,008 106,483
) 85,685 3,033,249 (110,984) (3,928,834)
118,863 4,207,750 (74,286) (2,629,724)
17,229 609,907 (18,825) (666,405)
(48,000) (1,699,200) (48,000) (1,699,200)
(329,968) (11,680,867) (249,087) (8,817,680)
12,212,304 432,315,562 10,303,421 364,741,103
12,547,716 444,189,146 10,279,940 363,909,876
(335,412) (11,873,585) 23,481 831,227
12,212,304 432,315,562 10,303,421 364,741,103
48

89/366



EDINETOOOO

OOo0ooo0obDo0oDo00Do00oo00ooO00oDo0DO00DO000DO000DO0000O00DOogOn(E2s5742)

OoOoooooo

12 31
2021 10,920,000 53,538,584 (8.,980) 10,920,000 2,882,421 10,754,750 249,816 19,418,076 108,674,667 364,325 109,038,992
- - - - - - - 12,531,111 12,531,111 11,161 12,542,272
- - - - 41,376 - - (30,771) 16,605 (346,573) (329,968)
- - - - - - - 1,013 1,013 - 1,013
2 - 18,997 2,550 - - - - - 21,547 - 21,547
(¢ - - - - - - - (8,074,594) (8,074,594) (13,485) (8.088,079)
« 2 - - - - - - - (356,204) (356,204) - (356,204)
IFRS - - - - 646,110 - - (646,110) - - -
FVOCH _ _ . _ 6.722) . - 6,722 R - -
2021 12 31 10,920,000 53,557,581 (6,430) 10,920,000 3,569,185 10,754,750 249,816 22,849,243 112,814,145 15,428 112,829,573
2020 10,920,000 53,434,461 (18,864) 10,920,000 2,474,032 10,754,750 249,816 18,872,367 107,606,562 430,474 108,037,036
- - - - (280,601) - - (551,735) (832,336) - (832,336)
- , - - - - - 10,555,229 10,555,229 .721) 10,552,508
- - - - (208,464) - - (66,825) (275,289) 26,202 (249,087)
- - - - - - - (306) (306) - (306)
2 - 104,123 9,884 - - - - - 114,007 - 114,007
( . - - . - - (8.,066,947) (8,066,947) (89,630) (8,156,577)
22 - - - - - 2,754,750 - - 2,754,750 - 2,754,750
« 22 - - - - - (2,754,750) - (426,253) (3,181,003) - (3,181,003)
IFRS . . - - 905,088 - - (905,088) - - -
Fvocl _ - - - (7,634) - - 7,634 - - -
2020 12 31 10,920,000 53,538,584 (8,980) 10,920,000 2,882,421 10,754,750 249,816 19,418,076 108,674,667 364,325 109,038,992
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48
2021 386,568,000 1,895,265,874 (317,892) 386,568,000 102,037,703 380,718,150 8,843,486 687,399,890 3,847,083,212 12,897,105 3,859,980,317
- - - - - - - 443,601,329 443,601,329 395,009 443,996,429
- - - - 1,677,110 - - (1,089,293) 587,817 (12,268,684) (11,680,867)
- - - - - - - 35,860 35,860 - 35,860
23 - 672,494 90,270 - - - - - 762,764 - 762,764
( - - - - - - - (285,840,628) (285.840,628) (477,369) (286,317,997)
¢ 2 - - - - - - - (12,609,622) (12,609,622) - (12,609,622)
IFRS - - - - 22,872,294 - - (22,872,294) - - -
FvoCI - - - - (237,959) - - 237,959 - - -
2021 12 31 386,568,000 1,895,938,367 (227,622) 386,568,000 126,349,149 380,718,150 8,843,486 808,863,202 3,993,620,733 546,151 3,994, 166,884
2020 386,568,000 1,891,579,919 (667,786) 386,568,000 87,580,733 380,718,150 8,843,486 668,081,792 3,809,272,295 15,238,780 3,824,511,074
- - - - (9,933,275) - - (19,531,419) (29,464,694) - (29,464,694)
- - - - - - - 373,655,107 373,655,107 (96,323) 373,558,783
- - - - (7,379,626) - - (2,365,605) (9,745,231) 927,551 (8,817,680)
- - - - - - - (10,832) (10,832) - (10,832)
23 - 3,685,954 349,894 - - - - - 4,035,848 - 4,035,848
( - - - - - - - (285,569,924) (285,569,924) (3,172,902) (288,742,826)
22 - - - - - 97,518,150 - - 97,518,150 - 97,518,150
C > - - - - - (97,518,150) - (15,089,356) (112,607,506) - (112,607,506)
IFRS - - - - 32,040,115 - - (32,040,115) - - -
FvoCI - - - - (270,244) - - 270,244 - - -
2020 12 31 386,568,000 1,895,265,874 (317,892) 386,568,000 102,037,703 380,718,150 8,843,486 687,399,890 3,847,083,212 12,897,105 3,859,980,317
48
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12 31

2021 2020
13,186,544 466,803, 658 10,893,706 385,637,192
11,12 934,564 33,083,566 768,584 27,207,874
10 750,000 26,550,000 248,485 8,796,369
(6,130) (217,002) (457,071)  (16,180,313)
(501,268) (17,744,887) (737,371)  (26,102,933)
33 2,938,953 104,038,936 2,861,675 101,303,295
120,683 4,272,178 699,253 24,753,556
(887,909) (31,431,979) 723,971 25,628,573
16,535,437 585,354,470 15,001,232 531,043,613
(24,355,369) (862,180,063) (1,167,062)  (41,313,995)
14,209,574 503,018,920 19,334,009 684,423,919
(1,708,406) (60,477,572) (19,409,967)  (687,112,832)
(19,203,953) (679,819, 936) 18,530,367 655,974,992
(2,038,757) (72,171,998) 3,944,696 139,642,238
(799,643) (28,307,362) 21,624,601 765,510,875
(934,175) (33,069,795) 17,183,466 608,294,696
52,246,001 1,849,508,435 21,720,850 768,918,090
(3,984,476) (141,050, 450) 3,602,005 127,510,977
(2,931,215) (103,765,011) (1,146,246)  (40,577,108)
27,035,018 957,039,637 99,217,951  3,512,315,465
(589,806) (20,879,132) (243,760) (8,629,104)
(48,000) (1,699,200) (54,750) (1,938,150)
26,397,212 934,461,305 98,919,441  3,501,748,211
(7,095,554) (251,182,612) (17,111,196)  (605,736,338)
5,596,549 198,117,835 - -
(2,203,800) (78,014,520) - -
(103,216) (3,653,846) 81,610 2,888,994
(741,465) (26,247,861) (343,502)  (12,159,971)
(4,547,486) (160,981,004) (17,373,088)  (615,007,315)
21,547 762,764 36,972 1,308,809
21 (7.688,098) (272,158, 669) (7,891,730)  (279,367,242)
(13,485) (477,369) (89,630) (3,172,902)
8,490,124 300,550,390 9,937,173 351,775,924
18 17,148,833 607,068,688 16,692,127 590,901,296
18 (5,827,560) (206,295, 624) (11,960,709)  (423,409,099)
22 (356,204) (12,609,622) (3,181,003)  (112,607,506)
22 - - 2,754,750 97,518,150
11,775,157 416,840,558 6,297,950 222,947,430
33,624,883 1,190,320,858 87,844,303  3,109,688,326
239,189,237 8,467,298,990 151,344,934  5,357,610,664
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12 31 33 272,814,120 9,657,619,848 239,189,237  8,467,298,990
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283
2017 30
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Internal Shariah Supervison

FAB
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http://www.bankfab.com
1
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@
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IFRS IAS 39 IFRS 2021
IFRS IFRS 16
2020 27 1ASB
IFRS IAS 39 IFRS IFRS IFRS 16
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IBOR
RFR
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2021

100
FAB 100
100
100

FAB 100
100

96

NBAD 100

10 100
100

FAB 100
100
100
67
100
FMI
FAB 100
FMI
FAB 100

FMI
FAB 100

FAB 100
IT 100
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FAB 100
FAB IT 100
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100

100
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
1,903,157 1,933,356
UAE
19,278,099 8,249,013
- 15,996,096
21,000,000 25,000,000
216,753,723 176,830,683
258,934,979 228,009,148
(156,530) (136,556)
258,778,449 227,872,592
UAE UAE 14
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
12,480 6,347
2,165,377 1,759,231
6,744,044 106,879
36,650,351 19,393,786
45,572,252 21,266,243
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
9,082,272 16,227,447
5,595,337 7,655,394
4,705,697 3,547,951
19,383,306 27,430,792
(57,712) (73,153)
19,325,594 27,357,639
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
42,609,120 41,096,158
3,678,885 2,992,598
46,288,005 44,088,756
(27,360) (19,515)
46,260,645 44,069,241
2021 12 31
47,413 2020 12 31
49,154
2021 12 31
24,907 2020 12 31 26,272
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
428,783,318 403,288,746
(5.400,613) (4,206,335)
(13,228,091) (12,438,415)
410,154,614 386,643,996
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
41,254,574 38,889,069
96,109,500 92,718,473
11,700,842 8,924,677
/ 201,714,735 189,101,082
/ 78,003,667 73,655,445
428,783,318 403,288,746
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
28,249,912 27,234,278
332,506,838 314,852,218
29,252,435 23,197,489
31,004,047 31,790,101
5,458,971 4,871,801
2,311,115 1,342,859
428,783,318 403,288,746
20,802 2020 12 31 14,025
43,460 2020 12
31 24,303
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
11,553,264 11,132,417
24,864,303 19,593,084
485,158 315,953
36,902,725 31,041,454
(1,053,769) (891,527)
(154,038) (132,885)
35,694,918 30,017,042
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
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139,980,556 127,609,415
927,584 557,508
4,492,104 3,352,977
75,745 54,207
145,475,989 131,574,107
(599) (345)
145,475,390 131,573,762
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
722,426 280,903 1,003,329 534,846 76,869 611,715
143,488,689 983,971 144,472,660 129,844,660 1,117,732 130,962,392
144,211,115 1,264,874 145,475,989 130,379,506 1,194,601 131,574,107
(597) @ (599) (336) ©) (345)
144,210,518 1,264,872 145,475,390 130,379,170 1,194,592 131,573,762
2021 12 31
30,956 2020 12 31 32,840
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
16 16
23 23
30 30
Midmak
Midmak Midmak
16
2017 16
UAE
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10
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
7,603,230 7,956,854
134,081 472,211
(24,735) (577,350)
(750,000) (248,485)
6,962,576 7,603,230
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
131,888 100,046
(79,195) (50,724)
52,693 49,322
2021 2020 12 31
RICS
2021 2020 12 31
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11

2020 2,862,788 2,506,732 514,928 904,259 6,788,707

262,488 869,693 92,275 1,896,629 3,121,085

7,716 12,578 (25,170) 4,876 -

! (828,682) (121,101) (4,800) (1,485,790) (2,440,373)

2020 12 31 2,304,310 3,267,902 577,233 1,319,974 7,469,419

160,300 158,530 84,199 148,678 551,707

120,474 719,579 96,321 1,320,221 2,256,595

(162) (75) (236) 473 -

! (307,519) (157,873) (132,554) (661,727) (1,259,673)

2021 12 31 2,277,403 3,988,063 624,963 2,127,619 9,018,048

2020 725,191 1,091,998 352,532 - 2,169,721

149,578 375,729 42,054 - 567,361

L (183,220) 50,690 (2,259) - (134,789)

2020 12 31 691,549 1,518,417 392,327 - 2,602,293

35,733 83,184 58,549 - 177,466

169,254 515,273 51,178 - 735,705

1 (114,595) (72,238) (59,157) - (245,990)

2021 12 31 781,941 2,044,636 442,897 - 3,269,474

2020 12 31 1,612,761 1,749,485 184,906 1,319,974 4,867,126

2021 12 31 1,495,462 1,943,427 182,066 2,127,619 5,748,574
1
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12
2020 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2020 12 31 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
342,398 - - - - 342,398
2021 12 31 17,712,647 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,471,398
2020 - 482,916 139,913 - 8,084 630,913
- 151,170 49,047 - 1,006 201,223
2020 12 31 - 634,086 188,960 - 9,090 832,136
- 148,806 49,047 - 1,006 198,859
2021 12 31 - 782,892 238,007 - 10,096 1,030,995
2020 12 31 17,370,249 1,140,630 404,375 368,700 12,910 19,296,864
2021 12 31 17,712,647 991,824 355,328 368,700 11,904 19,440,403
CGU
CGU
CGU CGU
CGU
2021 12 31 CGU
2020 12 31
CGU
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13
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
7,166,389 7,521,621
7,133,061 6,017,156
4,042,010 2,401,952
99,056 101,437
18,440,516 16,042,166
(89,402) (91,208)
18,351,114 15,950,958
14
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
1,097,344 2,477,281
4,401,542 4,745,820
16,136,321 16,981,767
21,635,207 24,204,868
402,001 973,292
2,413 -
34,945,559 32,454,316
35,349,973 33,427,608
56,985,180 57,632,476
- 1.75 2020 12 31 -
1.825
15
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
55,072,110 49,252,314
2,384 6,753,000
55,074,494 56,005,314
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2020 12 31 33,666
2020 12 31 56,005
24,070
1 22,339

16
3.5
10
39,664
31,174 12

2021 12 31

136/366

oOoOooodn

31,004
55,074

2020 12
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17
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
273,830,659 211,229,768
14,026,161 12,023,563
2,926,361 2,671,889
275,094,212 266,338,758
565,877,393 492,263,978
48,581,872 48,618,494
614,459,265 540,882,472
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
171,768,336 134,010,748
93,421,723 114,402,974
/ 198,755,289 162,774,636
/ 101,932,045 81,075,620
565,877,393 492,263,978
48,581,872 48,618,494
614,459,265 540,882,472
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
UAE 419,243,333 388,206,397
49,749,480 36,547,379
47,979,857 26,289,020
29,302,184 29,066,952
19,355,325 10,199,722
247,214 1,954,508
565,877,393 492,263,978
48,581,872 48,618,494
614,459,265 540,882,472
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2,433,099 1,561,620
69,629 65,668
2,730,993 1,945,811
160,907 101,580
2,337,779 3,774,864
7,732,407 7,449,543
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31

71,023,959 61,970,222

619,857 466,881

71,643,816 62,437,103

2021 12 31 2020 12 31

62,437,103 55,751,819
17,148,833 16,692,127
(5,827,560) (11,960,709)
(2,114,560) 1,953,866
71,643,816 62,437,103
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ooooooo
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
U 4 204'00 - - 3,798 97,646 - 101,444 - - - 3,730 94,697 98,427
1.87

317 - - - 168,699 - 168,699 - 86,397 - - - 86,397

- - - - 71,12 1,089,4 4 1,247,431

BB 0.085 66,561 1,415,981 79,806 1,562,348 129 089,438 86,86 247,43

0 622-07 - 806,370 2,209,207 1,400,629 1,604,442 6,020,648 - - 1,676,993 2,097,570 615,825 4,390,388

3 4.8 40,493 - 1,736,149 4,397,100 - 6,173,742 509,980 995,800 228,496 4,733,608 - 6,467,884
0.125

3.00 - - 102,075 3,469,870 228,214 3,800,159 - - - 599,962 278,672 878,634
0.875

2 205 - - 2,221,519 3,213,053 99,746 5,534,318 - 126,411 2,285,968 145,189 108,726 2,666,294

LIBOR+0.006 - - - - - - - 125,389 101,384 - - 226,773

SONIA CMP- 99,854 - - - - 99,854 - - - - - -
5BD+0.197%

. 180'475 223,593 300,386 697,116 940,310 194,157 2,355,562 76,186 - 1,035,001 587,710 249,521 1,948,418
0.235

2 60 - - 63,798 323,565 - 387,363 - - - - 372,239 372,239

0-50 - - - - 7,434 7,434 - - - - 6,424 6,424

3.80

- - 159,026 - - 159,026 - - - - - -

8.125 6,993,272 498,150 11,964,749 6,507,704 6,280,335 32,244,210 610,015 3,256,479 13,493,360 9,892,511 4,958,527 32,210,892

L 1B0R+0. 244 495,855 4,109,023 5,860,341 1,983,468 183,650 12,632,337 - 514,220 6,308,558 4,830,474 183,650 11,836,902

SOFR QRT 0B

SHIFT-5BD+0.049% - - 183,638 213,034 - 396,672 - - - - - -
0.058

7,919,628 5,713,920 25,201,416 24,131,059 8,677,784 71,643,816 1,196,181 5,104,696 25,200,889 23,980,192 6,955,145 62,437,103
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
173,018 -
1,849,358 -
1,186,708 3,428,729
3,104,703 -
4,747,037 8,150,038
3,194,350 2,249,361
550,525 497,421
63,798 -
159,884 -
404,597 1,077,930
1,718,964 1,231,413
- 102,322
17,152,942 16,737,214
57 2020 12 31 50
896 2020 12 31 1,057
2021 2020
19

2021 12 31 2020 12 31

2012 12 10 4.75 2027 12 448,908 470,805
2021 12 31
20

2021 12 31 2020 12 31
5,013,652 5,833,330
- 13 3,298,916 3,870,232
429,976 464,604
11,713,020 12,122,067
387,240 297,005
20,842,804 22,587,238
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2021 12 31
UAE

2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2.30 2.23
2.37 2.32

+/-50 9,771

10,295 +/-50

10,278 9,850
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
464,604 469,894
58,425 65,074
ocl (17,229) 18,760
(75,824) (89,124)
429,976 464,604
108,715 2020 87,314
10,515 2020 14,950
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
297,005 194,259
644,272 341,198
(589,806) (243,760)
35,769 5,308
387,240 297,005
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21
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
10,920,000 10,920,000
10,920,000 10,920,000
6,430 8,980
2021 28 AGM
0.74 8,080 2019 12 31
0.74 8,080
1980 10 10
50
50
12 31
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
7,688,008 7,891,730
IFRS IFRS
2021 1 1,168,389 228,265 (377,851) - 1,220,996 642,622 2,882,421
204,548 - (157,172) - - - 47,376
IFRS
- - - - 973 645,137 646,110
FVOCI (6,722) - - - - - (6,722)
2021 12 31 1,366,215 228,265 (535,023) - 1,221,969 1,287,759 3,569,185
IFRS IFRS
2020 1 1,361,293 228,265 (354,657) 280,601 315,908 642,622 2,474,032
(185,270) - (23,194) - - - (208,464)
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- - - (280,601) - - (280,601)
IFRS
- - - - 905,088 - 905,088
FVOCI (7,634) - - - - - (7,634)
2020 12 31 1,168,389 228,265 (377,851) - 1,220,996 642,622 2,882,421
Fvoct
2021 1,168,324 65 1,168,389
1,145,697 (108,410) 1,037,287
(815,332) - (815,332)
ECL (24,129) - (24,129)
2021 12 31 1,474,560 (108,345) 1,366,215
2020 1,376,357 (15,064) 1,361,293
473,457 15,129 488,586
(653,246) - (653,246)
ECL (28,244) - (28,244)
2020 12 31 1,168,324 65 1,168,389
() IFRS
CBUAE CBUAE IFRS
IFRS
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
CBUAE  28/2010 9,372,000 8,206,198
IFRS (8,620,212) (6,985,202)
751,788 1,220,996
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OOOodOodn
1,221,969 1,220,996
CBUAE  28/2010 7,159,746 6,617,775
IFRS (5,871,987) (6,616,462)
1,287,759 N
- 642,622
1,287,759 642,622
22
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
8,000,000 8,000,000
EIBOR 2.3
750 2,754,750 2,754,750
4.50
[
1
10,754,750 10,754,750
a b
2,754,750 750
2020 10 2,754,750 750
356,204 2020 12 31
426,253
23
2008
2,550 2020 12 31 9,884
2,550 2020 12 31 9,884
18,997 2020 12 31 104,123
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24
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
512,261 425,554
1,472,703 1,455,822
354,637 454,407
243,751 168,416
3,187,850 2,665,833
10,469,366 12,788,385
16,240,568 17,958,417
25
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
1,459,460 1,305,392
225,801 443,837
70,294 176,129
2,295,403 3,204,427
1,489,083 1,434,902
21,175 20,987
5,561,216 6,585,674

146/366




EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
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26
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
586,552 668,485
420,157 451,221
711,741 781,190
124,729 242,130
1,843,179 2,143,026
27
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
397,557 680,935
49,900 28,297
409,979 520,832
6,963 29,227
864,399 1,259,291
5,124
2020 3,537
28
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
879,286 875,266
19,885 12,856
49,540 40,903
75,063 57,898
2,555 1,875
1,704,228 1,511,005
1,731,185 1,499,029
46,285 38,360
107,810 93,587
278,532 223,694
4,894,369 4,354,473
51,310 51,860
1,451,005 1,068,938
320,176 279,731
37,330 41,864
1,859,821 1,442,393
3,034,548 2,912,080
29
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Ooooood
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
1,2
(72,144) 592,846
764,483 647,509
692,339 1,240,355
1
30
2
ECB 479 (2020 12 31 420 )
30
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
5,639,133 291,447
815,332 653,246
30,321 6,334
6,484,786 951,027
31
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
(743,360) 208,997
111,773 110,853
501,268 737,371
! (58,231) 156,750
(188,550) 1,213,971
1
2020 12
200
32
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
3,004,906 2,783,567
1,836,611 1,438,797
11 735,705 567,361
12 198,859 201,223
60,393 69,317
5,836,474 5,060,265
33
2021 12 31 2020 12 31

148/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

149/366

Ooooooo
2,505,358 2,629,156
4,852 26,787
94,172 107,087
- 1,071
(280,716) (241,735)
244,571 97,574
2,658,237 2,619,940
34
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
644,272 341,198
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
13,186,544 10,893,706
520,220 285,240
- 3,240 -
) (4,978) (11,049)
- 9,079 18,082
- 3,815 9,229
- 4,889 1,433
- 84,007 25,126
- 24,000 13,137
644,272 341,198
35
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
258,934,979 228,009,148
19,383,306 27,430,792
278,318,285 255,439,940
(5.384,239) (16,103,734)



36

EDINETO OO
OOo0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000(E25742)
oooooog

(119,926) (146,969)

272,814,120 239,189,237

10
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
240,571 217,181
59,117 67,883
(70,003) (44,493)
229,685 240,571

2021 12 31 2020 12 31
140,591 105,644
337,843 309,477
13,828 26,513
492,262 441,634

2021 12 31 2020 12 31
17,057 11,238
86,566 71,525
58,441 44,942
162,064 127,705

37

2021 12 31 2020 12 31
63,589,462 61,406,469
101,353,201 105,216,467
293,459 129,940
165,236,122 166,752,876
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
51,407,472 74,582,341
946,604 819,667
1,291,544 536,571
53,645,620 75,938,579
218,881,742 242,691,455
45
2020 12 31 74
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 2021 12 31 2020 12 31
UAE 32,127,167 59,937,746 107,329,071 114,852,725
6,701,190 6,120,020 17,579,937 19,713,720
8,580,025 3,325,351 11,103,438 9,330,286
2,354,620 2,533,674 10,405,696 11,803,669
1,277,170 1,455,644 17,102,422 9,778,194
367,300 1,209,906 1,715,558 1,274,282
51,407,472 74,582,341 165,236,122 166,752,876

38
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2021 12 31

17,145,820 18,081,118 1,487,616,721 149,683,975 218,911,217 414,748,177 265,151,917 439,121,435
10,797 7,259 53,971,707 18,414,126 26,487,199 8,996,922 73,460 -
61,219 122,336 1,381,555,808 344,265,157 894,234,822 129,852,936 5,645,190 7,557,703

3,277,262 1,848,698 337,153,079 202,324,818 102,866,699 28,956,060 2,962,293 43,209
337,157 244,222 56,380,928 35,859,138 14,291,461 6,230,329 - -
1,473,721 1,412,905 52,509,341 2,163,817 7,451,597 12,600,024 28,608,514 1,685,389
22,305,976 21,716,538 3,369,187,584 752,711,031 1,264,242,995 601,384,448 302,441,374 448,407,736
1,955,276 6,588,341 158,522,703 9,121,007 10,263,304 39,197,714 42,100,283 57,840,395
1,955,276 6,588,341 158,522,703 9,121,007 10,263,304 39,197,714 42,100,283 57,840,395
12,514 90,109 5,466,840 - 1,000,000 - - 4,466,840

- 97 91,735 91,735 - - - -

12,514 90,206 5,558,575 91,735 1,000,000 - - 4,466,840
24,273,766 28,395,085 3,533,268,862 761,923,773 1,275,506,299 640,582,162 344,541,657 510,714,971
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2020

12 31

25,182,835 25,928,742 1,457,039,482 181,895,692 246,303,523 406,721,160 261,036,759 361,082,348
5,826 12,384 106,439,606 23,930,835 67,829,857 14,513,630 165,284 -
124,048 176,464 280,868,236 107,780,270 169,372,394 3,617,669 97,903 -
2,517,378 2,716,509 290,992,042 176,764,134 71,268,392 38,047,766 4,450,177 461,573
362,710 246,448 77,414,426 29,935,411 42,218,354 5,260,661 - -
1,621,643 638,177 32,107,295 2,332,441 3,329,787 5,602,985 19,847,064 995,018
29,814,440 29,718,724 2,244,861,087 522,638,783 600,322,307 473,763,871 285,597,187 362,538,939
2,739,073 8,990,274 183,150,369 13,959,701 31,160,472 30,699,701 43,147,149 64,183,346
2,739,073 8,990,274 183,150,369 13,959,701 31,160,472 30,699,701 43,147,149 64,183,346
5,341 18,989 2,475,030 - 1,007,730 1,000,000 - 467,300

27 104,017 17,978,502 17,978,502 - - - -

5,368 123,006 20,453,532 17,978,502 1,007,730 1,000,000 - 467,300
32,558,881 38,832,004 2,448,464,988 554,576,986 632,490,509 505,463,572 328,744,336 427,189,585
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OooooOodd
/
/
/
2021 12 31
6,482 (2020 12 31 6,472 )
13,802
(2020 12 31 7,800 )
1BOR
1BOR
2021 12 31 IBOR
1BOR 1BOR
1BOR
1BOR SOFR SONIA

IBOR
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39

IB

1B

CCB

CCB

CB

GPB

FAB

IR

FAB
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ooooooo
UAE
2021 12 31
4,505,387 2,255,693 4,024,366 725,021 147,665 11,658,132 8,682,127 2,976,005 11,658,132
7,886,101 1,224,408 850,507 226,855 (164,748) 10,023,123 9,201,646 821,477 10,023,123
12,391,488 3,480,101 4,874,873 951,876 (17,083) 21,681,255 17,883,773 3,797,482 21,681,255
1,517,782 924,872 2,303,508 339,819 750,493 5,836,474 4,380,416 1,456,058 5,836,474
180,122 1,490,490 831,000 40,236 116,299 2,658,237 2,267,875 390,362 2,658,237
10,693,584 1,064,739 1,740,275 571,821 (883,875) 13,186,544 11,235,482 1,951,062 13,186,544
394,945 61,813 1,262 46,813 139,439 644,272 98,086 546,186 644,272
10,298,639 1,002,926 1,739,013 525,008 (1.,023,314) 12,542,272 11,137,396 1,404,876 12,542,272
2021 12 31
683,905,131 115,318,255 76,554,780 31,139,050 118,921,583 1,025,838,799 766,487,574 377,872,991 1.,144,360,565
(25,495,422) (144,017,188)
1,000,343,377 1,000,343, 377
587,367,888 140,184,652 61,903,047 24,871,405 98,682,234 913,009,226 677,313,819 354,217,173 1,031,530,992
(25,495,422) (144,017,188)
887,513,804 887,513,804
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OoOoooooo

UAE
4,535,037 2,907,103 4,041,802 762,844 9,692 12,256,478 9,918,963 2,337,515 12,256,478
2,805,555 1,060,663 1,097,595 217,068 1,136,552 6,317,433 5,643,259 674,174 6,317,433
7,340,592 3,967,766 5,139,397 979,912 1,146,244 18,573,911 15,562,222 3,011,689 18,573,911
1,350,612 931,451 2,206,558 336,794 234,850 5,060,265 3,942,254 1,118,011 5,060,265

518,345 694,983 1,380,452 51,041 (24,881) 2,619,940 1,784,921 835,019 2,619,940
5,471,635 2,341,332 1,552,387 592,077 936,275 10,893,706 9,835,047 1,058,659 10,893,706
290,038 (23,607) 17 43,162 31,588 341,198 28,043 313,155 341,198
5,181,597 2,364,939 1,552,370 548,915 904,687 10,552,508 9,807,004 745,504 10,552,508
685,871,378 102,904,063 65,168,026 32,875,242 95,000,988 981,819,697 714,550,645 318,691,769 1,033,242,414
(62,759,165) (114,181,882)

919,060,532 919,060,532

527,413,800 107,193,785 75,041,279 24,645,874 138,485,967 872,780,705 643,831,611 280,371,811 924,203,422
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ooOoooOoo
40
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
12,531,111 10,555,229
(356,204) (426,253)
12,174,907 10,128,976
10,911,020 10,901,136
1,256 4,554
C ) 10,912,276 10,905,690
1.12 0.93
12,174,907 10,128,976
10,912,276 10,905,690
« ) 650 1,172
10,912,926 10,906,862
1.12 0.93
41
EXCO
FAB
FAB FAB
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Oooooood
2020
2021 12 31 12 31
9,857,273 24,386,743 38,626 34,282,642 40,441,781
24,648,459 33,087,174 43,932 57,719,565 64,709,360
5,040,271 16,662,275 - 21,702,546 17,020,801
138,670 654,576 335 793,581 1,322,791
285,031 30,474 429 315,934 562,296
2021 2020
12 31 12 31
53,589 53,026
ECL
42
2021 12 31 8,453 2020
12 31 6,786
43
SPE SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE
2021
100
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44
IFRS
IFRS 1ASB
@
(b)
CHC)
IFRS
ECL
ECL
PD
ECL
ECL
ECL
PD EAD LGD

ECL
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©
©C)

)

)

®

46
IBOR RFR

IBOR

@

20

Q)

©C )
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46
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Q)
©C )
IBOR  FRF
EIR

©)
LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR

LIBOR

RFR
24

2021
44(m)
1BOR
LIBOR
LIBOR SONIA
2
IFRS 9
RFR
RFR
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45
ESG
BOD
BOD
BOD
GCEO
BOD
BOD 11 BOD 10
2021
BOD
BOD
GCRO
BOD
BOD
BRCC

GCRO
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BMC
BMC FAB
FAB
BMC
BRCC
BRCC FAB
BRCC
BRCC
BAC
BAC
GCAO
BAC
BAC
REMCO
REMCO
FAB
FAB
FAB
REMCO
EXCO
EXCO FAB
FAB EXCO
EXCO FAB
CEO
FAB
EXCO

EXCO
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ooDoogd
EXCO GCEO
EXCO EXCO
GCC
GCC GCC
GCC GCC
GRC
GRC BRCC EXCO
GRC
GRC EXCO BRCC
GRC
GRC
GCC
BRCC
GALCO
G-ALCO G-ALCO
BRCC
G-ALCO G-ALCO
HRSC
HRSC
EXCO REMCO
EVP
HRSC HRSC
GO&FRC
GO&FRC EXCO
BRCC
GO&FRC
GO&FRC
GTRISC
GTRISC FAB
BCM
EXCO BRCC GTRISC

GTRISC
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ooDoogd
ESG G-ESGC
G-ESGC ESG
G-ESGC FAB ESG
G-ESGC G-ESGC
GCRO
ESG
FAB ERMP
FAB
ERMP FAB
BOD ERMP FAB
ERM
IFRS ESG
BCM
ICAAP
FAB
GCRO
BRCC
@

FAB
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CRM
2019 CovID-19
ECL
2020 11 WHO
CoVID-19
2020 27 1ASB
45 a
UAE
ECL SICR
PD 12 PD
UAE SICR
COVID-19
COVID-19
CBUAE TESS 2021 12 31
12 31 2022 30 FAB
CovID-19
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SBLC
COVID-19
SICR
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COVID-19
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TESS
TESS
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TESS 2021
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gooooog
2021 12 TESS CBUAE TESS
2022 TESS
COVID-19
UAE
2021 12 TESS
COVID-19
Covid-19
COVID-19
ECL

ECL

172/366



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OooooOodd
2021 12 31

66,029 1,600,845 12,560
1,901 14,743 275
200 3,482 351
1,424 63,145 1,967
36 789 660
69,590 1,683,004 15,813
3,705,786 14,003,319 100,722
29,366 273,172 15,715
1,626,236 3,171,582 623,417
23,965 67,268 31,809
5,385,353 17,515,341 771,663

ECL

2021

ECL 35,605 905 147 36,657
(10) - - (10
@4 269 - 245
(21,790) 318 513 (20,959)
(1,077) 12 - (1,065)
131 814 - 945

2021 12 31
ECL 12,835 2,318 660 15,813

2021

ECL 110,221 237,746 4,648 352,615
(98) - - (98)
GRE 50 214 - - 214
7,568 401,355 888 409,811
(3,081) - - (3,081)
(14,102) 31 26,273 12,202

2021 12 31
ECL 100,722 639,132 31,809 771,663
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ooooooo
poCI
2021 1,378,966 35,605 70,570 905 222 147 - - 1,449,758 36,657
(7.384) (97) 7,384 297 - - - - - -
13,266 465 (13,266) (465) - - - - - -
(524) @D - - 524 a - - - -
222 147 - - (222) @47 - - - -
231,042 (23,044) 1,939 1,581 265 619 - - 233,246 (20,844)
2021 12 31 1,615,588 12,835 66,627 2,318 789 660 - - 1,683,004 15,813
2021 15,774,424 110,221 3,043,399 234,746 21,054 4,648 - - 18,838,877 352,615
(588,012) (23,797) 588,012 23,797 - - - - - -
29,701 662 (29,701) (662) - - - - - -
(42,406) (1,255) (30,037) (2,293) 72,443 3,548 - - - -
- - 3,637 - (3,637) - - - - -
(1,170,388) 14,891 (130,556) 380,544 (22,592) 23,613 - - (1,323,536) 419,048
2021 12 31 14,003,319 100,722 3,444,754 639,132 67,268 31,809 - - 17,515,341 771,663
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FVOCI
2021 12 31
255,536,059 38,466 1,495,763 118,064 - - - - 257,031,822 156,530
18,508,590 17,075 874,716 40,637 - - - - 19,383,306 57,712
46,288,005 27,360 - - - - - - 46,288,005 27,360
387,958,280 1,624,630 18,324,871 3,397,499 16,807,188 7,358,566 5,692,979 847,396 428,783,318 13,228,091
4,492,104 599 - - - - - - 4,492,104 599
FvoCI 139,907,615 101,389 72,941 7,522 - - - - 139,980,556 108,911
13,158,761 87,781 344,746 1,222 667 399 - - 13,504,174 89,402
210,751,733 154,456 4,694,926 246,568 1,188,949 417,425 7,986 5,147 216,643,594 823,596
1,076,601,147 2,051,756 25,807,963 3,811,512 17,996,804 7,776,390 5,700,965 852,543 1,126,106,879 14,492,201
1
FVOCI
ECL
5,563
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2019 12 31
222,634,395 15,889 3,441,397 120,667 - - - - 226,075,792 136,556
26,700,399 35,828 730,393 37,325 - - - - 27,430,792 73,153
44,088,756 19,515 - - - - - - 44,088,756 19,515
362,778,965 2,592,811 20,275,910 3,136,473 15,166,539 6,013,657 5,067,332 695,474 403,288,746 12,438,415
3,352,977 345 - - - - - - 3,352,977 345
FVvOCI 127,455,847 111,872 153,568 21,168 - - - - 127,609,415 133,040
10,758,453 90,301 25,221 451 709 456 - - 10,784,383 91,208
234,823,309 284,365 5,379,356 130,290 1,132,552 294,777 - - 241,335,217 709,432
1,032,593,101 3,150,926 30,005,845 3,446,374 16,299,800 6,308,890 5,067,332 695,474 1,083,966,078 13,601,664
1
FVOCI
ECL
4,885
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Ooooood
POCI
2021 1 362,778,965 20,275,910 15,166,539 5,067,332 403,288,746
5,774,324 1,221,716 - 432,786 7,428,826
(3,994,898) 3,994,898 - - -
(1,852,162) - 1,852,162 - -
4,829,791 (4,829,791) - - -
- (3,031,690) 3,031,690 - -
- 872,279 (872,279) - -
75,247 - (75,247) - -
(942,022) (2,994,304) 3,936,326 - -
20,368,101 (139,181) 8,409 340,121 20,577,450
(21,088) (39,270)  (2,304,086) (147,260)  (2,511,704)
2021 12 31 387,958,280 18,324,871 16,807,188 5,602,979 428,783,318
2021 1 234,823,309 5,379,356 1,132,552 - 241,335,217
842,918 113,613 - 7,934 964,465
(2,082,209) 2,082,209 - - -
(17,761) - 17,761 - -
630,618 (630,618) - - -
- (266,546) 266,546 - -
- 56,791 (56,791) - -
12 - 12) - -
(1,469,340) 1,241,836 227,504 - -
(23,445,154) (2,039,879) (171,107) 52 (25,656,088)
2021 12 31 210,751,733 4,694,926 1,188,949 7,986 216,643,594
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2020 1 385,583,423 19,642,585 11,768,567 4,735,753 421,730,328

(6,517,957) 6,517,957 - - -

(2,179,515) - 2,179,515 - -

1,847,825 (1,847,825) - - -

- (2,763,611) 2,763,611 - -

- 459,887 (459,887) - -

55,338 - (55,338) - -

(6,794,309) 2,366,408 4,427,901 - -

(16,000, 156) (1,714,666) 151,699 441,006 (17,122,117)

(9,993) (18,417)  (1,181,628) (109,427) (1,319, 465)

2020 12 31 362,778,965 20,275,910 15,166,539 5,067,332 403,288,746

2020 1 200,490,346 5,341,218 1,532,564 - 207,364,128

(1,393,006) 1,393,006 - - -

(50,211) - 50,211 - -

916,478 (916,478) - - -

- (210,722) 210,722 - -

- 6,861 (6,861) - -

(526,739) 272,667 254,072 - -

34,859,702 (234,529) (654,084) - 33,971,089

2020 12 31 234,823,309 5,379,356 1,132,552 - 241,335,217
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 2021 12 31 2020 12 31

AAA 30,281,925 19,851,021 722,673 565,421

A A 79,096,748 81,811,445 17,189,979 10,291,770

BBB B 32,402,191 26,047,880 17,725,908 6,648,558

CCC 142,508 77,676 82,479 -

3,552,617 3,786,085 9,851,213 3,760,494

145,475,989 131,574,107 45,572,252 21,266,243

(599) (345) - -

145,475,390 131,573,762 45,572,252 21,266,243
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CRM
SBLC
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
0-50 11,205,953 10,025,681
51-100 3,999,618 4,199,749
100 1,763,711 1,619,624
16,969,282 15,845,054

2020 2021

Ccp
1SDA

1SDA

CCp

1SDA

179/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

ECL

PD

12 PD

PD
ECL
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FAB
90
45
ECL
40
30
OECD
2021 12 31 2022 2026 12 31
1.2 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
MENA -11.15% 3.35% 1.47% 4.18% 3.11%
-7.25% 3.58% 1.44% 3.99% 3.02%
-36.77% 33.95% 6.08% 8.21% 4.56%
UAE GDP 2.01% 2.59% 2.67% 2.75% 2.66%
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oOoOooodn
5.63% 3.13% 2.02% 2.45% 2.28%
-6.00% 2.75% 5.46% 5.15% 4.53%
UAE -0.33% 0.69% 2.20% 2.97% 3.20%
2.41% 2.65% 0.95% 0.21% 0.92%
-9.50% -3.54% 5.16% 7.67% 7.07%
GDP 6.51% 5.00% 4.52% 4.52% 4.45%
8.54% 4.73% 4.05% 4.37% 4.45%
4.68% 5.50% 5.51% 5.31% 4.88%
3.33% 4.06% 5.02% 5.43% 4.87%
6.03% 2.3% 4.56% 2.70% 4.02%
-6.21% 18.24% 9.23% 6.92% 4.55%
GDP 4.05% 2.84% 1.34% 0.99% 1.31%
5.43% 1.93% 1.23% 0.97% 1.10%
0.54% 5.11% 2.20% 1.52% 1.34%
-3.02% 0.75% 3.16% 3.85% 3.31%
3.28% -3.05% 0.17% 2.16% 3.42%
-8.56% 8.94% 8.15% 5.63% 3.31%
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1v
PD
PD
PD
12 12
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
11,221,153 11,465,052
3,277,389 2,841,479
2,612,235 2,889,749
ECL
ECL

PD
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LGD
EAD
PD
PD
PD
PD
LGD
LGD
LGD
EAD
EAD
EAD

ECL EAD
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Ooooood
©C)
PoCI
2021 3,150,926 3,446,374 6,308,890 695,474 13,601,664
51,636 129,844 - 285,747 467,227
(109,271) 109,271 - - -
(71,619) - 71,619 - -
141,390 (141,390) - - -
- (445,836) 445,836 - -
- 185,139 (185,139) - -
13,647 - (13,647) - -
(25,853) (292,816) 318,669 - -
(1,123,060) 553,062 3,246,413 17,967 2,694,382
(1,893) (24,952)  (2,097,582) (146,645)  (2,271,072)
2021 12 31 2,051,756 3,811,512 7,776,390 852,543 14,492,201
1
ECL
PoCI
2020 2,203,599 3,488,863 4,885,931 1,478,975 12,057,368
(75,265) 75,265 - - -
(60,949) - 60,949 - -
152,032 (152,032) - - -
- (507,951) 507,951 - -
- 243,199 (243,199) - -
18,233 - (18,233) - -
34,051 (341,519) 307,468 - -
913,751 302,739 2,225,884 (679,344) 2,763,030
475) (3,709) (1,110,393) (104,157)  (1,218,734)
2020 12 31 3,150,926 3,446,374 6,308,890 695,474 13,601,664
1
ECL
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
257,031,822 226,075,792
36,650,351 19,393,786
19,383,306 27,430,792
46,288,005 44,088,756
428,783,318 403,288,746
144,472,660 130,962,392
18,125,859 15,793,737
950,735,321 867,034,001
38 22,305,976 29,814,440
38 1,967,790 2,744,441
24,273,766 32,558,881
37 165,236,122 166,752,876
37 51,407,472 74,582,341
216,643,594 241,335,217
1,191,652,681 1,140,928,099
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2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
12 31 12 31 12 3 12 31 12 3 12 31 12 31 12 31

1,533,714 727,782 - - - - 63 -
37,916,788 39,706,125 7,696,822 13,252,053 - - 17,905,281 15,084,441
23,584,325 21,952,423 1,066,722 1,281,092 - - 3,216,565 4,126,708
11,992,473 11,151,070 376,120 463,657 - - 1,415,292 952,842
93,387,686 88,477,802 1,576,742 1,610,072 - - 7,224,316 8,386,588
25,374,643 22,435,927 120,681 132,731 - - 1,229,184 1,919,410
37,330,136 37,845,095 4,514,107 5,606,050 - - 4,706,375 1,853,348
11,700,842 8,924,677 32,524,247 36,633,986 37,678,291 36,569,950 - 91,825
40,076,241 39,335,644 11,418,091 11,343,128 2,970,536 4,625,639 8,396,129 8,391,313
26,628,229 20,187,687 6,264,309 35,660 - - 2,856,405 3,755,836
41,254,574 38,889,069 125,490,400 82,481,921 5,639,178 2,893,167 4,391,362 30,000,000
52,740,445 51,419,609 - - - - 66,500 6,878
25,263,222 22,235,836 - - - - - 13,152
428,783,318 403,288,746 191,048,241 152,840,350 46,288,005 44,088,756 51,407,472 74,582,341
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UAE
2021 12 31
41,960,159 76,500,164 23,080,192 117,307,999 86,465 - 258,934,979
16,989,613 3,061,200 16,220,924 2,467,166 6,120,215 713,134 45,572,252
360,164 15,595,686 1,973,668 550,678 724,995 178,115 19,383,306
2,571,436 11,772,481 21,792,403 48,350 6,906,115 3,197,220 46,288,005
3,439,468 17,806,558 1,764,170 159,507 932,912 171,151 24,273,766
298,881,132 40,962,981 47,101,250 20,208,219 18,238,829 3,390,907 428,783,318
42,706,022 24,043,688 30,590,091 18,045,215 28,060,049 2,030,924 145,475,989
406,907,994 189,742,758 142,522,698 158,787,134 61,069,580 9,681,451 968,711,673
2020 12 31
51,083,313 98,253,359 12,912,882 65,645,017 105,685 8,892 228,009,148
2,046,352 4,339,068 5,612,563 1,889,944 6,499,642 878,674 21,266,243
173,709 24,726,420 1,356,056 789,798 235,993 148,816 27,430,792
2,355,652 13,822,582 22,893,875 960,494 3,854,139 202,014 44,088,756
5,929,823 19,678,895 3,669,924 311,997 2,515,722 452,520 32,558,881
276,349,253 45,163,517 38,039,690 19,982,880 18,874,483 4,878,923 403,288,746
40,989,353 26,566,919 26,039,327 14,742,175 20,669,329 2,567,004 131,574,107
378,927,455 232,550,760 110,524,317 104,322,305 52,754,993 9,136,843 888,216,673
37

2021 12 31 2020 12 31 2021 12 31 2020 12 31
93,954,390 68,001,252 28,835,932 11,538,832
634,136 879,774 2,065,942 2,062,063
15,337,453 24,330,758 737,753 524,140
28,062,492 31,621,387 4,461,755 5,012,599
/ 7,487,518 6,740,936 9,470,870 2,128,609
145,475,989 131,574,107 45,572,252 21,266,243
(599) (345) - -
145,475,390 131,573,762 45,572,252 21,266,243
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(b)
FAB
ALCO
LCR FAB LCR UAE
FAB
UAE ELAR
G-ALCO
2021 12 31
258,778,449 255,556,017 3,222,432 - - - -
45,512,252 17,872,472 16,644,493 708,418 569,670 855,298 8,921,901
19,325,504 19,325,594 - - - - -
46,260,645 26,767,419 12,391,846 7,101,380 - - -
! 24,273,766 2,771,235 2,189,976 4,636,977 4,311,473 10,364,105 -

410,154,614 82,519,253 68,757,723 98,885,465 69,208,966 90,783,207 -
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145,475,390 25,147,215 14,398,777 32,004,532 27,405,793 45,515,744 1,003,329
6,962,576 - - - - - 6,962,576
5,748,574 - - - - - 5,748,574
19,440,403 - - - - - 19,440,403

18,351,114 13,763,339 4,587,775 - - - -
1,000,343,377 443,722,544 122,193,022 143,336,772 101,495,902 147,518,354 42,076,783

56,985,180 52,205,866 4,772,923 6,391 - - -
55,074,494 46,317,898 284,728 8,471,868 - - -
39,664,252 21,479,026 18,185,226 - - - -

28,395,085 1,691,560 1,710,320 4,696,275 5,171,017 15,125,913 -
614,459,265 531,510,596 73,129,309 8,472,464 909,736 437,160 -
71,643,816 7,919,628 5,713,929 25,201,416 24,131,059 8,677,784 -
448,908 - - - - 448,908 -
20,842,804 15,632,103 5,210,701 - - - -
112,829,573 - - - - - 112,829,573

1,000,343,377 676,756,677 109,007,136 46,848,414 30,211,812 24,689,765 112,829,573

51,407,472 10,937,310 38,176,095 2,101,434 59,415 133,218 -
165,236,122 81,281,035 33,185,536 17,935,163 16,586,906 16,247,482 -
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2020 12 31
227,872,592 223,905,913 3,966,679 - - - -
21,266,243 10,213,641 4,867,090 3,239,471 297,517 776,067 1,872,457
27,357,639 27,355,628 - 2,011 - - -
44,069,241 26,708,963 17,360,278 - - - -
32,558,881 2,353,427 2,650,672 6,583,610 6,086,367 14,884,805 -
386,643,996 84,642,731 57,178,448 94,851,592 65,678,038 84,293,187 -
131,573,762 12,577,929 13,267,198 19,747,489 30,533,782 54,835,649 611,715
7,603,230 - - - - - 7,603,230
4,867,126 - - - - - 4,867,126
19,296,864 - - - - - 19,296,864
15,950,958 11,963,218 3,987,740 - - - -
919,060,532 399,721,450 103,278,105 124,424,173 102,595,704 154,789,708 34,251,392
57,632,476 52,023,025 5,609,451 - - - -
56,005,314 41,709,010 8,731,590 5,564,714 - - -
31,174,128 20,173,640 11,000,488 - - - -
! 38,832,004 2,502,075 2,328,898 6,854,523 6,386,747 20,759,761 -
540,882,472 397,719,777 108,900,672 32,944,781 321,792 995,450 -
62,437,103 1,196,181 5,104,696 25,200,889 23,980,192 6,955,145 -
470,805 - - - - 470,805 -
22,587,238 16,940,428 5,646,810 - - - -
109,038,992 - - - - - 109,038,992
919,060,532 532,264,136 147,322,605 70,564,907 30,688,731 29,181,161 109,038,992
74,582,341 35,615,793 34,905,831 2,329,407 1,637,894 93,416 -
166,752,876 74,801,994 26,546,608 27,543,244 10,687,371 27,173,659 -
1
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2021 12 31
56,985,180 57,002,596 52,214,756 4,781,266 6,574 - -
55,074,494 55,214,952 46,349,403 287,733 8,577,816 - -
39,664,252 39,818,327 21,682,683 18,135,644 - - -
614,459,265 618,329,655 539,657,098 71,718,355 5,474,224 964,402 515,576
71,643,816 90,841,451 9,007,797 6,403,681 27,685,532 25,862,568 21,881,873
448,908 566,468 - 21,054 41,822 41,879 461,713
838,275,915 861,773,449 668,911,737 101,347,733 41,785,968 26,868,849 22,859,162
51,407,472 51,407,472 10,937,310 38,176,095 2,101,434 59,415 133,218
165,236,122 165,236,122 81,281,035 33,185,536 17,935,163 16,586,906 16,247,482
2020 12 31
57,632,476 57,702,161 52,079,562 5,622,599 - - -
56,005,314 56,112,668 41,745,847 8,741,442 5,625,379 - -
31,174,128 31,192,115 20,176,417 11,015,698 - - -
540,882,472 545,721,598 400,535,450 109,374,427 34,327,755 376,834 1,107,132
62,437,103 78,204,322 1,543,887 6,380,000 28,314,872 25,119,209 16,846,354
470,805 608,287 - 21,684 43,427 43,368 499,808
748,602,298 769,541,151 516,081,163 141,155,850 68,311,433 25,539,411 18,453,294
74,582,341 74,582,341 35,615,793 34,905,831 2,329,407 1,637,894 93,416
166,752,876 166,752,876 74,801,994 26,546,608 27,543,244 10,687,371 27,173,659
1
©

IMCO

IMCO
G-ALCO
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IMCO
G-ALCO BRCC
VaR
VaR
99
VaR
VaR IMCO G-ALCO
VaR
VaR
VaR
MAT
VaR
2021 12 31 2020
12 31
VaR
71,793 67,540 102,425 50,797 67,417
66,738 60,682 93,610 39,666 40,300
49,273 37,759 100,567 21,455 27,531
25,419 19,517 27,530 11,357 14,045
558 1,589 5,699 268 1,606
13 1,010 7,405 13 204
(70,218) (53,017) (132,386) (21,962) (16,269)
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
IMCO G-ALCO VaR
VaR
2021 12 31 2020
12 31

VaR
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521,783 517,181 607,180 430,650 483,064
123,169 74,282 130,899 26,325 31,676
543,064 485,521 549,289 429,835 451,288
7.944 8,921 16,675 7,326 16,675
20,331 17,923 20,704 15,472 15,472
(172,725) (69,466) (110, 387) (48,308) (32,047)
12 31
2021 12 31 2020 12 31

) ) ( ) ( )4
(8,096,034) 44,131,826 36,035,792 53,089,049
(2,936,366) 2,763,058 (173,308) (219,015)
29,681,838 (28,504 ,576) 1,177,262 529,888
(922,720) 738,262 (184,458) 139,706
7,821,997 (6.216,212) 1,605,785 (1,154,645)
5,156,323 (4,979,452) 176,871 (55,698)
(5,778,987) 5,755,665 (23,322) (4,474)
5,659,444 (2,709,651) 2,949,793 34,942
11,263,576 (11,534,347) (270,711) 172,010
2,105,547 (340,838) 1,764,709 1,036,059
146,099 - 146,099 225,434
(721,458) 1,157,682 436,224 (272,903)

2021 12 31
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2021 12 31 + 11,773 + 1,733 = 1,769 * 17,649

2020 12 31 + 5,299 + 2,190 + 557 + 10,361
2021 2020 12 31

FAB
2021 12 31 2020 12 31

340,222 1,045

2,053 2,221

108,893 88,279

1,219 2,078

452,387 93,623

2021 2020 12 31
2021 12 31 2020 12 31

5 14,787 8,780

5 - 1,411

5 21,335 16,552

5 10,258 1,133

46,380 27,876
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38
50 2020 12 31 50
2021 2020 2021 2020
12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
+ 578,325 + 519,145 + 1,091,348 + 1,456,459
776,343
2020 12 31 723,379 570,703

2020 12 31 575,855
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2021 12 31
258,778,449 232,251,417 51,935 - - - 26,475,007
45,572,252 25,467,500 15,872,160 637,619 569,670 852,208 2,170,005
19,325,504 19,325,594 - - - - -
46,260,645 26,771,159 12,388,106 7,101,380 - - -
24,273,766 24,273,766 - - - - -
410,154,614 305,416,294 59,568,350 23,587,659 16,642,502 4,939,809 -
145,475,300 29,108,369 14,194,777 30,531,426 27,221,146 44,022,340 391,332
6,962,576 - - - - - 6,962,576
5,748,574 - - - - - 5,748,574
19,440,403 - - - - - 19,440,403
18,351,114 8,255,742 3,307,637 69,707 47,266 24,325 6,556,437
1,000,343,377 670,869,841 105,472,965 61,927,791 44,486,584 49,841,772 67,744,424
56,985,180 52,205,865 4,772,924 6,391 - - -
55,074,494 46,317,898 284,728 8,471,868 - - -
39,664,252 21,479,026 18,185,226 - - - -
28,395,085 28,395,085 - - - - -
614,459,265 297,455,801 71,110,043 7,472,014 238,102,643 318,764 -
71,643,816 20,811,593 1,600,825 18,980,943 20,916,204 9,334,251 -
448,908 - - - - 448,908 -
20,842,804 5,797,258 2,286,369 304,548 249,662 305,181 11,899,786
112,829,573 - - - - . 112,829,573
1,000,343,377 472,462,526 98,240,115 35,235,764 259,268,508 10,407,104 124,729,359
198,407,315 7,232,850 26,692,027  (214,781,925) 39,434,668  (56,984,935)
31,844,732 (2,603,005)  (1,205,064)  (14,763,453)  (13,273,120) -
230,252,047 4,629,755 25,486,963  (229,545,378) 26,161,548  (56,984,935)
230,252,047 234,881,802 260,368,765 30,823,387 56,984,935 -
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ooooOoog
2020 12 31

227,872,592 208,131,076 3,966,679 - - - 15,774,837
21,266,243 10,834,708 4,044,281 1,902,859 297,517 2,521,220 1,665,658
27,357,639 24,119,805 - 2,011 - - 3,235,823
44,069,241 26,708,963 17,360,278 - - - -
32,558,881 32,558,881 - - - - -
386,643,996 289,762,759 63,617,202 10,813,336 7,155,974 15,294,725 -
131,573,762 18,186,859 12,732,103 17,627,238 29,003,412 53,599,815 424,335
7,603,230 - - - - - 7,603,230
19,296,864 - - - - - 19,296,864
4,867,126 - - - - - 4,867,126
15,950,958 7,171,349 4,184,785 93,032 51,474 3,629,168 821,150
919,060,532 617,474,400 105,905,328 30,438,476 36,508,377 75,044,928 53,689,023
57,632,476 48,853,769 5,277,182 - - - 3,501,525
56,005,314 39,503,091 8,731,590 7,770,633 - - -
31,174,128 20,173,640 11,000,488 - - - -
38,832,004 38,832,004 - - - - _
540,882,472 268,754,062 109,585,308 32,415,109 128,752,664 1,375,329 -
62,437,103 15,212,334 798,691 8,741,667 14,075,719 23,608,692 -
470,805 - - - - 470,805 -
22,587,238 5,818,950 3,313,808 536,231 344,156 - 12,574,093
109,038,992 - - - - - 109,038,992
919,060,532 437,147,850 138,707,067 49,463,640 143,172,539 25,454,826 125,114,610

180,326,550  (32,807,739)  (19,025,164) (106,664,162) 49,590,102  (71,425,587)
31,844,732 (2,603,005) (1,205,064)  (14,763,453)  (13,273,120) -

212,171,282 (35,404,834) (20,230,228)  (121,427,615) 36,316,982 (71,425,587)

212,171,282 176,766,448 156,536,220 35,108,605 71,425,587 -
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IBOR ARRS
IBOR
LIBOR IBOR
2021 FCA LIBOR
FCA LIBOR
LIBOR
2021 12 31 LIBOR 2023
30 2021 12 31
LIBOR LIBOR
2021 11 16 FCA
ICE
1BA 2022 12
LIBOR
LIBOR
FCA 2022
LIBOR RFR
SARON ESTR LIBOR LIBOR
RFR
IBOR IBOR
IBOR
1BOR
IBOR RFR
IBOR RFR
RFR
IBOR RFR
IT
IBOR
RFR
IBOR

RFR IBOR
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ooDoogd
IBOR ARR
IBOR FAB
FAB 2019 IBOR CFO
IBOR
IT
IBOR RFR IBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
2022 LIBOR
IBOR IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
2021 12 31 IBOR
IBOR
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
LIBOR SONTA
LIBOR SOFR
EONIA €STR
EURIBOR EURIBOR
FAB LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR
2021 12 31
2021 RFR
RFR
IBOR
2021 12 31 LIBOR
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IBOR
2021 12 31
LIBOR LIBOR
IBOR
LIBOR
2021 12 31 LIBOR LIBOR

2023 30 LIBOR LIBOR
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oooooog

LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
117,059 - - - - 117,059
3,230,307 - - - - 3,230,307
2,010,402 1,743 2,071 - 722 2,014,938
26,119,831 - - - - 26,119,831
141,475,944 23,421,135 - 631,867 980 165,529,926
4,189,569 - - - 3,837,547 8,027,116
177,143,112 23,422,878 2,071 631,867 3,839,249 205,039,177
33,140,344 1,035,131 30 24,050 21,772 34,221,327
52,805,507 - - - - 52,805,507
17,645,838 - - - - 17,645,838
249,823,025 231,447 68,940 5,896 102,774 250,232,082
19,830,020 99,854 - - - 19,929,874
373,244,734 1,366,432 68,970 29,946 124,546 374,834,628

2022 1BOR RFR 1BOR
2021 12 31 LIBOR 2023
30

LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
117,059 - - - - 117,059
3,230,307 - - - - 3,230,307
2,010,402 - 2,071 - 722 2,013,195
26,119,831 - - - - 26,119,831
141,475,944 - - - 980 141,476,924
4,189,569 - - - 3,837,547 8,027,116
177,143,112 - 2,01 - 3,839,249 180,984,432
33,140,344 - 30 - 21,772 33,162,146
52,805,507 - - - - 52,805,507
17,645,838 - - - - 17,645,838
249,823,025 - 68,940 - 102,774 249,994,739
19,830,020 - - - - 19,830,020
373,244,734 - 68,970 - 124,546 373,438,250

IBOR
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1SDA IBOR 2020 10 23 IBOR
2006 1SDA SOFR  SONIA
IBOR
ISDA 1BOR
2021 25 1SDA
2021 1 1SDA
€STR
SOFR
LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
835,618,519 - - - - 835,618,519
ote 1,102,682,144 16,633,197 855,610 - 28,553,163  1,148,724,114
ote
2,846,575 - - - - 2,846,575
ote 13,315,853 - - - - 13,315,853
1,954,463,001 16,639,197 855,610 - 28,553,163  2,000,505,061
2022 IBOR RFR IBOR
2021 12 31 LIBOR
2023 30
LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
835,618,519 - - - - 835,618,519
oTe 1,102,682,144 4,499,461 845,942 - 28,553,163  1,136,580,710
ote
2,846,575 - - - - 2,846,575
ote 13,315,853 - - - - 13,315,853
1,954,463,001 4,499,461 845,942 - 28,553,163  1,988,361,657
IBOR
IBOR LIBOR LIBOR IBOR
IBOR
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LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR
SONIA SOFR
1BOR
IBOR
IBOR 1BOR
IBOR
IBOR I1BOR
1BOR
LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
435,787 122,004,778 - 885,392 123,325,957 35,196,746 158,522,703
- 3,599,540 - - 3,599,540 1,959,035 5,558,575
2021 12 31 435,787 125,604,318 - 885,392 126,925,497 37,155,781 164,081,278
FAB
FAB
IBOR IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
SOFR SONITA
IBOR
@
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GORM CRO CRO

GORM

FAB

FAB

FAB

CBUAE
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1CAAP
ICAAP
CBUAE
1CAAP
2021
CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/4980 CBUAE
CBUAE D
BIS 3.5
CUBEAE CBUAE
2021 2022
UAE COVID-19 TESS
2021 12 31 D-BIS 1.50 60

CBUAE CET
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
10,920,000 10,920,000
1 2,293,200 -
53,557,581 53,538,584
22,638,219 18,980,989
10,920,000 10,920,000
478,081 478,081
614,796 525,775
15,428 290,996
(535,023) (377,851)
IFRS ECL 163,320 907,796
! (7,644,000) (8,080,800)
@ 93,421,602 88,103,570
(6,430) (8,980)
(99,056) (101,437)
(21,120,888) (20,765,636)
(199,911) (219,197)
(21,426, 285) (21,095, 250)
71,995,317 67,008,320
10,754,750 10,754,750
82,750,067 77,763,070
269,345 282,483
5,963,217 5,514,812
6,232,562 5,797,295
88,982,629 83,560, 365
477,057,405 441,184,990
69,423,004 28,419,038
32,514,765 35,735,719
578,995,264 505,339,747
CET 12.4 13.3
14.3 15.4
15.4 16.5
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BOD
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IFRS
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0TC

0TC

CVA DVA

0TC

0TC
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CVA DVA

CVA DVA

CVA DVA

CDS

CVA DVA 84
2020 12 31 136
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ooooooo
2021 12 31
FvoCI FvoCI

- - - - 258,778,449 258,778,449

- 45,572,252 - - - 45,572,252

- - - - 19,325,594 19,325,594

- - - - 46,260,645 46,260,645
1,967,790 22,305,976 - - - 24,273,766
- - - - 410,154,614 410,154,614

- - 139,979,957 927,584 4,492,104 145,399,645

- - - - 18,036,457 18,036,457
1,967,790 67,878,228 139,979,957 927,584 757,047,863 967,801,422
- - - - 56,985,180 56,985,180

- - - - 55,074,494 55,074,494

- - - - 39,664,252 39,664,252
6,678,547 21,716,538 - - - 28,395,085
- - - - 614,459,265 614,459,265

619,857 - - - 71,023,959 71,643,816

- 412,618 - - 18,856,544 19,269,162

- - - - 448,908 448,908
7,298,404 22,129,156 - - 856,512,602 885,940,162
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2020 12 31
Fvocl Fvocl

- - - - 227,872,592 227,872,592

- 21,266,243 - - - 21,266,243

- - - - 27,357,639 27,357,639

- - - - 44,069,241 44,069,241
2,744,441 29,814,440 - - - 32,558,881
- - - - 386,643,996 386,643,996

- - 127,609,070 557,508 3,352,977 131,519,555

- - - - 15,763,630 15,763,630
2,744,441 51,080,683 127,609,070 557,508 705,060,075 887,051,777
- - - - 57,632,476 57,632,476

- - - - 56,005,314 56,005,314

- - - - 31,174,128 31,174,128
9,113,280 29,718,724 - - - 38,832,004
- - - - 540,882,472 540,882,472

466,881 - - - 61,970,222 62,437,103

- 336,420 - - 20,630,429 20,966,849

- - - - 470,805 470,805
9,580,161 30,055,144 - - 768,765,846 808,401,151
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2021 12 31
9,022,529 27,921,612 8,628,111 45,572,252
FvOCl 107,011,926 30,680,916 2,287,714 139,980,556
FvoCl 722,426 - 205,158 927,584
73,286 24,200,104 376 24,273,766
116,830,167 82,802,632 11,121,359 210,754,158
- 619,857 - 619,857
103,193 28,267,427 24,465 28,395,085
103,193 28,887,284 24,465 29,014,942

2020 12 31
9,921,320 5,292,365 6,052,558 21,266,243
FVOCI 111,756,913 12,709,056 3,143,446 127,609,415
FvOCl 534,846 - 22,662 557,508
47,620 32,511,261 - 32,558,881
122,260,699 50,512,682 9,218,666 181,992,047
- 466,881 - 466,881
108,153 38,720,806 3,045 38,832,004
108,153 39,187,687 3,045 39,298,885
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2021 12 31

- 90,262 - 90,262

17,795 - - 17,795

4,736 - - 4,736

- 534 - 534

- 4,907,176 - 4,907,176

774,414 - - 774,414

37,820 - - 37,820

- 707,758 - 707,758

834,765 5,705,730 - 6,540,495
2020 12 31

- 152,045 - 152,045

- - 282,570 282,570

- - 12,074 12,074

- 5,161,377 - 5,161,377

3,538,569 - - 3,538,569

- - 113,088 113,088

3,538,569 5,313,422 407,732 9,259,723

2021 12 31 2020 12 31

9,218,666 2,506,843

4,315,518 6,922,464

(2,412,825) (210,641)

11,121,359 9,218,666
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597 189
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Consolidated statement of financial position

As at
Assets 31 Dwc 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'000 AED'00O
Cash and balances with central banks 4 258,778,443 227872542
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5 45,572,252 21,266,243
Due from banks and financial institutions & 19,325,594 27,357,639
Reverse repurchase agreements 7 46,260,645 44,069,241
Derivative financial instruments 38 24,273,766 32,558,881
Loans, advances and Islamic financing 3 410,154,614 386,643,996
MNon-trading investments 9 145,475,390 131,573,762
Investment properties 10 6,962,576 7,603,230
Property and equipment 11 5,748,574 4,867,126
Intangibles 12 19,440,403 19,296,864
Other assets 13 18,351,114 15,950,958
Total assets 1,000,343,377 519,060,532
EE— ]
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 14 56,985,180 57,632,476
Repurchase agreements 15 55,074,494 56,005,314
Commercial paper 16 39,664,252 31,174,128
Derivative financial instruments £ 28,395,085 38832004
Custermer accounts and other deposits 17 614,459,265 540,882,472
Term borrowings 18 71,643,816 62,437,103
Subardinated notes 19 448,908 470,805
Other liabilities 20 20,842,804 22,587,238
Taotal liabilities £87,513,804 810,021,540
Equity
Share capital 21 10,920,000 10,920,000
share premium 53,557,581 53,538,584
Treasury shares {6,430) {8,980)
Statutory and special reserves 10,920,000 10,920,000
Other reserves 21 3,569,185 1,882,421
Tier 1 capital notes 22 10,754,750 10,754,750
Share based payment 23 249,816 249,816
Retained earnings 22,849,243 19,418,076
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 112,314,145 108,674,667
Mon-controlling interest 15,428 364,325
Total Equity 112,829,573 109,038,992
Total liabilities and equity 1,000,343,377 919,060,532

Te the best of our knowledge, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition, financial performance, and cash

flows of the Group as of, and for, the periods presented therein.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and autharized for issee on 26 January 2022 and signed on its
]

behalf:

Group Chief Executive Officer

The noties 1 to 48 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents.

The mdependent suditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 210 7,

B

219/366

Chief Financial Officer




EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

huwwmf
[Firs Aleg Dhale Bank

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Far the year ended

Mote 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED'DOOD AEDYO00

Interest income 24 16,240,568 17958417
Interest expense 25 {5,561,216) |6,585,674)
MNet interest income 10,679,352 11372743
Income fram Islamic financing and investing products 26 1,843,179 2,143,026
Distribution on Islamic deposits 27 {BB4,399) (1,259,291)
Met income from lslamic financing and investing products 978,780 883,735

Total net interest income and income from Islamic financing

and investing products 11,658,132 12,256,478
Fee and commission income 28 4,894 3659 4,354,473
Fee and commission expense 28 {1,859,821) (1,442,393}
Met fee and commission income 3,034,548 2,912,080
Met fareign exchange gain 29 692,339 1,240,355
Met gain an investments and derivatives 30 6,484,785 351,027
Other operating income EY {188,550) 1,213,971
Operating Income 21,681,255 13573911
General, administration and other operating expense 3z {5.836,474) (5,060,265)
Profit befare net impairment charge and taxation 15,844,781 13,513,645
Met impairment charge 33 2,658,237 (2,619,940)
Profit before taxation 13,186,544 10,893,706
Income tax expense 34 {644,272) [341,198)
Profit for the year 12,542,272 10,552,508
Profit attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 12,531,111 10,555,229
Nan-controlling interests 11,161 [2,72L)
12,542,272 10,552,508
Basic earnings per share (AED) 40 1.12 0.93
— =
Diluted earnings per share (AED) 40 1.12 0.93
1

The nates 1 to 48 ane an inlegral part of these consolidated fmanca’ datements.
The independent aaditors” report on audit of consolidated Fnancil tatements is set out on pages 2 to 7,
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[Firs Aleg Dhade Bank

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

For the year ended
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'000 AEDYD00
Profit for the year 12,542,272 10,552,508

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of fareign operations {503,745) 3,008
MNet change in fair value reserve during the year (incleding ECL) 85,685 [110,984)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Equity Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income = net

change in the fair value 118 863 {74,286)
Re-messurement of defined benefit abligations 17,229 {18,825)
Board of Directors’ remuneration {48, 0:00) [48,000)
Other comprehensive (loss) for the year {329,968) [249,087)
Total comprehensive income for the year 12,212 304 10,303,421

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of the Bank 12,547,716 10,279,940
MNon-contralling interest {335,412) 23,481
Total com prehensive income for the year 12,212 304 10,203,421

Thie notes 1 to 48 are an integral gart of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report an audit of conselidated financial staberments |s set oul on pages 2 to T,

10
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[First Al Dihabdl Bank

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended

Hote 31 Dec 2020
AED D00
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taation 10,893,706
Adjastments for
Cepreciation amd amortization 11,12 TGk, 564
Loms on rewaluation of nvestment properties in 248 4R5
Gain on sale of imvestment property {457,071)
Gain on sale of fixed assets {501, 268) [737.37m)
MNet impa‘rment chasges 33 2,938,953 2861675
Accreted interest 120,683 699,253
Fareign currency translation adjustment (887,9049) 723,97
16,535,437 15,001,232
Changes in:
Inwestments at falr value through profit o loss {24 355 363) {1,167,062)
D friom central banks, banks and financial institutions 14,208,574 19,334,009
Rewerie repurchas: agreements {1,?“,“! (19,800, 567]
Leans, advances and Islamic finamcing {19,203,953) 18,530,367
Cther assets {2,038,757) 3544 656
D= 1o Bands and Tinancal institulions {799,643) 21,624,601
Repurchase agreements {934,175) 17,183,466
Customer acoaunts and cther deposits 52,246,001 21,720,850
Dés wative finandal instrumenls {!m-l-'!ﬁ] 3,602 005
Other liabilities {2,931,215) {1,146, 235}
27,035,018 99,217,951
Ineame tax pad, net of recoveries {589, 806) {243, T60)
Directors” remuneration paid (48,000) {54, 750)
Net cash from operating activities 26,397,212 98,519,441
Cash flows from investing activities
ket purchase of non-trading imoestments (7.095,554) [17.111,1%96)
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired 5,596,549 -
Cash paid for acquis‘tion of subsidiary (2.203.800) -
Net movement in imastment property {102,216) 81,610
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals {741,465) [343,502)
Met cash used in investing activities (4,547 486) {17.373,064)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from ssue of shares under share based payment 21,547 36972
Dividend paid to shareholders of the bank 21 {7.688,098) {7.851,730]
Deividend paid Lo minority shareholders (13,485) {89.630)
Met movement of commercial paper B,490,124 9937173
Issue of term borrowings 18 17,148,833 16,692,127
Regayment of term borrowings 18 (5,827,560) (11,260, 709)
Payment an Tier 1 capital notes 22 {356, 204) {3,181,003)
lssuance of Tier 1 capital notes 12 - 2754750
Met eash frorm financing activities 11,775,157 6,297 950
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents 33,624,883 £7.644.303
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 lan 230,189,237 151,344,534
Cash and cash eguivalents at 31 Dec 35 171,814,120 235,169,237

Thes notes 1 to 48 are anintegra part of these conaolidated financial statemasnts,

The independent audibors’ report en awdit of consolidated financial staterments is sel out on pages 2o 7.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Legal status and principal activities

On 7 December 2016, Shareholders of National Bank of Abu Dhabi PISC {“NBAD") and First Gulf Bank PISC [“*FGBY) approved the
merger of the two banks pursuant to Article 283(1) of UAE Federal Law Mo. 2 of 2015% Concerning Commerzial Companies (the
Law}. The merger was effected through the Bsuance of 1.254 new NBAD shares for every 1 share in FGB on close of business 30
March 2017, subsequent to which FGB shares were delisted from Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange. On 25 April 2017, NBAD
shareholders approved the proposal to change the name of the combined bank to 'First Abu Dhabi Bank” [the "Bank”) and have
its registered office in FAB Building, Khalfa Business Park 1 Al Qurum P, 0. Box 6316 Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates,

Thess consalidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 comprises the Bank and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Growp”). The Group Is primarity engaged in corporate, retail, private and investment banking
activities, payment services, management servicoes, Islamic banking activities, real estate activities; and carries out its operations
through its local and averseas branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in the United Arab Emirates, Bahrain,
Brazil, Cayman |slands, China, Egypt, France, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Jordan’, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Lebanon?,
Libya, Oman, Qatar’, Singapore, South Karea, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

The Group’s Islamic banking activities are conducted in accordance with kslamic Sharia’a laws issued by the Internal Shariah
Supernvision Committes [“155C").

The Group Is listed on the Abu Ghabl Securitles Exchange [Ticker: FAB).

The cansolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 are available upan request

from the Group's registered office or at http:/fwww bankfab com

LUnder closure.
“The Bank has notified the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatary Authaority ("CQFCRA") that it will relinquish its Gatar Financial Centre
["QFC") branch license and permanently close its OFC branch.

2 Basis of Preparation
{a) Statementof Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™) and comply with the requirements of
applicable laws in the UAE. IFR3s comprise accounting standards Issued by the ASBE as well as Interpretations issued by the
Internatienal Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee | “IFRICY)

The Group is required, for the year ended 31 December 2021, to be in compliance with the provisions of the UAE Federal Law No.
2 of 2015, as amended. On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 was issued and came into effect on
2 Jlanuary 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (a5 amended). The Group has 12 months fram 2 January 2022
to comply with the provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No 32 of 2021,

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for ssue by the Board of Directors on 26 lanuary 2022,
(b)  Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and assets meets
the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group.

In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and
activithes acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to
produce outputs. The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset ar group of similar identifiable assets.

13
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MNotes to the consaolidated financial statements {continued)

2 Basis of Preparation (continued)
{b) Business combinations

The cost af an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value
and the amaunt of any non-contralling interests in the acquiree. The consideration transferred does not include amounts related
to the settlement of pre-existing relationships, Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or less. Acguisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred and included in general, administration and other operating expenses, except if related to the ssue of
debt or equity securitias,

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the centractual terms, econamic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquires.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at 15 acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit ar loss. It is then considerad in the determination of goodwill,

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an cbligation to pay contingent consideration
that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted
far within equity. Otherwise, ather contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent
chanpes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recagnised In profit or loss,

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, If the fair value of the net assets acquired 15 in excess of the agpregate consideration transferred of in an excess of the
fair value of net assets acquired over the agpregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognsed in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill & measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpase of impairment
testing, goodwill acguired in a business combination is, from the acgquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units ("CGU") that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree
are assigned to those units.

Where poodwill has been allecated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the disposed aperation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

{c) Basis of measurement

These consolidated financlal statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following material items,
which are measured on the following basis:

Items Measurement basis
Inwestments at fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Derivative financial instruments Fair value
Debt and equity instruments designated at fair value through other g
comprehensive income
Inwestment prapertias Fair value
Recognised assets and liabilities designated as hedged items in  Adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk
qualifying hedge relationships being hedged
Mon-financial assets acquired in settlement of Loans, advances and  Lower of their fair value less costs to sell and the carrying
Islamic financing amaount of the loans, advances and Islamic financing
14
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Notes to the consalidated financial statements {continued)

2 Basis ef Preparation (continued)

{d)  Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams ["AED"), which is the Group"s functional
currengy, All amaunts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless atherwise indicated, ltems included in the financial
statements of each of the Bank's overseas subsidiaries and branches are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate,

{¢) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense, Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewad on an angeing basis. Revisions to acoounting estimates are recognised
prospectively,

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgemeants in applying accounting palicies that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated financial statements are described in note 44,

3 Significant accounting policies
{a) New and Amended standards and interpretations adopted

The following amendments to existing standards and framework have been applied by the Group in preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. The adaption of the below did not result in changes to previously reported net profit ar equity
of the Group.

Description Effective from

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 |Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 38, IFRS 7, IFRS
4 and IFRS 16)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform:

1 January 2021

On 27 August 2020 the International Accounting Standards Board (1458 or the Board) published ‘Interest Rate Benchmark reform
=Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, 145 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (IBOR reform Phase 2). IBOR refarm Phase 2 includes a number
of reliefs and additional disclosures, The reliefs apply upen the transitian of a financial iInstrument from an Interbank affered rate
{“IBOR"] to an alternative risk-free benchmark reference rate ("RFR”).

The first phase of amendments ie. ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7°
{IBOR reform Phase 1), which pravided temporary reliefs to enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty
before the replacement of an IBOR with RFR, were adopted for the vyear ended 31 December 2020
{refer Mote 3(a) in the 2020 Annual financial statements) and continue ta be in force until uncertainty over the cash flows of both
the hedged itern and hedging instrument no longer exist.

The effective date of the IBOR reform Phase 2 amendments is for periods beginning on or after 1 Januvary 2021, The requiremants
must be applied retrospectively. The Group has adopted the IBOR reform Phase 2 amendments in its financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and has provided the required disclosures in the notes to the financlal statements (refer to Notes
3, 38, 44 and 45 (c}). The Phase 2 amendments have been applied retrospectively. However, in accordance with exceptions
provided in the Phase 2 amendments, the Group has elected not to restate the prior pericd to reflect the application of these
amendmaents, including not providing additional disclasures for 2020, There i no impact on opening equity balances as a result
of retrospective application.

The Phase 2 amendments pravide practical relief from certain requirements in the standards. These reliefs relate to madifications
of financial instruments, lease contracts or hedging relationships when a benchmark interest rate in a contract is replaced with a
new alternative benchmark rate. The amendments also provide an exception to use a revised discount rate that reflects the
change in Interest rate when remeasuring a lease liability because of a bease modification that is required by interest rate
benchmark refarm. Finally, the Phase 2 amendments provide a series of reliefs from certain hedge accounting reguirements when
achange required by interest rate benchmark reform occurs to a hedged item and/for hedging instrurment and consequently the
hedge relationship can be continued without any interruption,

15

226/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

dpll g sty del iy

FAB

Firsd Aba Dhali lank

MNotes to the consaolidated financial statements {continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{a) New and Amended standards and interpretations adopted (continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (continued)

As per the Phase 2 amendments, changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform are required as a practical expedient to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, provided that, for the financial
instrument, the transition from the IBOR benchmark rate to RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis. This may include
the addition of a fixed spread to compensate for a basis difference between the existing IBOR benchmark and alternative RFR,
changes ta resat period, reset dates of number of days between coupon payment dates that are necessary to effect reform of an
IBOR benchmark and the addition of any fallback provision to the contractual terms of a financial instrument that allow any of
the abowve changes to be made. Any other change to contractual terms would be assessed under the Group's accounting policies
for financial assets madifications, including an assessment of whether derecognition of the original instrument is required.

IBOR reform Phase 2 provides temporary reliefs that allow the Group’s hedging relationships to continue upon the replacement
of an existing interest rate benchmark with an RFR, The reliefs require the Group to amend hedge designations and hedge
decumentation. This includes redefining the hedged risk to reference an RFR, redefining the description of the hedging instrument
and / or the hedged item to referance the RFR and amending the method for assessing hedge effectiveness. Updatas to the
hedging documentation must be made by the end of the reporting period in which a replacement takes place. A hedge designation
may be modified more than once, each time a relationship is affected as a direct result of IBOR reform,

The Group may desipnate an interest rate as a non-contractually specified, hedped rsk companent of changes in the fair value or
cash flows of a hedged item, provided the interest rate risk component is separately identifiable. For new RFRs that are not yet
an established benchmark, relief is provided from this requirement provided the Group reasonably axpects the RFR to become
separately identifiable within 24 months. The 24-month period begins individually for each benchmark, baut if it is subseguently
assessed that the alternative RFR is no longer expected to be separately identifiable within 24 months of the first hedge
designation of a benchmark, then all hedges far that benchmark are discontinued prospectivaly,

For hedges of groups of items, the Group is required to transfer to subgroups those instruments that reference RFRs. Any hedging
relationships that prior to application of IBOR reform Phase 2, have been discontinued solely due to IBOR reform and meet the
gualifying criteria for hedge accounting when |BOR reform Phase 2 is applied, must be reinstated upon initial application.

{b)  Basis of consolidation
{i} Subsidiaries

IFRS 10 governs the basis for consalidation where it establishes a single contral madel that applies to all entities including special
purpose entities or structured entities, The definition of contral s such that an investor contrals an Investee when it is exposed
to, or has rights, to variable returns from its invobement with the investes and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee, To meet the definition of contral in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met, induding:

{a) the investor has power over an investee;
{b} the investar has exposure to, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
{c} the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's returns.

Generally, it is presumed that a majority of voting rights results in control. However, in individ ual circumstances, the Group may
still exercise control with a bess than 509 shareholding, or may not be able to exercise control even with ownership over 505 of
an entity’s shares, When assessing whether it has power aver an investes and therefore controk the variability of its returns, the
Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including:

(3] The purpose and design of the investee,

{b} The size of the Bank’s holding of vating rights relative to the size and dispersion of haldings of the other vote holders.

[} potential voting rights held by the Bank.

{d} The relevant facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time the decision needs to be made (including voting patterns at previous shareholders'
meatings) and whether the Bank can direct those activities.

{e) Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liguidation rights.

if} ‘Whether the Bank is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
has the power to affect the varlability of such returns.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{b)  Basis of consolidation (continued)

{i) Subsidiarles (continued)

Subsidiaries are entities that are contralled by the Group. The Group contrels the investea if it meets the contral criterla set out
above, The Group reassesses whether it has contral if, there are changes to one of more of the elemants of contral, This includes
circumstances in which protective rights held become substantive and lead to the Group having power aver an investee. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in these consolidated financial statements from the date that contral
commences until the date that control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of ather comprehensive income (OC) are attributed to the equity helders of the Bank and to
the non-controlling interests (NCI), even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and thase of its following subsidiaries:

i i ::wmrf n-flm Principsl acthvities Holdl;:::
First Abu DMadi Bank USA M.V Curacan Baning 100
FAR Securities LLC Unitied Arad Emirates Rrakerage 100%%
Abu Dhadi Natioaal Leasag LLC Unéted Aral Emirates Leasing 1005
Al Dhani Mational Properties Py, SC Linited Arad Emiranes Prapeny Managerent 100°%
FAB Private Bank (Susse] 58 Switreriang Banking 100
First Abu Dadi larmic Finance PISC Unitiesd Arab Emiraties Isfamic Finante 100%
Al D Secusities Brokerape Egyp! Egyirt Brakerage 6%
MBAD Ernployes Share Dptons Lmited Linited Arad Emiranes Shared and Securities 106°%
SA5 10 Mage lan France Resal Estate Brokesage 00
Matonal Bank af Abu Dhabi Beprssentagles Lica Braril Represeritalive office 1L
FAR Glabal Masoets (Caynan) Limited Cayeran Blands Finameaal Institutan 1005
Mawat Managerent Services - One Man Comnpany LLC Linited Arad Emiranes Service 100%
Mismalk Properties Co, WL (Mismak) Wnited Arab Emirates Roeal estate investmems T
Misora Propenties Cou LLC (Subsitiany of Mismakh United Arab Emirates Rl estate imest mens LT}
Firat M hant [mternationa LLC {FMI) United Arab Emtirates Poeal egane imvest mentd T
FAB Empioyment Services LLE [Subsidiary of FaI) United Arab Emirates Respurcing services 10
FAB Resourcing Servioes LLC [Subssaary of FAMI) United Arab Emirates Resgurcing services 100
FaB Sukuk Company Limited Cayrran islands Special purpose vehorhe 1D
First Guf Lioyan Bank? Libya Baniing services Gl
FAR Propenies LG United Arad Emirates Manage ment and TN

prakerage of real estate

arapenies
First Gud information Technobogy LLC (FGIT) United Arab Emirates IT Services 1%
FAR Investment K54 [single Sharehadder LLC) Eingom of Saud| Arabla Financial Institution 100
FAB Global Business Services Limived {Subsidiary of FGIT) Intia IT Services 1007
Magnati Sole Propsietorship LLC United Arab Emirates Paymant senvices 10K
Hank Auci SAF Egypt Banking 1%

Eunder lipsdation.

T Alihouigh the Bank swns 5005 ol the autstanding shares of First Gull Libyain Bank, the investment has bedn classifed o o subsidiany as the Bank exerores control
over the invesbes bocawse il casts Bhe majority of the votes on the Board of directons.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{b)  Basis of consolidation [comtinued)
{iij  Structured entities

A structured entity is established by the Group to perform a specific task. Structured entitles are designed so that their activities
are not governed by way of voting rights. In assessing whether the Group acts as a principal or has power over investees in which
it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the investee, its practical ability to direct the
rebevant activities of the investee; the nature of its relationship with the investes; and the size of its exposure to the variability of
returns of the investea.

The Group acts as fund manager to & number of investment funds. Determining whether the Graup controls such an investment
fund usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate econamic interests of the Group in the fund, Whilst assessing control,
the Group reviews all facts and creumstances to determine whether as a fund manager the Group is acting as agent or principal,
If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the fund and would consolidate them else as an agent the Group would account
for them as investments in funds.

The Group's interest in investment funds in which it act as an agent is set out below, these funds are included as part of

Investments,
Type of Structured Entity Mature and purpose Interest held by the Group
Investment Funds managing assets Generate fees from managing assets on  Investments in units issued by the fund
behalf of third-party investors amounting 1o AED 4642 thousand
{2020: AED 4,293 thousand)}

{ili}  loint Arrangements and Investments in Assoclates

An Associate is an investee over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies. Investment in
associates is accounted under the equity method aof accounting.

A joint arrangement is an arrangement between the Group and other parties where the Group along with ane or more parties
has jeint control by virtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangement may be a joint operation or a joint venture, A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to and record their
respective share of the assets, and obligations far the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

A joint wenture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that hawve joint control of the arrangement, have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement and, thus, are accounted under the equity methad of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment In an assoclate is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs,
Subsequent to initial recagnition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the profit or loss and OCI of
equity aceounted investees, until the date on which significant influence o joint contral ceases, Goodwill relating to the associate
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. The
consolidated statement of income reflects the Group's share of the results of aperations of the associates. Any change in ather
comprehensive income of those investess is presented as part of the Group's other comprehensive income. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The aggregate of the Group's share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of income.,
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with thosa of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whather [t is necessary 1o fecognise an iImpairment loss on it
inwvestment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment
in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of
Income.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{b) Basis of consolidation [continued)
{v)  Nom-controlling Interests

Mon-contralling interests are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date
of acquisition.
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

vl Loss of control
When the Group lboses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and labilities of the subsidiary, any related non-
contralling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary, Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of
contral is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Group retains any interast in the farmer subsidiary, then
such interest is measured at falr value when control is lost.

fwil  Transactions eliminated on consolidation
The carrying amount af the Group's investment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary are eliminated on
consalidation. All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unnealised income and expenses (except far foreign currency

transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised bosses are eliminated
In the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there ks no evidence of impairment,

{e) Financial assets and liabilities

(1] Recognition and Initlal measurement
The Grouwp initially recognised loans, advances and |slamic financing, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities
on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (excluding regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, i.e, the date the asset is deliverad
to or received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are thosa that require delivery of assets
within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

il  Classification

@n initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amartised cost, Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Imcome [“FVOC™) or Fair Value through profit or loss ["FVTPL").

Afinancial asset |5 measured at amertised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and Is not designated as at FVTPL:

& the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flaws; and

®  the contractual tarms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that ara Solely Payment of Principal and
Interest [“SPPI7).

A debt instrument is measured at FYOC) anly if it meets bath of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

& the asset & held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flaws and selling
financial assets; and

L] the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on spedfied dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsegquent
changes in fair value in OC1. This election s made en an investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FWTPL.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c)  Financial assets and liabilities (cantinued)
iy Classification {continued)

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost or at PO as FYTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise,

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this
best reflects thie way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

#  the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether
management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile,
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash
flowes through the sale of the assets;

=  how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group's management;

= the risks that affect the performance of the business model [and the financial assets held within that business model) and
its strategy for how those risks are managed;

*  how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed
ar the cantractual cash flows collected); and

*  the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales
activity. However, infarmation about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how
the Group's skated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how much cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are either held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows
and to sell financial assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest {“SPPI")

Faor the purposes of this assessment, “principal’ s defined as the fair value of the financial asset an initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is
defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well
as profit margin.

I assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This
includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash fMows;

lewerage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Group's clalm to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangement); and
foatures that modify consideration of the time value of meney (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates),

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Greup has the option o propose to revise the interest
rate at periodic reset dates, These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The borrowers have anoption
to either accept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalkty. The Group has determined that the contractual cash
flows of these loans are SPPI because the option varies the interest rate in a way that is consideration far the time value of money,
credit risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with the principal amount outstanding.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{e)  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
i} Classification (continwed)
Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its
business model for managing financial assets,

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost
or fair value through profit or less.

il  Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecopniges a financial asset when the contractual nights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire (see alo
3iv)), or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or inwhich the Group neither transfers nor retalns substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset [or the carnying amount allocated
to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any
new liability assumed) and (il) any cumulative gain of loss that had been recognised in OCI is recopnised in profit of loss

Any cumulative gain or boss recagnized InOC in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FYOCH ks not recognised
in prafit ar loss on derecognition af such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or lability.

Thee Group enters into transactions whereby it transfiers assets recognised on its statement of financial positon, but retains either
all er substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets ar a portion of them, In such cases, the transferred assets
are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase transactions.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction is accountad
for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase transactions, because the Group retains all or substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of such assets.

In transactions inwhich the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial
asset and it retains contral over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement,

determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. In certain transactions, the Group
retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee.

The transferred asset is derecopnised if it meets the derecognition critenia, An asset or liability is recognised far the servicing
contract if the servicing fee is more than adequate [asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.

{iv)  Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are
substantially different.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed
to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus

any eligible transaction costs, Any fees recaived as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:
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First Abay Dl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{¢)  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
{hv)  Modificatlons of financlal assets and financlal llabilitles {continued)
Financial assets {continued)

& fees that are considerad in determining the fair value of the new assat and fees that represent reimbursement of ehigible
transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and

& ather fees are included in prafit or kass as part of the gain of loss on derecognition,

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually to
maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the
Group plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a
portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts the result of the quantitative
evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases,

If the madification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FWOC! does not result in derecognition of the financial asset,
then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the
asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain of loss in profit of loss. For floating-rate financial assats, the
original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current markat terms at the
time of the modification, Any costs or fees Incurred and fees recelvable a5 part of the modification adjust the gress carrying
amaount of the modified financial asset and are amortised aver the remaining term of the modified financial asset

In the context of IBOR reform, the Group®s assessment of whether a change to a financial asset is substantial, is made after
applying the practical expedient introduced by |BOR reform Phase 2. This requires the transition from an IBOR to an RFR to be
treated as a change to a floating interest rate as described in Note 3(t). Under the Phase 2 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
amendments to IFRS 9, changes ta the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a diract result of interest rate benchmark
reform are treated as changes to a floating interest rate to that instrument, pravided that the transition from the IBOR benchmark
rate to the alternative RFR takes place on an econemically equivalent basis,

Where the instrument is measured at amortized cost or FVOCH, this results in a change in the instrument's effective interest rate,
with no change in the amortized cost value of the instrument. If the change ta the instrument does not meet these criteria, the
Group applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and if they are, the financial instrument is derecognized
and a new financial instrument Is recognized. If the changes are not substantlal, the Group continues to carry the financlal
inSLrUMEnt at ILs current carrying value with the difference adjusted in revised effective interest rate on prospective basis, adjusts
the gross carrying amount of the financial instrurnent by the present value of the changes not covered by the practical expedient,
discounted using the revised effective interast rate.

Financial labilities

The Group derecognises a financial llabilicy when its terms are madified and the cash flows of the modifled llability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
Cansideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new medified
financial liability.

If the madification of 5 financial lability is not accounted far az derecognition, then the amorticed cost of the liability i
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or koss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the
micdification gam or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the madification. Any costs and fees incurred
are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the llability and amortised over the remaining tarm of the modified
financial liability by recomputing the effective interest rate on the instiument.
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First Abay Dl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{e)  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
i) Modifications of financial assets and financlal lkabiltles {continued)
Financial labilities (continved)

In the cantext of IBOR refarm, the Group's assessment of whether a change to a financial liability is substantial, is made after
applying the practical expedient introduced by IBOR reform Phase 2. This requires the transition from an IBOR to an RFR o be
treated as a change to a floating interest rate as described in Note 3(t). Under the Phase 2 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
amendments to IFRS 9, changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a direct result of interest rate benchmark
reform are treatad as changes to a floating interest rate to that instrument, provided that the transition from the |BOR benchmark
rate to the alternative RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis.

Whara the instrument is measured at amartized cost, this results in a change in the instrument’s effective interast rate, with ne
change in the amortized cost value of the instrument, If the change to the instrument does nat meet these criteria, the Group
applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and if they are, the financial instrument is derecognized and a
new financial instrument is recognized. If the changes are not substantial, the Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the
financial instrument by the presant value of the changes not cowered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised
effective interest rate,

{v] Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of fimnancial position whemn,
and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the lability simultaneously.

Incame and expenses are presentad on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arssing from a group
of similar transactions such as in the Group's trading activity,

fvil  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date in the principal, of in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has
acoess at that date, The fair value of a liabilicy reflects s non-performance risk. When one is available, the Group measures the
fair value of an instrument wsing the quoted price In an active market for that instrument. & market is regarded as active if
transactions for the asset or liabllity take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-
going basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses the valuation technigues that maximize the wse of relevant
abservable inputs and minimize the use of unabservable inputs. The chasen valuation technique incorporates all the factors that
market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument
at inktial recognition is normally the transaction price = i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group
detarmines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a
quated price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from
observable markets, the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recopnition and the transaction price, Subsagquently, that difference is recagnised in the consolidated statemant
of profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but ne later than when the valuation is supported wholly
by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If am asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and long positions at a
bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

Partfolios of financial assets and financial labilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by the Group
on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk, are measured on the basis of a price that would be received to
sell a net long position or pald to transfer a net short position for a particular risk exposure. Portfolio-level adjustments — e_g. hid-
ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that reflect the measurement on the basis of the net exposure — are allocated to the
individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustmeant of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c)  Financial assets and liabilities (cantinued)

{vi)  Fairvalue measurement [continued}

The fair value of investments in mutual funds, private equity funds or similar investment vehicles are based on the last net asset
value published by the fund manager. For other investments, a reasonable estimate of the fair value i determined by reference
to the price of recent market transactions invelving similar investments, are based on the expected discounted cash flows.

The fair value of a demand deposit & not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted fram the first date on which the
amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognizes transfers betweean levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the and of the reporting period during which the
change has occurred.

tvil]  Impairment

The Bank recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss [ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not measured
at FVTPL:

balances with cantral banks;

due from banks and financial institutions;
reverse I'EFII.II‘C"I:'ISE EEI‘EEI‘HEI‘IES]

financial assets that are debt instrumants;
loans, advances and Islamic financing;
lpan commitments issued; and

financial puarantee contracts issued.

Ne impairment less ks recognised on equity Investments.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured
as 12-manth ECL:

=  debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
& ather financial instruments an which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition (see Mate 45(al

The Grouwp considers the above financial instruments to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understaod definition of ‘investment grade’,

Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:

& Stape 1 — Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR™) since initial recognition of a financial
instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using a
probability of default occurring aver the next 12 meonths. Far those instruments with a remaining maturity of less than 12
months, a probability of default correspanding to remaining term to maturity is used.

*  Stage 2-'When afinancial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to be impaired, it
is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the probability of default over the
remaining estimated life of the financial instrumeant.

*  Stage 3—Financial instruments that are considered (o be impaired are included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the allowance
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses,

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are;

#  Probability of default (“PD*);
=  Exposure atdefault (“EAD™)
*  Loss given default (“LGD™);
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c) Financial assets and liabilities (cantinued)
vil]  Impalrment [continued)

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-
lacking information. Additionally, the Group has elaborate review process to adjust ECL for factors not available in the model.

Detaiks of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:

&  PD=The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time harizon.

*  EAD-The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes
in the exposure after the reporting date.

*  LGD =The loss givan default & an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default oocurs at a given time. It is basad
an the difference betwean the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receivie, including fram
the realization of any collateral. It ks uswally expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

» financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive);

=  financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows;

e undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive; and

* financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group expects to
recover,

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to
financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL
are measured as follows.

* I the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from
the modified financial asset are incduded in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing assat. If the expected
restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the
final cash flow fram the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.

®  This amount is incleded in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing finandal asset that are discounted from the
expected date of derecognition ta the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset,

Credit-Impalred financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at
FWOCl, and finance bease receivables are credit-impaired (referred to as “Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is
‘eredit-impaired’ when ane ar mare events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred, Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following abservable data:

*  sipnificant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

=  abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

*  the restructuring of Loans, advances and Islamic financing by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

= itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankreptey or other financial reargansation; or

=  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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First Aibay Dl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c) Financial assets and liabilities (cantinued)
vil]  Impalrment [continued)
Purchased or Originally Credit Impaired {"POCI™) financial assets
POC! financial assets are assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition, For POCI assets, lifetime ECL are incorporated on

initial recognition. The amount recognised as a loss allowance subsequent to initial recognition is equal to the changes in iifetime
ECL since initial recognition of the asset

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows;

* financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

«  loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision reported under other liabilities; and

*  debt instruments measurad at FVOCH: no loss allowance is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value, However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in
the fair value reserve,

Write-off

Financial assets are written off [either partially or in full) when there iz no reasonable expactation of recovering a financial asset
i its entifety of a portion thereof, This is penerally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does nat have asets
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off, This assessment is
carried out at the individual asset level,

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘net impairment charge’ in the statement of profit or kass. Financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for
recovery of amounts due,
Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE"] provision requirements
As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAESBSD, 2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clausea 6.4, if the specific provision and generalfcollective
provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the differential should be transferred to
an “Impairment Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained earnings. This impairment reserve should be split to that which
relstes to difference in specific provisian and generalfeollective provision, The Impairment reserve will not be available for
payment of dividend.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Faor the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, unrestricted balances with
central banks and due from banks and financial institutions with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject

to insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its shert-term commitments.

Cash and cash egquivalents are nan-derivative financial assets stated at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

{e) Due from banks and financial institutions

These are non-derivative financial assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(fl  Investments at fair value through profit or loss
These are securities that the Group acquire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or holding as a part of portfolio
that is managed together far short-term profit or position taking. These assets are initially recopgnised and subsequenthy

mieasured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are recognised as part of
profit ar loss,

(] Reverse repurchase agreements
Assets purchased with a simultaneaus commitment to resell at a fived price an a specified future date are not recognised, The
ameunt paid to the counterparty under these agreements is shown as reverse repurchase agreements in the consalidated
statement of financial pasition. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income and accrued over

the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective
interest rate method.

{h)  Loans, advances and Islamic financing
‘Loans, advances and Iskamic financing' captions in the statement of financial position include:
#  loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction
costs, and subseguently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method; and
+  finance lease receivables,

*  lslamic financing and investing contracts,

Loans and advances are nan-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quated i an active
market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

When the Group is the lassor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to cwnership
of the asset ta the lessee, the arrangement i classified as a finance lease and a receivable equal to the net investment in the
lease Is recognised and presented within loans and advances.

In determining whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement and assesses whether
the fulfilment of the arrangement Is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrangement conveys a
right to use the assets.

These are derecognised when either the barrower repays its obligations or the loan are sold or written -off.

Islamic financing and investing contracts

The Group engages in Sharla’a compliant lslamic banking activities through various Islamic instrurments such as ljara, Murabaha,
Mudaraba and Wakala.

{il  Definitions
ljara
ljara consists of |jara muntahia bitamlesk.
ljara financing is an agreement whereby the Group (lessor) leases or constructs an asset based on the customer's | lessee) request
and promise to lease the assets for a specific pericd against certain rent instalments, ljara could end in transferring the ownership

af the asset to the lessae at the end of the lease period. Also, the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards related
to the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. Hara income is recognised on an effective profit rate basks over the lease term.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{h)  Loans, advances and Islamic financing jcontinued)
Islamic financing and investing contracts jcontinwed)

il Definitions {confinued)
Murabaha
A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commeodities and other assets at an agreed upon profit mark up on cost.
The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the tem purchased according to specific
terms and conditions, Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the transactien. Such income is recegnised
as it accrues over the period of the contract on effective profit rate method on the balance outstanding.
Mudaraba
A contract between the Growp and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab A1 Mal) and the other party (the
Mudarib) invests the funds in a project or 3 particular astivity and any profits generated are distributed betwean the parties
according to the profit shares that were pre-agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear the koss in case of default, negligence
ar violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are borne by the Rab Al Mal. Income is
recognised based on expected results adjusted for actual results on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas if the Group is the Rab
Al Malthe losses are charged to the Group's consalidated income statament when incurred.,
Wakala
An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal) provides a certain sum of money to an agent
[Wakil), wha invests it according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee [a lump sum of money or a percentage of the
ameunt invested). The agent is obligad to guarantee the invested amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the
terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Group may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal depending on the nature of the transaction.

Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on the effective prafit rate basis over the period, adjusted by actual income when
received. Losses are accounted far when incurred.

fii) Revenue recognition
ljara

Income from ljara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectability.

Murabaha

Imcome fram Murabaha |2 recognised on a declining-value Basis, untll such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectability,

Mudaraba

Incame of losses on Mudaraba financing are recognised on an accrual basis if they can be reliably estimated. Otherwise, income
is recognised on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the consalidated statement of profit ar loss an
their declaration by the Mudaril,

Wakala

Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the peried, adjusted by actual income when received.
Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the agent.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{i} Mon-trading investments
The ‘non-trading investrments’ caption in the statement of financial position includes:

= debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequently at thelr amortised cost using the effective interest method;

=  debt securities measured at FVOLCI;

*  equity investment securities designated as at FVOC; and

*  Investment in associate and joint venture

For debt securities measured at FYOC!, gains and losses are recognised in OC), except for the following, which are recognised in
profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost:

*  interest revenue using the effective interest method;
*  ECL and reversals; and
= foreign exchange gains and kosses.

When debt security measured at FVOC is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OC) is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss.

The Group elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis on Initlal recognition and Is Irrevocable, Falr value gains and
losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the Investment, in which
case they are recognised in OCI, Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OC) are transferred to retained earnings an disposal
of an investment.

{i} Investment properties
Investment properties are measured Inicially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognitien, Investrent
properties are stated at fair value which reflects market canditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair values of investment properties are included in the consolidated income statement under ‘other income’ in the year
in which they arise.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its dspesal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or
disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year of retirement or disposal,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Property and equipment
11} Recognition and measurement

All items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any, Capital
projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regularly tested for impairment and upon completion are transferred to the
appropriate category of property and equipment and thereafter depreciated,

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the
functienalicy of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that eguipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by com paring the proceeds from disposal
with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within other eperating income in the consolidated
statemnent of profit ar lass,

Subsequent expenditures are aonly capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits of such expenditures will
flow to the Group. On-going expenses are charged to consolidated statament of profit or boss as incurred.

If significant parts of an item af praperty and equipment have different useful lives, then they ane accounted for as teparate items
(major companents) of property and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognised within other income in profit or loss,
{ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to reduce the cost of items of property and equipment less thelr estimated residual values using the

straight-line method over thair estimated useful lves, and is penerally recopnised in profit or less, Freehold Land and Capital work
in progress is not depreciated,

The estimated vseful lives af assets for the current and comparative period are as fallows:

Buildings and villas. 20 to 50 years
Office furniture and equipmaent 5t 10 years
Fit-out leased premises 3-10 years
Safes 10 years
Computer systems and eqguipment 3ta 7 years
Vehicles 3 yaars

Depreciatian methads, useful ves and residual values are reviewed at every reporting date at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)  Property and equipment f{continued)
{i]  Caphtal work In progress

Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct cost attributable to design and construction of the
property capitalised in accordance with Group’s accounting pelicy, When the assets are ready for the intended use, the capital
work in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and equipment category and is depreciated in accordance with the
Group's policies.

{iw)  Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amaunts of its non-financial assets (other than investment properties and
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, than the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impalrment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is
allacated to CGL or group of CGLUS that are expected benefit fram the synergies of the combination,

The ‘recoverable amount’ of an asset ar OGU Is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. "Value in use’ is
based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment koss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

The Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by more than one CGU. Corporate assets are
allacated to OGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the ©GUs to which the
canporate assets are allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the OGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of any other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis,

AR impairment loss in respect of poodwill is not reversed, For other assets, an impairment loss i reversed only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised,

{1 Intangible assets

Goodwill arises on the acquisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acguiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acguired. If the tatal of consideration transferred, non-contralling interest recognised and previoushy
held interest measured at fair value 5 less than the falr value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and license acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGLs,
orF groups of CGLs, that is expected to banefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit of group of units to which the
poodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the poodwill Is manitored for internal management
purposes, Goedwill is monitored at the aperating segpment level,

Goodwill and license impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more freguently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment, The carrying value of the CGU containing the pocdwill is compared to the recoverable amount,

which is the higher of value in vse and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and |5 not subsequently reversed.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{1} Intangible assets {continued)

The Group's Intangible assets other than goodwill include intangible assets arising out of business combinations. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business cembination & their fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets acquired
separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lves are amortised over
the useful econoamic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amertisation methad for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the
end of each reporting period. Changes in the axpected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as
changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the consclidated
ineamie statement,

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other intangible assats, an impairment loss is reversed anly to the axtent that the asset’s
carrying amaunt does not excead the carnying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation ar amortisation, if
no impalrment loss had been recopnised.

The estimated useful Ives of the intangible assets for the calculation of amortisation are as fallows:

Customer relationships 7.5=15years
Core deposits 2.5 years = 15 years
Brand 20 years

{m) Collateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlerment of certain loans, advances and Islamic financing and
are recorded as assets held for sale and reported In “Other assets", The asset acquired is recorded at the lower of its fair value
less costs 1o sell and the carrying amount of the loans, advances and Islamic financing (met of impairment allowance) at the date
of exchange. No depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to
fair value less costs to sell is recorded as an impairment loss and included in the consolidated statement of profit or lass. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment boss, is
recognised in the consalidated statement of profit or loss. The Group's collateral disposal policy is in line with the respective
regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Group operates,

{n}  Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other deposits and Commercial Paper

Due to banks and financial institutions, customer depasits and Commercial Paper are financial liabilities and are initially
recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amaortised cost using the effective
interest rate method,

{0} Repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneo us commitment to repurchase at a fixed price on a specified future date are not derecognised. The
liability to the counterparty for amounts received wnder these agreements is shown as repurchase agreements in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest expense and
accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated statement of prafit or loss using the effective
interest rate method.

{p)  Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be converted inta share capital at the optan of the
helder, where the number of shares issued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted fer as compeound financlal
instruments. The equity component of the convertible notes is calculated as the excess of issue proceeds over the present value
of the future interest and princpal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest applicable to similar liabilities that do nat
hawe a conversion option.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{p) Term borrowings and subordinated notes [continued)

Term borrowing which are designated at FWTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to
changes in its credit risk is presented in OCI as a liability credit reserve. On Initial recognition af the financial liability, the Graup
assessas whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to credit risk in OCl would
creabe or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. This assessment is made by using a regression analysis to compare:

=  the expected changes in the fair value of the liability related to changes in the credit risk; and
& the impact on profit or loss of expected changes in fair value of the related instruments,

Amounts presented in the liability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss. When these instruments are
derecognisad, the related cumulative amount in the liability credit reserve is transferred to retained eamings.

Term borrowings and subordinated notes without canversion option and that are at fair value through profit or loss are financial
liabilities which are initially recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their
amertised cost using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent af fair value changes for the risks being
hedged.

{g] Treasury shares

Chn equity instruments which are acquired (treasury shares) are deducted from the equity and accounted for at weighted
average cast. Mo gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancelation of
the Bank's own equity instruments, Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised
in share premium, If treasury shares are distributed as part of a bonus share issue, the cost of the shares Is charged against
retained earnings. Voting rights relating to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them
respectively.

{r) Fiduciary assets

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in these
consalidated financial statements.

{s)  Share based payment

On the grant date fair value of eptions granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a corres ponding
increase in equity, over the period required for the staff to become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount
recegnised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options for which the related service conditions are expected
to be met; as such the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of share options that do meet the
related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. These shares may contribute to the calculation of
dilutive EPS ance they are deemed as potential ardinary shares,

(t) Interest income and expense
Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The “effective interest rate’ is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
o

L the gross carrying amount of the financlal asset; or

*  the amortised cost of the financial Bability.

Whaen caleulating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or arginated credit-impaired assats,
the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of a financial asset or financial liabilioy.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(t) Interest income and expense (continued)
Effective imterest rate [continued)

The Group has adopted IBOR reform Phase 2 for its 2021 year end, which allows as a practical expedient for changes to the basis
for determining contractual cash Flows to be treated as changes to a floating rate of interest, provided certain conditions are mat.
The conditions include that the change is necessary as a direct comsequence of IBOR reform and that the transition takes place
an an economically equivalent basis

Amaortised cost and gross carrying amount

The “amortised cost” of a finandal asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financal liability is
measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amartisation using the effective
interest mathed of any difference between that initial amaunt and the maturity amaunt and, for financial assets, adjusted for
any expected credit loss allowance,

The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset” is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit
loss allowance.

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability Is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a
financial llability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the assat (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the lability. The effective interest rate is revisad
as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest.
The effective Interest rate is abo revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge adjustment
bagins.

Far information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 3{c)iwii).
Presentation
Intarest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes:

*  interest on financial assets and financial habilities measured at amortised cost;

* interest on debt instruments measured at FAVOC!;

& the effective portion of fair value changes in gualifying hedging derivatives designated n cash fow hedpes of varability In
interest cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense; and

*  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated In fair value hedges of interest rate
rick.

=  negative interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Interest expende presented in the statement of profit or koss and OC1 includes:

+  financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and

& the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedpes of variability in
interest cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense,

& the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedping derivatives designated in fair value hedpes of interest rate
risk.

*  negative interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

& Interest expense on lease liabilities.

Interest income and expense on financial assets and financial liabilities at FYTPL are presented as in interest income or interest
expense from financal instrumeants at FVTPL.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{u)  Income from lslamic financing activities
ljara incame |5 recognised on a time-propartion basks over the lease term,

Murabaha income is recognised on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the principal amounts
outstanding. Mudaraba income is recognised based on expected results adjusted for actual resultson distribution by the Mudarib,
whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group's consolidated income statement when incurred.

(v} Depositors’ share of profit

Depositors’ share of profit s amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in the farm of wakala
and mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The amounts are caloulated
in accordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharla’a principles.

{(w) Feeand commission income and expense

The Group earns fae and commission income from a diversa range of services provided to its customers, The basis of accounting
treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly the revenue is
recognised In consolidated statement of profit or loss, Fee and commission Income is accounted for as follows:

*  income eamed from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided;

* income earned on the execution of a significant act ks recognised as revenue when the act s completed;

*  income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment to
the effective interest rate and recorded in “Interest incomse”,

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Group's consolidated financial statements may
be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Group first applies IFRS 9 to
separate and maasure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual,

Fee and commission expense relates malnly ta transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are received.,
Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates loyalty programs, which allow customers to accumulate points when they use the Bank's products and
services that can then be redeemed for free or discounted products or services, subject to certain conditions. The loyalty
programs givie rise to separate performance obligations under the separate schemes, The fair value of ssued points s penerally
estimated based on equivalent standalone prices for the mix of awards expected and is recognized in other labilivies until the
points get redeemed or lapsed. Management judgment is involred in determining the redemption rate to be used in the estimate
of points to be redeemed as evidenced by the Group's historical experience.

x) Zakat

Zakat is only paid on behalf of shareholders in jurisdictions where zakat payment is made mandatory by the regulations of the
jurisdictions. Such payment i made in accordance with the repulations of the jurisdictions.

{y}  Met gainfloss on investments and derivatives

Met gain on investments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealsed gains and losses on investments at fair value through
profit ar lass and derivatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading Investments and dividend Incerme. Net gain on investmeant
at fair value through profit or loss includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair
value.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of FYOC assets are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive
income and recarded in fair value reserve with the exception of ECL, interest calculated using the effective interest rate methad
and forelgn exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit
ar less. Where the investment is sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss praviously recognised in equity under fair value
reserve is reclassified to the consalidated statement of profit or loss in case of debt instruments.
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First Aibay Dl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(¥} Metgainfloss on investments and derivatives (continued)
MNon-trading investment includes FYOC and amortised cest Instruments,

The Group also holds investments in assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Group discloses interest paid on
these assets in the line where its economic substance of transaction is reflected [note 29).

Amaortised cost investments, which are not close to their maturity are not ardinarily sald, However when they are sald or realised,
the gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ar koss.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
(z) Foreign currency
{i) Foreign curréncy transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currancies of the Group entitias at spot exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
retranslated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. The forelgn currency gain or less on
Mo netary items is the diference between amartised cost i the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for
effective interest and payments during the peried, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at
the end of the period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currancy at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value i determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are transkated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency
differences arising from the transaction arising from the translation of the following item are recognised in OCIL

= equity Investments in respect of which an election has been made to present subsequent changes in fair value in OC
*  afinancial liabilivy designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is effective
= gualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effactive.

i) Foreign operations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the WAE are not deemed an integral par of the head office operations,
The assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting date.
The income and expense of foreign operations are translated at average rates, as appropriate. Exchange differences [including
those on transactions which hedge such investments) arising from fetranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to
foreign currency translation adjustment account in other comprehensive income accumulated in the translation reserve, except
to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

Whan a foreign operation is disposed of such that contral is lest, the cumulative amaunt in the translation resenve related to the
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of only part of its
interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign aperation while retaining control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reattributed o NCI,

If the settlement of a manetary recehvable from or payable to a fareign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable
future, then foreign currency differences ansing on the item form part of the net investment in the fareign operation and
recognised in OC1, and accumulated in the translation reserve in the equity.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(2a) Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax, itis recognised in profit or loss except to the extent it relates to items
recognised directhy in eguity ar OCI.

Current tax is pravided for in accordance with fiscal regulations of the respective countrias in which the Group cperates and is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
Previous years.,

Deferrad tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary
differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the inital recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or lods, and differences relating ta investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted at the
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent
that it is no loenger probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available ro allow for all or part of the defarred tax asset to be
utilised.

The measuwrement of deferred tax reflects the tax consegquences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at
the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and Habilities.

In determining the amount of current and defarred tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposures, including whether
additional taxes and interest maybe due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of
judgements about future events. New Information may become available that causes the Group to chanpe its judgement
regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilties; such changes to tax liabilities would impact tax expense in the period in which
such a determination is made.

{ab) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to the
consolidated statement of prafit or loss, The fair value of a derivative i the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking
to market the derivative or using valuation technigues, mainly discounted cash flow modelks.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held for trading, or is
designated as a hedging instrument and, if 5o, the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains and losses from changes in fair value
of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When derivatives are designated as
hedges, the Group classifies them as either: (i) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised asset or labllivy; (1) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction; (i) hedge of net investment
which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated as hedging Instruments
in & fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for an embedded

derivative separately from the host contract when:

o the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9;

= the host contract is not itself carried at FVTPL;

=  theterms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a separate contract;
and

*  the economic charactaristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contract.
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First Aibay Dl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{ab) Derivative financial instruments and hedging [continued)
Embedded derlvatives [continued)]

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss unbess they
form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded derivatives are presented in the
statermnent of financial position together with the hast contract,

Hedge aceounting

It is the Group's policy to document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship betwean hedging instruments and hedged
iterns, as well as risk management chjective and strategy. The policy also requires documentation of the assessment, at inception
and on an on-going basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge.

The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an on-going basis, as to whether
the hedging instrument|s) is {are) expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the
respactive hedged itemn(s) during the period for which the hedge is designated. The Group makes an assessment for a cash flow
hedge of a forecast transaction, as to whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable to occur and presents an exposure
ta variations in cash flows that could ultimateby affect profit or loss.

IBOR raform Phase 1 requires that for hedging relationships affected by IBOR reform, the Group must assume that for the purpose
of assessing expected future hedge effectiveness, the interast rate is not alterad as a result of IBOR reform. Also, the Group is not
required to discontinue the hedging relationship i the ecanomic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging
instrument fails to exist, although any hedge ineffectiveness must be recegnized in profit or loss, as nermal.

The Group has adopted |BOR reform Phase 2 for its December 2021 year-end. IBOR reform Phase 2 provides temporary reliefs
that allow the Group's hedging relationships to continue upon the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
RFR. The reliefs require the Group to amend the hedge designations and hedge documentation and are set out in Note 3 (al.

Fair value hedge

When a dertvative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognised asset or Bability
or a firm commitment that could affect profit or loss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognised immediately in
profit or loss, The change in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognised in profit or loss. If the
hedped item would otherwise be measured at cost or amortised cost, then its carrying amount is adjusted accordingly.

If the hedging derivative expires or is sald, terminated or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge
accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. However, if the derivative
is novated to a clearing counterparty (“CCP”) by both parties as a consequence of laws or regulations without changes in its terms.
except for those that are necassary for the nowation, then the derivative & not considered expired or terminated,

Any adjustrment up ta the paint of discontinuation ta a hedped item for which the effective interest methad 15 used is amorntizad
to profit ar [oss as an adjustment to the recaloulated effective interest rate of the iterm aver its remaining life.

On hedge discontinuation, any hedging adjustrment made previously to a hedged financial instrument for which the effective
interest method is used 15 amortisad to profit or loss by adjusting the effective interest rate of the hedged item from the date on
which amaortization begins. If the hedged item is derecognised, then the adjustment is recognised immediately in profit or less
when the item 5 derecognised.

IBOR reform Fhase 2 provide relief for items within a designated group of items such as those forming part of the Group’s fair
value hedging strategy, that are amended as a result of IBOR reform. The reliefs allow the Group’s hedging strategy to remain

and not be discontinued, Az items within the hadged group transition at different times from IBORS to RFRs, the Group transfers
them to sub-groups of instruments that reference RFRs as the hedged risk.

EL]

249/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

FAB(

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{ab) Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
Cash flow hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flow attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised assets or liability that could affect prafit or loss, the effective partion of changes in the fair value
of the derivatives is recognised in OCl and presented in the hedging reserve within equity, Any ineffective portion of changes in
the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the profit or loss. The amount recognised in OC is reclassified to
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period as the hedged cash flows which affect profit or loss and in the
same line in the statement of profit or loss and OO

If the hedging derivative expires is sald, terminated or exercised or the hedge, no longer meets the critera for cash flow hedpge
accounting the hedge accounting s discounted prospectively. However if the derivative s novated to a central counterparty by
both parties as a conseguence of laws or regulations without changes in its terms except for those that are necassary for the
nowation, then the derivative is not considered as expired or terminated. If the hedged cash flows are no longer expected to
accur, then the Group immediately reclassifies the amount in the hedging reserve from OCH to profit or loss, For terminated
hedging relationships, if the hedped cash flows are still expected to occur, then the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve
is not reclassified until the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss; if the hedged cash flows are expected to affect profit or lossin
multiple reporting periods, then the Group reclassifies the amount in the hedging reserve from OCl to profit or koss on a straight-
line basis,

Faor interest rate benchmarks deemed in scope of IBOR reform, the Group will retain the cumulative gain or boss inthe cash flow
hedpe reserve for designated cash flow hedges even though there is uncertainty arising from these refarms with respect to the
timing and amount of the cash flows of the hedped items. Should the Group consider the hedped future cash flows are no longer
expected to occur due to reasons other than IBOR reform, the cumulative gain or loss will be immediately reclassified to profitor
[

IBOR reform Phase 2 provides relief for items within a designated group of items such as those forming part of the Group's cash-
flow hadging strategy, that are amended as a result of IBOR reform. The reliefs allow the Group™s hedging strategy to remain and
not be discontinued, As items within the hedged group transition at different times from |BORS to RFRS, the Group transfers them
to sub-groups of instruments that relerence RFRS a2 the hedged risk,

Net Investments hedges

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liakility is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of a net
investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument & recogn sed
in other comprehensive income in the translation reserve, The effective portion of the change in fair value of the hedging
instrument is computed with reference to the functional currency of the parent entity against whose functional currency the
hedged risk is measured. Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative or foreign exchange gains and
lzsses on the non-derivative is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, The amount recognisad
undar other comprehensive income i fully or partially reclassified to statement of profit or loss on disposal of the foreign
operation or partial dispesal of the fareign operation, respectively.

Other derivatives

Other non-trading derivatives are recognised on balance sheet at fair valve, If a derivative is not held for trading, and & not
designated In a qualifying hedging relationship, then all changes in its fale value are recognised immediately in profit or loss asa
companent of net galn on Investments and derivatives or net forelgn exchange pain.

{ac) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Where the

effact of time value of maney i material, provisions are determined by discaunting the expected future cash flows, at a pre-tay
rate, that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liabiity,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{ad]) Employees’ end of service benefit

The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entittement to these benefits is based upon the employees’
length of service and completion of a minimum service period, The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period
of emplayment.

With respect to s UAE national empboyees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant gavernment pension scheme
calculated as a percentage of the employees' salaries. The Group's obligations are limited to these contributions, which are
expensed when due.

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan Is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity of to a governmant organisation and will have no legal or constructive obligation ta pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in consolidated statement
of profit er loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Pension and national insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Group to Pensions and Benefits Fund in
accordance with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made.

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is 3 post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan, The habilty recognised in the
statement of financial pesition in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting peried together with adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs, The defined benefit obligation
is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the
terms of the related pension obligation,

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit Rability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
[excheding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (f any, excluding interest], are recognised immediately in OCl. Net interest
expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in Staff cost in consolidated statement of profit or
less. When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past
service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately to profit or loss, The Group recognises gains and losses on
the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

{2e} Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant to Article 169 of the UAE Companies of 2015 and in accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association, Directors’ shall
be entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting depreciation and reserves.

{af) Fiduciary activities
Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group as they are only held in trust where the Group acts as a
custodian on customers’ behalf. The Group has no liability or oblipations towards the customer on these assets held in trust.

Accordingly, these assets are not included in these consolidated financial statements.

(ag] Earmings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ardinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to erdinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise of
convertible notes and share options granted to staff,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(ah) Segment reporting

An operating segment ts a compenent of the Group that engages in business activities fram which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's ather compenents. All operating
segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group's Chief Executive, being the chief operating decision maker, to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance for which discrete financial
information is available, Segment results that are reported to the Group Chief Executive include items directly attributable to a
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasenable basis,

{ai) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease f the
contract conveys the right to contral the use of an identifled asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16,

{i} Group acting as a lessee

At commencement or on madification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates consideration In the
contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price. Howewver, for leases of branches and office
premises the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components as
a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease lability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements
made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated wsing the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of
the lease term. In addition, the right-af-use asset s periodically reduced by impairment losses, If any, and adjusted far certain
remeasurements of the lease lability,

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental
borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external sources and makes
certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the fallowing:

= fived payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

* wvariable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as av the
commencermnent date;

*  amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

= the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonabby certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional
renewal period if the Group is reascnably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a
lease unlass the Group & reasonably certain not to terminate early,

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methed, It is remeasured when there 5 a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there i a chanpge in the Group's estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of -
use asset, of is recorded In profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced ta zero.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued}
{ai) Leases jcontinued)
11} Group acting as a lessee [continued])

Whera the basis for determining future lease payments changes as required by interest rate benchmark reform
the Group remeasures the lease lability by decounting the revised lease payments using the revised discount rate that reflects
the change to an alternative benchmark interest rate.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in "property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in "other liabilities” in the statement of
financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and leasa liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases, induding leases of IT equipment. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense
an a straight-line basis over the lease term,

il Group acting as a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each laase component on the basis of their relative stand-alone salling prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease,

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. if this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease: if not, then itis an
operating lease, As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part
af the economic life of the asset.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFR5 9 to the net investment in the lease, The Group further
regularly reviews estimated unpuaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease,

{aj) Settlement date accounting

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date that the Group settles the purchase
or sale of an asset.

{ak] Taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. Taxable profit differs
from prafit as reported in the consolidated income statemant because it excludes items of income or expanse that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability methad an temparary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

{al) Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified party falls to meet its abligation when due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Certain financial guarantee contracts in the nature of credit default guarantees are not held for proprietary trading purposes and
are treated as insurance contracts and accounted for under IFRS 4.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)

{al) Financial guarantees (continued)

For other financial guarantee contracts, these are initially recognised at their fair value {which is the premium received on
issuance). The received premium s amortised aver the life of the financlal puarantee, The guarantes lability is subsequently
carried at the higher of this amonsed amount and the present value of any expected payment (when a payment under the
guarantee has become probable). The premium received on these financial guarantees is included within other liabilities.

Financial guarantees are reviewed periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate,
to consider whether a provision is required. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those established
for quantifiing impalrment kosses on loans, advances and Islamic financing. if a specific provizion & required for financial
puarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised under other labilites in the consolidated balance sheet are
reclassified to the appropriate provision.

{am)  Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2021 and
earlier application |s permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted them in preparing these consolidated financial
statements.

The fallowing amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 {Amendment to IFRS 16).

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to 145 37).

Annual Improvements ta IFRS Standards 2018-2020.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use [Amendments to 1AS 16)

Reference tothe Conceptual Framework (Amendments ta IFRS 3)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current {Amendments to IAS 1),

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to 1A5 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2).

Definition of Accounting Estimates [Amendments to 1AS 8).

& First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: Subsidiary as a first-time adopter [Annual improverments
to IFRS 1)

*  Financial Instruments: Fees in the “10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabiities (Annual improvemants to IFRS 9)

#  Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liab#lities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to LAS 12)

4 Cash and balances with central banks

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED DOO AED000

Cash an hand 1,903,157 1,933,356
Central Bank of the UAE

cash reserve deposits 19,278,099 8,245,013

certificates of deposits - 15,996,096

ather balances 21,000,000 25,000,000

Balances with other cantral banks 216,753,723 176,830,683

258,934,979 223,009,148
Less: expected credit losses {156,530]) [136,556)

258,778,449 127,872,592

As per the new UAE regulations, the bank is allowed to draw their balances held in the UAE reserve account, while ensuring that
they meet the reserve requirements over 14 days period, Balances with other central banks includes mandatory reserves which
are avallable for day-to-day operations onby under certain specified conditions.
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5 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
31 Dec 2021 (EENEal e vely]
AED D00 AEDDOO
Investments in managed funds 12,480 6,347
Imvestment in private equities 2,165,377 1,789,231
Investments in eguities 6,744,044 106,879
Debt securities 36,650,351 19,393,736
45,572,252 71,266,293
& Due frem banks and financial institutions
31 Dec 2021 =N R
AED' 000 AED'000
Current, call and notice deposits 9,082,272 16,227,447
hargin deposits 5,595,337 7,555,304
Fixed deposits 4,705,697 3,547,951
19,383,306 27,430,792
Less; expected credit losses {57,712) (73,153)
19,325,594 27,357,639
7 Reverse repurchase agreements

The Group enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third party transfers

financial assets to the Group for short term financing.
31 Dec 2021 [EERNTe vl
AED'DO0 AEDD00

Reverse repurchase with banks and others 42,609,120 41,006,158
Reverse repurchase with central banks 3,678,.BB5 2,992,598

46,288,005 44,088,756
Less: expected credit losses {27, 360) 119,515)

46,260,645 44,069,291

At 31 Dec 2021, the falr walue of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell
re-pladge in the absence of default was AED 47,413 million {31 Dec 2020: AED 49,154 million).

At 31 Dec 2021, the fair value of financial assets accepted az collateral that have been sold or re-pledged was
AED 24,907 million {31 Dee 2020: AED 26,272 million). The Group is obliped ta return equivalent securities,

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities borrowing and
lending activities.
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2 Loans, advances and Islamic financing
31 Dec 2021 (EENGal e vely]
AED'000 AEDO00
Gross koans, advances and Islamic financing 428,783,318 403,28E,746
Less: interest suspended {5,400,613) [4,206,335)
Less: expected credit loss {13,228,091) (12,438,415)
Net loans, advances and |slamic financing 410,154,614  3B6,643 996
I

11 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'0DO AEDO0O

By counterparty:
Government sector 41,254,574 38,889,069
Public sector 96,109,500 92,718,473
Banking sector 11,700,842 8,924,677
Corporate [ private sector 201,714,735 189,101,082
Personal f retail sector 78,003,667 73,655,445
Gross loans, advancas and kslamic financing 428,783,318 403,288,746
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED 000 AEDOCO

By product:

Owverdrafts 28,249,912 27,234,278
Term loans 332,506,838 314,852,218
Trade related loans 29,252,435 23,197,489
Persanal loans 31,004,047 31,790,101
Cridit cards 5,458,971 4,871,801
Vehicle financing loans 2,311,115 1,342,859
Gross loans, advances and lslamic financing 428 783 318 403,288,746

The Group provides lending against investment in equity securities and funds. The Group is authorised to liquidate these
instruments if their coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold. The carrying walue of such lending is
AED 20,802 million {31 Dec 2020: AED 14,025 million) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral against such boans is
AED 43,460 million (31 Dec 2020: AED 24,302 million). During the year, the Group has liquidated insignificant amount of
collateral due to fall in the coverage ratio.

45

256/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooOoog
U apeshgd it r

First Abuy D Bank

Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

B Loans, advances & Islamic financing {continued)

Islamic financing
Included in the above loans, advances and Islamic financing are the following Islamic financing receivables:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED'000 AED DO
ljara 11,553,264 11,132,417
Murabaha 24,864,303 19,593,084
Others 485,158 315,953
Total Islamic financing contracts 36,902,715 31,041,454
Less: expected credit loss {1,053,769) {891,527}
Less: suspanded prafit {154,038) {132,885)

35,694 918 30,017,042

k| Non-trading investments

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'00D AED'O00

Fair value through other comprehensivie income:
- with recycle to profit or loss (Debt Investments) 139,980,556 127,604,415
- without recycle to profit ar loss [Equity Investments) 927,584 557,508
Amortised cost 4,492,104 3,352,977
Investment in associates and joint venture 75,745 54,207

145,475,989 131,574,107
Less: expected credit losses {599) {345}

145,475,390 131,573,762

An analysis of non-trading investments by type at the reporting date s shown below:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DOD AED D00

Quoted  Ungquoted Total Quaoted Unguated Tatal
Equity investments 712,426 280,903  1,003.329 534,846 76,869 611,715
Debt investments 143,488,689 9E3.971 144472660 129,844,660 1,117,732 130,962,392

144,211,115 1,264,874 145475989 130,379,506 1,194,601 131,574,107
Less: expected credit losses {557) {2) {539) (336) &]] [245)

144,210,518 1,264,872 145475390 130,173,170 1,194,592 131,573,762

Debt instruments under repurchase agreaments included in non-trading investments at 31 Dec 2021 amounted to
AED 30,955 million {31 Dec 2020: AED 32,840 million).
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

9 Non-trading investments (continued)
The non-trading investments include the fallowing investments in associates of the Group:

Percentage of holding
31 Dec 2021 EEERReiClvely]

Midmak Properties LLC 16% 16%
Ernirates Digital Wallet LLC 23% 23%
Mercury Payment Services LLC 30% 30

Midmak Properties LLC {"Midmak™) is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. Midmak is invalved
in real estate activities. Although the Group owns 16% of the outstanding shares of Midmak, the investment has been classified
a5 an associate as the Group exercises significant influence due ta representation of the Board of Directors.

Emirates Digital Wallet LLE, established in 2017, i jointly owned by 16 of the leading UAE national banks, supported by the UAE
Central Bank.

Marcury Payment Services LLC is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi te carry an butiness of
investments and payment service schemes.,

10 Investment properties

31 Dec 2021 EEERRETEREN]
AED' 000 AEDOOO

As at the beginning of year 7,603,230 7,956,854

Additiens / ransfer from PPE / other adjustments 134,081 472,211

Dispesals / transfar to PPE {24,735]) [577.350]

Fair value adjustment {750,000) [248,485)

As at the year end 6,962,576 7,603,230
==

Amaounts recognised in the consolidated statement of incoma in respect of net rental income of investment properties are as

follows:
31 Dec 2021 31 D 2020
AED'000 AED'D00
Rental income derived from investment properties 131,888 100,046
Operating expanseas {79,195} [50,724)
Met rental income fram investment properties 52,693 49,3223
L] e —

Investment proparties are stated at fair value which represents the price that would be recaived to sell an assat or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants under prevailing market conditions at the measurement date.

The Greup's investment properties consist of land, buildings and properties under development in Abu Dhabi and Dubai,
Management determined that these investment properties consist of two classes of commercial and retail assets, based on the
nature, characteristics and risks of each property.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, fair value of the properties is based on the valuations performed by third party valuers and
all are level 3 under fair value hierarchy, The valeers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional qualifications and
with recent experience in the location and category of investment preperties being valued. The fair values have been determined
based on varying valuation models depending on the intended use of the investment properties; in accordance with the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (*RICS”) Valuation Standards.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

10 Investment properties [continued)

Description of valuation technigques used and key Inputs to valuation an investment properties as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Valuation technigue Significant unobservable inputs
Buildings Comparable and Residual Method Comparable transactions
Sales Comparison Method Current market price of similar assets
Land Comparable and Residual Method Cost of construction
Developer™s profit
Financing cost
Properties under development Discounted cash flow method Discount rate
Cash inflows
Cash outflows
48
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

11 Property and equipment

Land, Computer Furniture,
buildings systems  equipment, Capital
and and safes and waork -in-
alterations equipment vehicles Progress Tatal
AED'DDO AED" OO0 AED'DOD AED'DOD AED'DOD
Cost
Asatl lan 2020 1862788 1,506,732 514,928 904,259 6,TER 707
Additions 162,488 869,693 92,275 1,896,649 3,121,085
Alloeatians from CWIP 7716 12,578 (25,170} 4,876 .
Disposals, transfers and
write affs (828,682} (121,101) (48000 (1,485,790) {2,440,373)
At 31 Dec 2020 2,304,310 3,267,902 577,233 1,319,974 7,469,419
Business Combination transaction 160,300 158,530 84,199 148,678 551,707
Additions 120,474 719,579 96,321 1,320,221 2,256,595
Allocations from CWIP {162) {75) {236) 473 .
Disposals, transfers and
wirite affs! {307,519) {157,873) {132,554) (661,727]  (1,259,673)
At 31 Dec 2021 2,277,402 3,988,062 624,963 2,127,619 9,018,048
Acourmulated depreciation and

impalrment losses

A5 at 1 Jan 2020 725191 1,091,598 352,532 - 1,168,721
Charge for the year 149,578 375,728 42,054 - 567,361
Disposals, transfers and

wirite offst 1183,2200 50,650 {2,259} = {134,785}
At 31 Dec 2020 691,549 1,518,417 3892327 . 2,602,293
Business Combination transaction 35,733 B3,184 58,549 - 177 466
Charge for the year 169,254 515,273 51178 - 735,705
Disposals, transfers and

write affs {114,595] {72,238) 159,157) - {245,590}
At 31 Dec 2021 781,941 2,044,636 442,897 = 3,2163474
Carrying amounts
AL 3] Dec 2020 1612761 1,743,985 184,306 1,319,979 4,867,126
At 31 Dec 2021 1,495,462 1943427 182,066 2,127,619 5. 748574

! adjusted for foreign exchange transiation impact
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued}

12 Intangibles

Customer Core
Goodwill  relationship deposit License Brand Total
AED'DONO AED'DD0  AED'CO0  AED'0O0O0 AED'DDD AED'000
Cost
A Jan 2020 17,370,249 1,774,716 293,335 I6B, A0 22,000 20,129,000
Addition during the year - v < 4 : :
At 31 Dec 2020 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368, 00 22,000 20,139,000
Acdition during the year 3432 358 - . - - 342,398
At 31 Dec 2021 17,712,647 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,471,398
—_— —_—— —_—— —_— _—— —_——
Accumulated amortsation and

Impalrment lasses

At 1 Jan 2020 . 482 5916 135,913 . B,084 630,913
Charge for the year - 151,170 45,047 - 1,006 201,223
At 31 Dec 2020 - B34, 085 1ER 960 - 9,050 32,136
Charge tor the year . 148, EOG 49,047 = 1,006 198 8559
At 31 Dec 2021 - TH2, 892 138,007 - 10,096 1,030,995

—_—

Carrying amounts

AT 31 Dec 2020 17,370,249 1,140,630 404,375 368, 70 12,910 19,296,864

At 31 Dec 2021 17,712,847 091 824 355328 368, T00 11,504 19,440,403

Testing goodwill for impairment involves a significant amouwnt of judgment. This includes the identification of independent CGU's
and the allocation of goodwill to these units based on which units are expected to benefit from the acquisition.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Banks's revenue generating wnits - Corporate & Investment
Banking, Global Markets and Consumer Banking CGUs. The recoverable amount for the CGUs have been caloulated based on
their value in wse, determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from the continuing use ol the
CGUs , assets and their ultimate disposal a discount rate of 8% and a terminal growth rate of 5% were used to estimate the
recoverable amount.

Ne impairment ksses were recognized during the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 Dec 2020; nif) because the recoverable
amounts of the CGU's were determined to be higher than their carrying amounts,

The key assumptions described above may change as economic and market conditions change. The Group estimates that
reasonably possible changes in these assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of above CGUs to decline below the
cannying amount.
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13 Other assets

31 Dec 2021 311 Dec 2020
AED 000 AEDQOD

Interest receivable 7,166,389 7521611
Acceptances 7,133,061 6,017,156
Sundry debtors and other receivables 4,042,010 2,401,952
Deferred tax asset 99,056 101,437

18,440,516 16,042,166
Less; expected credit losses {89,402) {91,208}

18,351,114 15,850,958

The Group does not perceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances,

Acceptances arise when the Group is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters of credit.
After acceptance, the instrument becomes an unconditional liability of the Group and is therefore recognised as a financial
liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. Howewver, every acceptance has a corresponding contractual right of
reimbursemant from the customer which is recognised a3 a financial asset.

14 Due to banks and financial institutions

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED 000 AEDDOO

Banks and financial institutions

Current, call and notice deposits 1,097,344 2477281

Margin 4,401,542 4,745,820

Fixed deposits 16,136,321 16,981,767
21,635,207 24,204,868

Central banks

Current and call deposits 402,001 973,292

Margin Deposits 2,413 -

Fixed and certificate of depasits 34,945,559 32,454,316

35,345,973 33,427,608

56,985,180 57,632,476

Due to banks and financial institutions are deneminated in various currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range of -1 % to
1.75% (31 Dec 2020 1% to 1.825%).

15 Repurchase agreements

The Group enters into repurchase agreements in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets
directhy to third parties.

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED 000 AEDOOD
Repurchaze agreements with banks / financial institutions 55,072,110 49,252,314
Repurchase agreements with central banks 2,384 6,753,000

55,074,434 56,005,314
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

15 Repurchase agreements {continued)

The carrying value that is also the fair value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 3L00d million (31 Dec 2020; AED 33666 million) and  their associated financial liabilities amounted to
AED 55,074 million (31 Dec 2020; AED 56,005 mififon). The net difference between the fair value of the financial assets
collateraliced and the carrying value of the repurchase agreement is a shortage AED 24,070 million {31 Dec 2020 shortage
AED 22,339 milllan). The shortage is covered by re-pledging financlal assets received as collateral against reverse repurchase
agreements or through security borrowing arrangemeant from custadian,

16 Commercial Paper

The Bank has a Eurc Commercial Paper programme with a limit of USD 3.5 billion and a US Dollar Commercial Paper programme
with a limit of USD 10 billion.

The notes outstanding as at the end of the reporting date amounted to AED 39,664 million (31 Dec 2020: AED 31,174 million)
and have maturity pericd of less than 12 months.

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interests or other breaches with respect to its Commerdal paper programmes
during year ended 31 December 2021

17 Customer accounts and other deposits

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'00D AED"000
By account:
Current accounts 273,830,659 211,229,768
Savings accaunts 14,026,161 12,023,563
hargin accounts 2,926,361 2,671,889
Natice and time deposits 275,004,212 266,338,758
565,877,393 492,263,978
Certificates of deposit 48,581,872 A%,618,494
614,455,265 590,882,472
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'O0D AED 00D
By counterparty:
Gowvernment sector 171,768,336 134,010,748
Public sector 93,421,723 114,402,974
Corperate [ private sector 198,755,289 162,774,636
Persanal f retail sector 101,932,045 B1,075,620
565,877,393 492,263,978
Cartificates of deposit 48,581 872 48,618,454

614,455,265 540,882,472
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

17 Customer accounts and other deposits (continued)

31 Dee 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED D00 AED Q0D

By location:
LAE 419,243,333 385,206,397
Eurcpe 49,749,480 36,547,379
Arab countries 47,979,857 26,289,020
Americas 29,302,184 29,066,952
Asia 19,355,325 10,199,722
Others 247,214 1,954,508
565,877,393 492,163,978
Certificates of deposit 48,581,872 48,618,494

614,459,265 540,882,472

Cancentration by location is based on the residential status of the depositors,
Islamile customer deposits

Included in the above Customer accounts and other deposits are the fallowing lslamic deposits:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DOD AEDY OO0
Current Account Depasits 2,433,009 1,561,620
Margin Depaosits 69,629 65,668
hMudaraba Saving Depaosits 2,730,993 1,945,811
Mudaraba Term Deposits 160,907 101,580
Wakala Deposits 2337,779 3,774,864
7,732,407 7,449,543
18 Term borrowings

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AEDY 000 AED 000

At amortisad cost 71,023,959 61,970,222
At fair value through profit or loss 619,857 466,881

71,643,816 52,437,103

Dwring the year, the Group has ksued various fixed and floating rate notes. The values of the notes issued during the year are

stated below:
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
oo
As at the beginning of year 52,437,103 55,751,819
New issuances 17,148,833 16,692,127
Redemptions {5,827,560) (11,960,703)
Fair valuation, exchange and other adjustments {2,114,560) 1,953 866

As at the end of year 71,643 Bl6 62,437,103
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

18

19

20

Term borrowings (continued)

During the year, the Group has issued various ficed and floating rate notes. The Group hedges its currensy and interest rate

exposure on these notes. The nominal values of the notes issued during the year are stated below:

31 Dec 2021 RENRAETRIE]
AELY D00 AEDOO0
Eixed rate
AUD 173,018
CHF 1,849,358
CHH 1,186,708 31425729
ELR 3,104,703
5D 4,747,037 8,150,038
GBP 3,194,350 2,249,361
HEKD 550,525 497,421
Py 63,798 -
PHF 159,884 -
Floating rate
AUD 404,597 1,077,930
UsD 1,718,964 1,231,413
GAP = 102,322
17,152,942 16,737,214
—_—— —

The Group has hedged the Interest rate and forelgn currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedged are
AED 57 billion {31 Dec 2020: AED 50 bilfion) and the risks being hedged have a net positive fair value of
AED 896 million (31 Dec 2020: net negative foir volue of AED 1,057 million). The Group has not had any defaults of principal,

interests, or other breaches with respect to its term borrowings during 2021 and 2020,

Subordinated notes

31 Dec 2021
AED D00
10 Decamber 2012 issue [4.75 percent fixed rate maturing on

9 December 2027) 443,908

31 Dec 2020
AED'DOD

470,805

The Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on the subordinated notes. The Group has not had any
defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated notes during the year ended

31 Decermber 2021,

Other liabilities
YRS 31 Dec 2020
AED 000 AED'DOO
Interest payable 5,013,652 5,833,330
Acceptances- net of discounting {note 13) 3,298,916 3,870,232
Provision employees’ end of service benefits 425,976 A64 604
Accounts payable, sundry creditors and other liabilities 11,713,020 12,122,067
Income tax 387,240 297,005
20,842,804 12,587,238
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20 Other liabilities {continued)
Employees end of service benefits

Defined benefit abligations

The Group provides for end of service benefits for its eligible employvees, An actuarial valuation has been carried out as at
December 31, 2021 to ascertain present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registerad actuary in the UAE was appainted
to evaluate the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past senvice cost, were
measured using the Projected Unit Credic Method.

The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the liabilities:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Discount rage 2.30 % per annum 2.23 % per annum
Salary increase rate 2.37 % per annum 2.32 % per annum

Demagraphic assumptions for morality, withdrawal and retirement were used in valuing the liabilities and benefits under the
plan, Because of the nature of the banefit, which 5 a lump sum payable on ext due to any cause, a combined singhe decrament
rate has been used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis polnts would impact the lability by AED 9,771 thousand and AED
10,295 thousand respectively. Similarty, a shift in the salary increment assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the

liability by AED 10,278 thousand and AED 9,850 thousand respectively.
The movement in the employess’ end of service oblipathan was as follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED' DOO AED'DOD

Balance at the beginning of year 464,604 469,894
Met charge during the year 58,425 65,074
Remeasurement gainsflosses in OC) {17,229) 18,780
Pald during the year and other adjustrments {75,824) (&9,124)
Balance at the end of year 429,976 464,604

Defined contribution plan

The Growp pays contributions far its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans, The charge for the year
in respect of these contributions is AED 108,715 thousand (2020: AED £7,314 thousand), As at the reporting date, pension
payable of AED 10,515 thousand [2020: AED 14,950 thousand) has been classified under other liabilities,

Income tax

The Group has provided for income tax in accordance with management's estimate of the total amount payable based on tax
rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reparting date. Where appropriate the Group has made payments of tax an

account in respect of these estimated liabilities.

Thie incomse tax charge for the yvear i5 caleulated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year. The mavemant in the pravisian

was as follows:
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED' DO AEDYOO0

Balangce at the beginning of year 297,005 194,259

Charge for the year 644,272 341,198

Income tax paid, net of recoveries |589,806) (243,760)

Deferred tax movemeants 35,769 5,308

Balance at the end of year 387,240 297,005
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Fir Al Dhabsl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

21 Capital and reserves

Share Capital

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED 000 AED OO0
Authorised share capital 10,920,000 10,920,000
Ordinary shares of AED 1 each 10,920,000 10,920,000
_— —_—
Treasury shares of AED 1 each 65,430 8,980

- ]

Atthe Annual General Meeting [AGM)] held on 28 February 2021, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend of AED

0.74 per ordinary shares amounting to AED B.080 million (31 Dec 2019: AED 0.74 per ordinary share amounting to
AED B.080 million).

Statutory and special reserves
In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and the requirements of the Union Law No, {10] of 1980, a minimum af
10% of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statutory and special reserve until each of these reserves equal to
505 of the paid-up share capital. The Statutory and special reserve are not available for distribution to the shareholders. Mo
transfers were made during the year because statutory and special reserve are equal to 500 of the paid-up share capatal.
Dividends
The follewing dividends were paid by the Greup during the vear ended 31 December:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED' 000 AED'O00

Dividend on ordinary shares paid during the year 7,688,098 7,891,730

Other reserves

Othaer reserves include the following:

Foreign
CUrTERcY IFRS 9 IFRS 9

Genaral translation Rowaluatis oS = FOSarve =
resenve rESErve  On Feserve specific  coll Tatal
AED'DOO AED' D00 AED"DOO AE AED DD

Asatl Jan 2021 1,168 389 228 265 {377 851} - 1,220,996 642,622  1EE7 A1

Cteer comprehensiae inoome

for the year 204,548 . [157,172) . . . 47 376
IFRS 8 reserve recrsemient = a = - 973 645,137 636,110
Realised gain on sale of FUVGC

Imvestment (6,722) - - - - - (6,722}
As at 31 Dec 2021 1,366,215 228,265 (535,023} - 1,221,969 1,287,759 3,569,185

— —_— — — —
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
21 Capital and reserves [continued)
Other reserves (cantinued)
Foreign
CUrnEnoy IFR5 9 IFRS O
Fair value Genera translaticn Revaluati- PESEMME = CEREIYE =
resere PR P O e specific colleclive Total
AEDT00G AEDTIOD AED'D AEDTD0O AEL 000 AECAO00 AEDODD
As at 1 Jan 2020 1,361.293 218 265 {354, 657 280,601 315,908 642622 2,474,032
Other comprehensnee noome
for the year {185,27) 123,194) {208,464)
Trarsler during the year (280.501] {280,601)
IFRS 9 rerszrvi rmcwement 905,088 905,085
Realised gain o sale of FYOCI
irvestment [7.634) (7.634]
As at 31 Dec 2020 1,168,389 228,265 {377.851) = 1.220,9% 642,622 2.882.421

{i} Fair value reserve

The fair valug reserve incledes the cumulative net change i the fair value of non-trading investrments, until the investment i5
derecognised or impaired, and cash flow hedge reserve.

Revaluation Hedging
e - reserve -

Instruments at cash flow
Cl dge

As atl Jan 2021 1,168,324 65 1,168,389
Met fair value changes 1,145,697 ([108410] 1,037,287
Met cumulative realised gains recognised in the

cansolidated statement of profit or loss during the year {815,332) - [815,332]
Impact of ECL {24,129) = [24,129)
As at 31 Dec 2021 1,474,560 (10£345] 1,366,215
Asatl Jan 2020 1,376,357  (15064) 1,361,093
Met fair value changes 473,457 15,129 488 586
Met cumulative realised gains recognised in the

consalidated statement af profit or loss during the year (653, 246) «  [653,2486)
Impact of ECL [2&,244) - [28,244)
As at 31 Dec 2020 1,168,324 65 1,168,389

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments related to hedped transactions. During the year, thera has been no significant transfer from cash flow hedge reserve
to profit or loss,
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Fir Al Dhabsl Bank

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

21 Capital and reserves [continued)

Other reserves (cantinued)

{ii} General reserve
The peneral resarve is available for distribution to the shareholders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors,

(iii}  Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation resense represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net investment in
fareign aperations. During the year, there has been no significant transfer fram foreign currency translation reserve to profit or
loss,

(iw)  IFRS 9 reserve

In accordance with CBUAE circular, during any periad if provision under CBUAE guidance exceed provision cakulated under IFRS
4, such exoess is required to be apportioned from retained earnings to IFRS 9 reserve and this resende shall not be adjusted for

future excess provisian, The detalls of the same as below:
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'00DO AED' OO0

Impairment resenve — Specific as at the year end

Specific provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 9,372,000 8,206,198
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9 (8,620,212) 16,985,202)
Specific pravision transferred to the impairment reserve 751,788 1,220,936
Balance carried forward from prior year - .
Closing balance 1,221,968 1,220,556

31 Dac 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED D00 AED'0O0

Impalrment reserve — Collective as at the year end

Collective provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 7,159,746 6,617,775
Less: Stape 1 and Stape 2 provisions under IFRS 9 |5,871,987) {6,616,462)
Callective pravision transferred to the impalrment reserve 1,287,759 s
Balance carried forward from prior vear s 642,622
Closing balance 1,287,759 642,622

— —

22 Tier 1 capital notes

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AEDYDDO AED'DO0

Government of Abu Dhabi Notes AED 8,000,000 8,000,000
|6 month EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annum}

USD 750 million Motes usD 2,754,750 2,754,750

[4.50 percent fixed rate per annum, thereafter reset on the First
Date and every sicth anniversary thereafter on the basis of the
apgregate of the Margin and the Relevant Six-Year reset on
the relevant U.5. Securities Determination Date)

10,754,750 10,754,750
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

22 Tier 1 capital notes {continued)

Tier 1 capital notes ane perpetual, subordinated, unsecurad and carry coupans to be paid semi-annually in arrears, The Bank may
elect not to pay a coupon at Its own discretion. The note holder does not have a right to claim the coupon and an election by the
Bank not to service coupon is not considered an event of default. In addition, there are certain circumstances under which the
Bank is prohibited from making a coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date.

If the Bank makes a non-payment election or a non-payment event occurs, then the Bank will not [a) declare or pay any
distribution or dividend or (b) redesm, purchase, cancel, reduce or athenwise acquire any of the share capital or any securities of
the Group ranking part passu with or junkor to the Nabes except securithes, the term of which stipulate a mandatory redemption
ar converskon into equity, in each case unless or until two consecutive coupon payments have been paid in full

During the priar year, the Bank has repaid off AED 2,754, 750 thawsand {(USD 750 millian) of tier 1 notes and subsequently, in the
month of October 2020, the Bank has issued new tier 1 capital notes amounting to AED 2,754,750 thousand (USD 750 million),
During the year, tier 1 notes coupon payment election was made by the Bank in the amount of AED 356,204 thousand
{31 Dec 2020: AED 426,253 thousand).

23 Share based payment

The Group had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (the “Scheme” ) for selected employees which would vest over
three years and can be exercised within the next three years after the vesting period. The key vesting condition is that the option
halder ks in continued employment with the Group until the end of the vesting period, The options lapse six years after their date
of grant irrespective of whether they are exercised or not.

The Group established a subsidiary to issue shares when the vested option is exercised by the employes, These shares are treated
as treasury shares until exercised by the optian halders,

During the year, 2,550 thousand shares (31 Dec 2020: 9,884 thouwsand) had been awarded, therefore reallocated from treasury
shares held to share capital by AED 2,550 thousand {31 Dec 2020: AED 9,884 thowsand} and share premium has been adjusted
by AED 18,997 thousand {31 Dec 2020; AED 104,123 thousand) accordingly relating to this,

24 Interest income
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DO0 AED0OD
Interest from:
Central banks 512,261 425,554
Banks and financial institutions 1,472,703 1,455,822
Reverse repurchase agreements 354,637 454,407
Investments at falr value through profit or loss 243,751 168,416
Mon-trading investments 3,187 850 2,665 833
Leans, advances and Islamic financing 10,469,366 12,788,385
16,240,568 17,958,417
25 Interest expense
oo
AED"000 AEDT OO0
Interest to:
Banks and financial institutions 1,459.460 1,305,392
Repurchase agreaments 225,801 443,837
Cammercial paper 70,294 176,129
Customer accounts and other deposits 2,295403 3,204,427
Term borrowings 1,489,083 1,434,902
Subordinated notes 21,175 210,987
5,561,216 6,585,674
-3 3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

26 Income from Islamic financing and investing products
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DDD AED'OOD
Murabaha 5BE,552 [
ljara 420,157 451,221
Sukuk Investrments 711,741 781,150
Cthers 124,729 242,130

1,843,179 2,143,026

27 Distribution on Islamic customers' deposits

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'000 AED'DOO

Wakala Deposits 397,557 680,935
Mudaraba Saving and term de posits 49,900 28,297
Islarmic Sukuk Notes 409,979 520,832
Others 6,963 29,2217

864,399 1,259,291

The Group maintains an investment sk reserve which represents a portion of the depositars’ share of prafits set aside as a
reserve for AED 5,124 thousand (2020: AED 3,537 thousand).

28 Net fee and commission income

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DOO AEDY OO0

Fee and commission income

Trade finance 879,286 875,266
Collection services 19,885 12,856
Brokerage income 45,540 40,903
Astat management and investment services 75,063 57,838
Investments, derivatives and risk participation 2,555 1,875
Retail and corparate lending 1,704 228 1,511,005
Cards and eservices 1,731,185 1,495,029
Accounts related services 46,285 38,360
Cammissian on transfers 107,810 93,587
Others 278,532 123,694
Total fee and commission income 4,894 369 4,354,473

EE——— —

Fee and commission expense

Brokerage commission 51,310 51,850
Credit card charges 1,451,005 1,068,938
Retail and corparate lending 320,176 279,731
Others 37,330 41,8564
Total fee and commission expense 1,859,821 1,442,393
Met fee and commission income 3,034 548 2,912 080

e R
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
29 Met foreign exchange gain
31 Dec 2020
AED'000 AED'000

Trading and retranslation (loss) / gain on

foreign exchange and related dervativest? [72,144) 592,846
Dealings with customers 764,483 647,508

92,339 1,240,355

‘Due to effective hedging stratepies, the offsetting impact of hedging instruments & reflected in the net galns from sale of non-
trading investments {rote 30}
‘Includes negative interast income of AED 473 million {31 Dec 20200 AED 420 million} arising from placement with ECB.

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED 00D AED'0O0

30 Met gain on investments and derivatives

Met realised and unrealised gain on investments at fair value

through profit or loss and derivatives 5,639,133 291,447
Met gain from sale of non-trading investments 815,332 653,246
Dividend income 30,321 65,334

6484 786 951,027

31 Other Operating Income

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DOO AED' OO0

Investment property (loss) / income {743,360) 208,937
Leasing related income 111,773 110,853
Gain an sale of property and equipment 501,268 FEFAETSY
Other (koss) / gain’ {58,231) 156,750
{188,550) 1,213,971

-] |

! During the prior year, the Bank disposed of its legacy license held by First Gulf Bank which had earlier been held at zero value,
The sale was finalized in December 2020 and a gain of AED 200 million s included within Other Income relating to this.

G2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

a2 General, administration and other operating expenses

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2000
AED'DO0 AED 00D

Staff costs 3,004,906 2,783,567
Other peneral and administration expenses 1,836,611 1,438,797
Depreciation {rote 11) 735,705 567,361
Amortisation of intangibles [note 12) 198,859 201,223
Sponsorships and denations 60,393 69,317

5,836,474 5,060,265

e
a3 Net impairment charge
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DOO AED'D00
Impairment charge on

loans, advances and Islamic financing 2,595358 2,629,156
ather financial assets 4,852 26,787
unfunded exposure 94,172 107,087
other non-financial mstruments - 1,071
Recowveries {280,716) {241,735)
Write-off of impaired financial assets 244,571 97,574
2,658,237 1,619,840

34 Income tax expense

In addition to adjustments relating to deferred taxation, the charge far the year is calculated based upon the adjusted net profit
far the year at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations.,

The charge to the consobdated statement of prafit or boss for the vear was as follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED 000 AED'DOD

Charge for the year 644,272 341,198

Reconciliation of Group's tax on profit based on accounting and profit as per the tax laws is as follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED'DOD AED'0O0D
Profit befare taxation 13,186,544 10,893,706
Effect of higher tax rates in Overseas jurisdictions 520,220 285,240
Tax effects of:
- Income nat subject to tax 3,240 -
- Expenses not deductible for tax purpose [4,978) (11,049)
- Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax 9,073 18,082
- Prior year adjustments = Corporation Tax 3,815 9,229
- Prior year adjustments = Deferred Tax 4,889 1,433
- Withholding tax deducted at source 84,007 25126
= Mandatony ramittance tax 24,000 13,137
644,372 341,198
k|
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

35 Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED'DDO AED'DOD
Cash and balances with Central Banks 158,934,979 228,009,148
Due from banks and financial institutions 19,383,306 27,430,732

278,318,285 155,439,940

Less: Balances with Central Banks maturing after three months of placement (5,384,239) (16,103,734
Less: Due from banks and financial institutions maturing after three months
of placement (119,926) (14&,969)

272,814,120 238,189,237

L

36 Leases
The Group leases a aumber of Branch and office pramises. The leases typically run for a period of 10 years, with an optian 1o
renew the lease after that date. For some leases, payments are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals. Some

leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices,

The Group also leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years, These leases are short-term and/or leases of low-
value items. The Group has elected not to recopnise right-of-use assets and lease liabilivies for these leases,

Infarmation about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented balow @
Leases as lessee
Right-of-use assets

The movement during the yesr of right-af-use 5 a5 follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED 000 AED ‘D00

Balance as at the beginning of year 240,571 217,181
Met inerease during the year 59,117 67,883
Depreciation and other adjustments {70,003) (44,493]
Balance as at the end of year 219,685 240,571
—_—
Lease liabilities

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2000
AED 000 AED ‘000

Maturity analysis = contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year 140,591 105,644

One to five years 337,843 09,977

More than five years 13,8248 26,513

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at the end of year 492,262 441,634
G4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

36 Leases [continued)]

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED ‘D00 AED D00

Interest an lease labilities 17,057 11,238
Depreciation charge for the year 86,566 71,525
Expenses relating to short-term leases and low-value assets 58,441 44,942

162,064 127,705

a7 Commitments and contingencies

The Group, in the ordinary course of busingss, enters into vanous types of transactions that mvohlee undertaking certain
commitments such as letters of credit, guarantees and undrawn laan commitments.

There were no other significant changes in contingent liabilities and commitments during the year other than those arising out

of normal course of business,
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'000 AED'000

Latter of credit 63,589,462 61,406,468
Letbers of guarantees 101,353,201 105,216,467
Financial guarantees 293,459 129,940

Trade contingencies 165,236,122 166,752,676

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DO00 AEDDOD

Undrawn commitment to extend credit 51407472 74,582 341
Commitments for future capital expenditure 945,604 819,657
Commitments for future private equity investmants 1,291,544 536,571

53,645,620 75,938,579

Total commitments and contingencies 218,881,742 242,691,455

Credit risk characteristics of these wunfunded Ffacilities closely resemble the funded facilities as described
in note 45[a} are neither past due nor impaired.

Lettars of credit and guarantee (“Trade contingencies”) commit the Group to make payments on bebalf of customers’ contingent
upan the production of documents or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.

Commitments ta extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend loans, advances and Islamic financing and revolving
credits. Commitments generally have fixed axpiration dates or other termination dauses and may require a payment of a fee.
Sinoe commitrments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contracted amounts do nat necessarily represent future
cash reguirements,

Financial guarantee contracts includes credit default agreements entered with banks and financial institutions amounting to nil
(21 Dec 2020: AED 74 million} which are primarily denominated in US Dollars,

Financial guara ntee contracts mainly pertain to the banks and financial institutions.
65
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Firsa A Dhabsl Bank
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
37 Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Concentratian by location:

Undrawn loan commitments

Trade contingencies

11 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED 000 AED 000 AED' 000 AED'OO0

UAE 31,127,167 59,937,746 107319071 114,852,715
Europe 6,701,190 6,120,020 17,579,937 19,713,720
Arab countries 8,540,025 3,325 351 11,103,438 4,330,286
Americas 2,354,620 2533674 10,405,696 11,803 669
Asia 1,277,170 1,455,844 17,102,422 9,778,194
Cthers 367,300 1,209,906 1,715,558 1,274,282

51,407,472 74,582,341 165,236,122 166,752 376

Concentration by location i based on the residential status of the customers,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

38 Derivative financial instruments

Invthe ardinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that invabve derivative financial instruments.
Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as equities, bonds, interest
rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce ar
alter exposure to credit or market risks. Derivative financial instruments include forwards, futures, swaps and options. Thase
transactions are primarily entered with banks and financial institutions.

Forwards and futures

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase forelgn andfor domestic currencies, including non-defiverable spat
transactions (l.e, the transaction ks net settled). Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate futures that
call for a cash settlement at a future date for the difference betwean a contracted rate of interest and the current market rate,
based on a notional principal amount. Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual obligations to receive or pay a
net amaunt based on changes in currency rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign currency or a financial instrument on a
future date at a specified price, established in an organised financial market. The credit risk for futures contracts is negligible, as
they are collateralised by cash or marketable securities, and changes in the futures’ contract value are settled daily with the
exchange.

Swaps

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic
exchange of currencies or interest rates {for example, fixed rate for fleating rate) or a combination of all these [i.e., cross-currency
interest rate swaps), No exchange of principal takes place, except far certain cross currency swaps. The Group's cradit risk
represents the potential loss if counterparties fall to fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored aon an ongoing basks with
reference bo the current fair value, notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit
risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activitias,

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser [holder) the right, but not the obligation,
elther to buy (a call aption) or sall [a put option) at or by a set date or during a set perod, a specific amount of a financial
instrument at a predetermined price, The seller receives a premium fram the purchaser in consideration far the assumption of
risk. Options may be either exchange-traded or negotiated between the Group and a customer over the counter (OTCL

Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price quatations in an active market. Where there is no active
market far an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components USing appropriate pricing or valuation
models like counterparty prices or valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows, market prices, yvield curves and other
reference market data.

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to their fair
values, together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s

underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional
amounts mdicate the volume of transactions autstanding at vear end and are neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk.
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First Abey Dl Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

ig Derivative financial instruments [continued)

The positive [ negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respectively, arising on fair valuation of the trading
and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or future losses, as a similar positive [ negative amount has
been adjusted to the carrying value of the hedped loans, advances and Islamic financing, non-trading investments, term borrowings
and suberdinated notes.

As at December 31, 2021, the Group received cash collateral of AED 6,482 million {31 Dec 2020: AED 6,472 million) against positive
fair value of derivative assets from certain counterparties. Correspondingly, the Group placed cash collateral of AED 13,802 million
(31 Dec 2020: AED 7,800 million) against the negative fair value of derivative liabilities,

Derivative related credit risk

This is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. These transacthons are primarily enterad
with banks and financial institutions,

Derivatives held for trading

The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its exposure to foreign currency, interest
rate and credit risks or initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movement in prices, rates or indices. The
Instruments used malnly include Interest rate and currency swaps and forward contracts, The falr values of those derivatives are
shown in the table above.

Derivatives held as fair value hedge

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability management strategy by taking
offsetting positions in order to reduce its own expasure to fluctuations in exchange and interest rates. The Group uses interest rate
swaps to hedpe against the changes in fair value ansing fram specifically identified interest bearing assets such as loans, advances
and lslamic financing, non-trading investments, term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group uses farward foreign exchange
contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specificalty identified currency risks.

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge

The Group uses forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instruments. The Group has substantially
matched the eritical terms of the derivatives o have an effective hedge relationship

Impact of IBOR reform
Uncertalnty arising from IBOR reform

The Group has concluded that as at 31 December 2021 its fair value and cash flow hedging relationships were no longer subject to
uncertainty driven by IBOR refarm.

Accardingly, the Group:

- ceased to apply the assumptions that the hedped benchmark interest rate, the cash flows of the hedged item and/for
hedging instrument are not altered as a result of IBOR reform when the uncertainty arising from |BOR reform was no longer
presant.

- amended the fermal hedge documentation of these hedging relationship to reflect the changes required by IBOR reform
by the end of the reporting period during which the changes occurred and amended the description of the hadging
instrument in the formal hedge documentation when a fallback provision inserted in a hedging instrument was triggered.
These changes in the

- formal hedge documentation did not cause a discontinuation of the hedging relationship.

- remeasured the cumulative changes in the hedged cash flows and the hedging instrument based on new alternative
benchmark rates = i.e. SOFR aor SONIA = when the uncertainty arising from IBOR reform was removed. For the purpose of
remeasuring the cumulative changes in the hedged cash flows, the Group amended the terms of the hypothetical derivative
to reflect the changes required by IBOR reform in the hedged item.

To
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

39 Segmental information

The aperating structure consists of four key Business segments across Geographic segrments that are driving the business strategy,
customer value propositions, products and channel development and customer relationships in addition to supporting the delivery
of the Group's financial perfarmance.

During the year, the Group has reorganized its business model so that Corporate & Investment Banking and Personal Banking groups
have been re-segmented into four distinct business lines: Invastment Banking, Corporate & Commercial Banking, Consumer Banking
and Private Banking. This will reposition the Group's businesses to be more custamer centric and enable specialist product and service
propositions alipned ta the respective customer bates the Group services to drive competitive advantape and enhance revenue
Eeneration capabilities.

Business segments

Imvestment Banking {“IB™)

IB affers banking and financing sclutions, including corporate & Islamic finance, capital markets, transaction banking, trade, liguidity
and cash management services along with a broad range of risk management solutions across credit, rates, FX and money market
products. Focused on Institutional clients, IB team enhances product delivery and specialization across varlous customer sectors
which includes Government, Sovereign & Public Sector, Sovereign Wealth Fund & Financial Sponsors, Natural Resources, Global
Diversified Industrials, Financial Institutions Group & Global Subsidiaries.

Corporate & Commercial (“CCB")
CCB focuses on large corporates, medium and small entities with diversified products offering acrass sub segments which includes
Corporate Banking, Contracting, Commercial Banking and Privileged Client Group.

Consumer Banking {"CB")

The business targets consumer & elite segment across conventional and Islamic sector. The products’ ranges offered include everyday
banking products such as current accounts, deposits, credit cards, loans, wealth products etc. The business furnishes variety of
distribution and sales channels, including mobile and internet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its banking
subsidiaries namely and First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance.

Global Private Banking {“GPE"}

The business targets affluent and high net-worth customers across conventional and Islamic sector, The products’ ranges offered
include everyday banking products plus sophisticated investment solutions, brokerage and securities services. The business furnishes
variety of distribution and sales channels, including mobile and internet banking, branches, relationship managers and through its
banking subsidiaries including mainly FAB Securities.

Head office

The Group provides centralized human resources, information technology, operations, finance, strategy, investor relations, risk
management, credit management, corporate communications, legal & compliance, internal audit, procurement, treasury operations
and administrative suppart ta all of its business units,

HO also includes a diversified business model supported by complementary offerings provided across real estate, property
rmanagement services through subsidiaries partially or fully owned by the Group, namely FAB Properties, Abu Dhabd Matienal
Properties and Mismak.

Geographic segments

The Group s managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and representative affices within
the two defined geographic segments which are UAE and International.

71
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

40 Earnings per share

Earnings per share i calculated by dividing the net profit for the year after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes payment by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as set out below:

N 31 Dec 2000

Basic earnings per share:

Wet profit for the year (AED'000) 12,531,111 10,555,229
Less: payment on Tier 1 capital notes (AED'D00) {356,204) [428,253)
Net profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes |AED'C00) 12,174,907 10,128,976

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Mumber of shares issued f deemed to be outstanding

fram the beginning of the year {000 10,911,020 10,901,136
Weighted average nurmber of shares exercised
under the share options scheme (000} 1,256 4,554
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 000} 10,912,276 10,905,690
Basic earnings per share (AED) 1.12 093
] ——
Diluted earnings per share:
Net profit for the year for calculating diluted earnings per share (AED'000) 12,174,907 10,128,976
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ["000) 10,912,276 10,905,690
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under share optlons scheme (000} 650 1,172

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for

diluted earnings per share {'000) 10,912,926 10,906,862
—_—— —_—
Diluted sarnings per share (AED) 1.12 093
—— _—

74
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First Ab) Dhabw Bank

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

a1

42

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the
other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise major shareholder, directors and key
managemaeant persannel of the Group. Key management personnel comprise those executive committee members "EXCO” of tha
Group who are invalved in the strategic planning and decision making of the Group, The terms of these transactions are approved
by the Group's management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors or management.

FAB operates im a market dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the Government of Abu Dhabi through its
povernment authorities, agencies, affiliations and other arganizations, collectively referred to as government-related entities. FAB
has transactions with other government-related entities and these transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of FAB's
business on terms agreed by the Board.

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Major Senbor

shareholders management Tatal Total
AED'D0D AEDOOD AED' 00O AED 000

Balances with related parties at the reporting date are shown balow:

Financial assats 9,857,273 24,386,743 38,626 34,282,642 40,441,781
] 3 1 F |

Financial liabilities 24,648,459 33,087,174 43,932 57,779,565 4,709,360

Continpgent llabilithes 5,040,271 16,662,275 - 21,702,546 17,020,801

Transactions carried out during the year ended with related parties are shown below;

31 Dec 2020

Interest & Other income 138,670 654,576 335 793,581 1,322,791
_— —

Interest expense 285,031 0474 429 315934 562,296
_——

The details of the key management personnel remuneration is as below:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DDD AEDODD

Salaries and other benefits 53,589 53,026

Mo ECL has been charged during the year on the related party balances.
Fiduciary activities

The Group held assets under management in trust or in a fiduciary capacity for its customers at 31 Dec 2021 amounting to
AED 8,953 million {31 Dec 2020: AED 6,786 million), Furthermaore, the Group provides custodian services for some of its customers.

The underlying assets held in a custodial or fiduciary capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

75
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43 Special Purpose Entity

The Group has created a Special Purpose Entity (SPE) with defined objectives to carry on fund management and investment
activities on behalf of customers. The equity and investments managed by the SPE are not centrelled by the Group and the Group
does not obtain banefits from the SPE operations, apart from commissions and fes income. In addition, the Group does not provide
Ay guarantees or assume any labilities of these entities. Consequently, the SPE assets, labilties and results of operations ane not
included in these consolidated financial statements of the Group. The SPE is as fellows:

Country of Holding
Legal name Activities incarporation 2021
One share PLC Inviestment Company Republic of Ireland 10056

44 Use of estimates and judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, IFRS require the management to select suitable accounting paolicies,
apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and would result in relevant and
reliable infarmation, The management, based on guidance in IFRS and the 1458’ Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Staterments has made these estimates and judgements. Listed below are those estimates and judgement which could
hawe the maost significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
{a) Goingconcern

The Group's management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the
Group has the resaurces tocantinue in business for the foreseeable future, Furthermare, manage ment is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant deubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a gaing cancern. Therefore, the consalidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

{b) Impairment charge on financial assets

Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 3(chiviil

The measurement of impairment losses bath under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the
assessment of 4 significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result
In different levels of allowances.

The Bank's ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the chaoice af
variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates
Inelude:

The Group's internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades

*  The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financlal
assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the gualitative assessment

&  The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL ks assessed on a collective basis

*  Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the chaice of inputs

=  Determination of assodations bebween macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as unemployment levels
and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs

«  Selection of forward-looking macroeconamic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs
into the ECL models

It is the Graup’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
44 Use of estimates and judgements [continued)
Ky sources of estimation uncertainty [continued)
{c) Impairment charge on property and equipment
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting palicy note 3(c)ivii).

In determining the net realisable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer companies,
having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and categary of property being
valued. The selling prices are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on
the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing saller in an arm’s length transaction.

{d] Contingent llability arising from litigations

Due to the nature of its operations, the Greup may be invalved in litigations arising in the ordinary course of business. Provision
for contingent liabilities arising from litigations is based on the probability of cutflow of economic resources and reliability of
estimating such outflow. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and the cutcome of individual matters is not predictable
with assurance.

{e} Share option scheme

The fair value of the share option scheme is determined using the Black-Schodes model. The modelinputs comprise of share price,
exercise price, share price volatility, contractual life of the aption, dividand yield and risk-free interest rate,

(f)  valwation of financial instruments

The valuation technigues of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by the management.
These are discussed In detall in note 46.

Further, as a result of IBOR Refarm, when financial instruments transition to RFRs, any change to the referenced interest rate
affects the cash flows of the financial instrument and therefore its fair value. The transition may also result in a change to the
interast rate used for the purpose of discounting the cash flaws, which also affects the financial instrument’s fair value. Therafore,
for measuring fair values of financial instruments using net present value and discounted cash flow models, the Group applies
judpement to select the discount rate which is mast appropriate for the financial instrument as IBOR reform affects the different
possible interest rate benchmarks that could be selected.

(g} Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis
using a number of assumptions. The asumptions used in determining the net cost {income) for abligations include the discount
rate. Any changes in these assumptions would impact the carrying amount of the defined beneafit obligation.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to
determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future obligations. In
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high guality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity approximating the terms of
related benefit abligation.

Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional information on
these assumptions is disclosed in note 20.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
44 Use of estimates and judgements
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies include:
{h})  Financial asset and liability classification

The Groug's accounting policies provide scope for financial assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into different
accounting categories in certain circumstances. The classification criteria ks mentioned in palicy 3(c) (ii).

(i) Qualifying hedge relationships

In designating financlal instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the hedge to be
highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship,

(i) Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The Group's determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is discussed in note 46.
(k)  Structured entities

For all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to vote by simple majority to remove the Group as fund manager, and
the Group’s aggregate economic interest in each fund is not material, As a result, the Group has concluded that it acts as an agent
for the investors In these funds, and therefore has nat consalidated these funds.

(Il  Operating segments

In preparation of the segment infarmation disclosure, management has made cartain assumptions to arrive at the segment
reporting. These assumptions would be reassessed by the management on a periodic basis. Operating segments are detailed in
note 39,

(m} Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method

The Group's EIR method, as explained in Note 3 [t), recognises interest income using a rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments ar receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the grass carrying amount of the
financial asset; or the amaortised cost of the financial liability along with recognising the impact of transaction costs and fees and
points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. This estimation, by nature, reguires an element of
judgement regarding the expected behaviour and life-cyele of the instruments, as wall expectad changes to the base rate and
other fee incomefexpense that are integral parts of the instrument.

During the year, the Group has adopted 1B0R reform Phase 2, which requires as a practical expedient for changes ta the basis for
derermining contractual cash flows that are necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR refarm, to be treated as a change to a
floating rate of interest provided the transition from IBOR to RFR takes place on a basis that i economically equivalent. Far
changes that are not required by IBOR reform, the Group applies judgment to determine whether they result in the financial
instrument being derecognised or adjust it carrying value as described below in 44 (n). Therefore, as financial instruments
transition from IBOR ta RFRs, the Group applies judgment to assess whether the transition has taken place on an economically
equivalent basis. In making this assessmant, the Group considers the extent of any changes to the contractual cash flows as a
result of the transition and the factors that have given rise to the changes, with consideration of both quantitative and qualitative
factors.
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44 Use of estimates and judgements [continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty {continued)
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies include (continued):
(n}  Derecognition of financial instruments

As explained in Naote 3(c) {iv), the Group derecognises financial assets and financial liabilities if there has been a substantial
madification of their terms and conditions. In the context of IBOR reform, many financial instruments have already been amended
during 2021 as they transition from IBORs to RFRS, In addition to the interest rate of a financial instrument changing, there may
be other changes made to the terms of the financial instrument at the time of transition. For financial instruments measured at
amaortized cost and FVOCI, the Group first applies the practical expedient as described in Note 44 (m) abave, to reflect the change
inthe referenced interest rate from an IBOR to an RFR. Second, for any changes not covered by the practical expedient, the Group
applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and if they are, the financial instrument is derecognised and a
new financial instrument is recognised. If the changes are not substantial, the Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the
financial instrument by the present value of the changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted wsing the revised EIR,

(o) Hedge accounting

The Group has designated hedge relationships as both fair value and cash flow hedges. The Group's hedged items and hedging
instruments (that have not transitioned) continue to be indexed to IBOR benchmark rates, which are mainly GBP Sterling and US
Dollar LIBOR. Theses IBOR benchmark rates are quoted each day and IBOR cash flows are exchanged with its counterparties as
usual. The Group's cash flow hedping relationships of sterling LIBOR and US dallar LIBOR risks extend beyond the anticipated
cessation dates for both LIBORs, The Group expects that sterling LIBOR and US dollar LIBOR will be replaced by SONIA and SOFR,
respectively, but there is uncertainty over the transition of and timing of transitioning the Group's hedged items and hedging
instruments and over the amaunt of replacemant rate cash flows. Such uncertainty may Impact the hedging relationship — e.g. its
affectiveness assessment and highly probable assessment.

During the year, the Group has adopted IBOR reform Phase 2, which provides temporary reliefs to enable the Group's hedge
accounting to continue upon the replacement of an IBOR with an RFR. Under one of the reliefs, the Group may elect for individual
RFRs desipnated as hedging the fair value or cash flows of the hedped item for changes due to a nan-contractually specified
companent of interest rate risk, to be deemed as meeting the IFRS 9 requirement to be separately identifiable, For each RFR to
which the relief has been applied, the Group judges that both the volume and market liquidity of financial instruments, that
reference the RFR and are priced using the RFR, are already sufficient and will increasa during the 24- month period with the result
that, the hedged RFR risk component is separately identifiable in the change in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.
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45 Financial risk management

Introduction and overview
Risk management framewaork

The primary objective of the Group is to manage risk and provide risk adjusted returns to the shareholders in line with the acceptad
risk prafila. In the course of doing its regular business activities, the Group gets exposed to multiple risks notably credit risk, market
risk, liquidety and funding risk, interest rate risk, operational risk and other risks like compliance risk, strategic risk, reputation risk,

envirenment social governance (ESG) risk, information security risk and business continuity, A well-established risk governance
and ownership structure ensures oversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the Group. The Risk
ranagement tone is set right at the top from the Board of Directors (“BOD"} and gets implemented through a well-defined risk
ranagement structure and framewark,

Composition of Board

The Board of Directors [“BOD") i respansible for the overall direction, supervision and contral of the Group. The BOD has
debepated authority to specialist committees who support the Board in execution of its responsibilities. The day-to-day
rnanagement of the Group is conducted by the Group Chief Executive Officer ("GCEQ™) and the Group Executive Committes as
delegated by the Board. The BOD has everall responsibility for the Group including approving and overseeing the implementation
of its strategic objectives, risk strategy, corporate governance and corporate values within the agreed framework in accordance
with relevant statutory and regulatory structures. According to the Group Articles of Association, the BOD should comprise of
elevan members, currently it comprises ten members, a member will be considered for election in 2021 General Assembly. Each
Directer holds his position for three years, which may then be renewed for a further three year term. The Board of Directors of
the Bank's subsidiaries has the same fiduciary responsibilities towards their respective entities as the Group's Directors have
towards the Bank.

Corporate Governance Framework

The Greup has a comprehensive Corporate Governance Framewark that puts in place rules, processes and policies through which
BOD and Senlor Management manages the Group, The BOD drives the implementation of the corporate governance standards
and in accordance with its charter has oversight responsibllity for the Group's corporate governance framework, The Group's
corporate governance standards bind its signatories to the highest standards of professionalism and due diligence in the
performance of their duties. The Group Chief Risk Officer ["GCRO") is the custodian of the Corporate Governance Framework
document.

Risk Management Structure

The BOD approves risk management plans for the Bank, its subsidiaries, its assoclates and Internatlonal offices including
representative offices and overseas branches, Under authority delegated by the BOD, the Board Risk and Compliance Committee
["BRCC”) through its separately convened risk management meetings formulates high-level enterprise risk management policy,
exercises delegated risk authorities and oversess the implementation of risk management framework and contrals, The GORO
functionably reports to this Committee,

Board Level Committees within the Group

w v

Mana n mmi

The BMC approves and oversees execution of the FAB Group's busingss plan per the strategy approved by the Board and oversaes
and reviews material aspects of the business of the FAB Group. The Committes meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed
necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities are covered in the BMCE charter.

R n mmiplian i *

The BRCC prowvides oversight and advice to the Group Board in relation to current and potential future risk and compliance
exposures of the FAR Group. It alko considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including determination of risk appetite and
tolerance as well as promote a risk and compliance awareness culture amaong the Group. The Committes meets quarterly or mare
frequently as deemed necessary. The bank's risk management function has a direct reporting line to the BRCC through the Group
Chief Risk Officer. Compliance has a direct reporting line on compliance related matters through the Head of Compliance. The
compasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities are covered in the BRCC charter.
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45 Financial risk management {continued)

Risk management framework (continued)

Board Level Committees within the Group (continued)

Bosrd Audit Committea ["BACT]

BAC ensures aversight of the effectiveness of the internal control systems and the quality and integrity of financlal staternents and
financial reporting. In addition, it reviews, approves and oversees the internal and external audit programs and ensures
coordination between internal and external auditors. The Group Chief Audit Officer (“GCADY) provides reports to the Committea
on internal contrals and the Head of Compliance reparts direct to the BAC on compliance related matters such as whistlablowing,

The Committes meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed robes
and responsibilities are covered in the BAC charter.

Remuneration and Nomination Committes ["REMCO")

The REMCO recommends and oversees the appointment and termination of Group Board Directors and successian planning for
the Group Executive Committes members, This incledes an assessment of the skills, knowledge and expertise needed ta ensure
they are positioned to discharge their responsibilities in the interests of the shareholders and FAB Group. The Committee alsa
reviews and recommends to the Board FAB's reward policy framewaork, approves and oversees reward design and ensures it is
appropriate and consEtent with the FAB Group's culture, values, business perfarmance and risk strategy, The Committes meets
at least twice a year of more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guidng principles and detailed roles and
responsibilities are covered in REMCO charter,

Management Level Committees within the Group

hManagement committees are responsible for implementing the Risk management framework. The major functions of the nine
management committees are listed below:

Group Executive Committee ["EXCO")

The Group Executive Cammittee | “Group EXCO™) is FAB Group's senior most management level committee and it operates under
a debegated authority from the FAB Board. It is responsible for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the
Group Board or Board Committees. The Group EXCO alse supports the Group CEO to determine and implement the Bank's strategy
a5 approved by the FAB Board.

The key responsibilities of the Committee include decisions on the Bank's strategy, annual budgets, capital management, risk
management and FAB's more material policies and procedures. The Group EXCO may delegate certain authorities and powers to
management committees and individuals, but the Group EXCO reserves the autharity to deal with strategy, annual budget and
structure; financial reporting and contrals; capital management; risk and internal control; contracts; corporate governance
matters; executive remuneration and human resources policies, and group policies generally and any other matters in its discretion
other than matters reserved to the Board. EXCO consists of the executive management team and Is chaired by the GCEQ. The
compasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and respansibilities of EXCO are coverad in the EXCO charter.

- s

Fi | [aalul}

GCC assists in the development and implementation of the Bank's credit, investment strategy and the related policies and
procedures, The aim of GCC is to have an owerall credit owersight of the Group and decide on credit policy and governance related
rnatters, The camposition, guiding principles and detailed rales and respensibilities of GCC are covered in the GCC Charter.

Group Risk Committes (“GRC")

GREC assists BROC and EXCO in overseeing the Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an
effective manner. The primary objective of GRC is to define, develap and periodically monitor the Group’s risk appetite alang with
its related methodalogy, parameters, targets and tolerances taking into account the Bank's strategy and business planning. GRC
reports relevant matters to the EXCO and BRCC as appropriate, advising and informing them on the Group's risk appetite and
framawork. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of GRC are covered in the GRC charter,

a1
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Introduction and everview [cantinued)

Risk management framework (continued |

Management Level Committees within the Graup feontinued)

row mplian i *'

Group Compliance Committes assists the BROC in fulfilling its objective of oversesing the Bank's regulatory responsibilities as well
a5 ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the applicable laws and regulations issued by various regulatary authorities across the
Group. The Committee also aversesas that the relevant palicies and procedures, incuding, but not limited to the Group Code of
Ethics are complied with across the Group, The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of Group
Compliance Committes are covered in the Group Compliance Committee charter.

Ascat Liability M Commi “GALCO")

The G-ALCO is the driving force and key decision maker behind the structure and guality of the balance sheet. it is directly
accountable to the BROC for ensuring that the risks within the Group's ssset and liabllity position are prudently managed, The
compaositian, guiding principles and detailled roles and respansibilities of G-ALCO are covered in the G-ALCO charter.

nan Resoyras Steering Committes ("HRSC')

HRSC assists the Group EXCO and the REMCO to implement strategic and operational HR initiatives to deliver the Group's long-
term shareholder value. The Committee will be the formal sponsor of all material HR initiatives across the Bank in line with the
Bank's Employes Value Proposition [“EVPY). The compaosition, puiding principles and detalled roles and responsibilities of HRSC are
coverad in the HRSC charter.

r T | & Fr. k Commi - F

GOEFRC assists the Group EXCO and the Board Risk and Comphance Commiittes (“BRCC”) in fulfilling the Bank"s Operatianal and
Fraud Risk Management. The key responsibllities of this committes are to define guidelines to identify and manage Operational &
Fraud risks in all new products, processes, and activities, defining scope, policy, objectives, assumptions, and rales / responsibilities
of the Growp's Operational & Fraud Risk Management Policies. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and
responsibilities of GO&FRC are covered in the GO&FRC charter.

roup Tech sk and Infarmation ri Jatanll “GT)

GTRISC assists the Group EXCO and the BRCC in fulfilling their objectives of overseeing, reviewing and taking decisions on
Technaology, Information Security, Data Privacy and Business Continuity Management (BCM) related risk management status and
health, mcluding its alignment to the risk appetite of the FAB Group. The compaosition, guiding principles and detailed robes and
responsibilities of GTRISC are covered in the GTRISC charter.

r ammittee ["G-

G-ESGL is the senior authority at management level for decision making on all ESG related matters af the Group, The primary
abjective of the G-ESGC is ta promote and oversee the ESG strategy, culture, and awareness across FAB Group, The composition,
puiding principles and detalled roles and responsibilities of G-E5GC are covered in the G-ESGC charter.

Group Risk Managemient

The Group has a centralized Risk Management functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management function comprises Enterprise
Risk, ESG Risk, Credit Risk, Operational Risk, Fraud Risk and Investgations, Market and Liquidity Risk Management LUnit,
Infarmation Security and Busingss Cantinuity Management unit and Corporate Governance function,
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45 Financial risk management {continued)

Risk management framework (continued )
Enterprise Rk Management Pollcy Framework

FAB"s Enterprise Risk Management Policy ["ERMP) framewaork aims to accomplish its core values and purpose of being a world
class arganization maximiting it nsk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk managemant
framework across FAR including local and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign representative offices, Core
objective of ERMP is to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the BOD that the risks threatening FAB's achievement of its
core purpose are being identified, measwred, monitared and contralled through an effective integrated risk management system.
The ERMF framewark consists of specific policy documents covering all material risks across FAB; which include ERM policy, Risk
Appetite Policy, Corporate and Investment Banking Credit Policy, Personal Banking Credit Policy, IFRS 9 Impairment Policy, ESG
Risk Policy and framework, Market and Liguidity Risk related policies, Operational Risk Management Policy, Fraud Risk Palicy,
Compliance Risk related policies, Information Security risk related podicles, BOM Policy, Internal Capital Adeguacy Assessment
Process [“ICAAPY) Paolicy, New Products Approval policy, Outsourcing Palicy, Model Risk Management Policy, Strategic Risk
Management Policy, Reputational Risk Manapement Palicy, Corporate Governance Framework etc. In addition to these risk
rmanagement policies, the Group has also put in place detalled operational pelicies, procedures and programs wherever needed,

FAB manages risks using three lines of defense comprising of business units and enabling functions, control units and Internal
Audit. Business units and enabling functions, as the first line of defense, identify and manage risk in their day-to-day activities by
ensuring that activities are within the Group’s risk appetite and are in compliance with all relevant internal policies and processes.
Group Credit, Group Risk and Legal and Group Compliance, as the second line of defense, establishes risk controls comprising of
pelicies and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge to the first line of defense. The Group Chief Risk
Officer (“GCRO™) has a direct reporting line ta the BRCC to ensure the independence of Group Risk from business. Internal audit,
a5 the third line of defense, provides assurance to management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk management practices
employed by the first twe lines of defense. The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting line to the Board Audit Committee,

{a) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer oF counterparty 1o a financial asset faik to meet its contractual obligations and cause the
Group to incur a financial kass. It arises principally fraom the Group's loans, advances and Islamic financing, due from banks and
financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt investments, derivative financial instruments and
certain other assets,

Management of credit risk

Credit risk identification and assessment at FAB Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising thres levels
of defense. The first level of defense lies with the business units and is responsible for maintaining a sound credit quality of Assets
in line with the appreved business strategy and credit risk appetite, The second level of defense is with the Group Credit Unit that
assesses the risk on a customer and facility level and ensures proper documentation of customer, facility and security documents
along with Group Risk management unit that assesses credit risk on a portfolio basis and maintains credit risk policies and credit
risk rating models up to date. Internal Audit acts as a third level of defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk
functions to check the compliance with policies and procedures of the Groug, The unit abbo reviews the policy documents on a
regular basis.

As a part of credic risk manitaring and control framework, regular risk monitoring at both individual and pertfolio levels s carrled
out along several parameters which include credit guality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several dimensions, financial
and operating perfarmance, account conduct, end wse of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants, adharance to financial and non-
financial covenants, recovery performance, rating system performance amang others.

The Group has set up a framework far credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk inan exposure, at facility level,
by & safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance. The types of Credit Risk
Mitigation (CRM) include netting agreements, collaterak, guarantees, credit derivatives and Stand by Letter of Credit (SBLC). The
Group ensures that all documentation used in collateralized transactions and for documenting on and off-balance sheet netting,
guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is binding on all parties and is legally enfosceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The
Group ako ensures that all the documents are reviewed by appropriate authority and have appropriate legal apinians to verify
and ensure its enforceabiliy,

294/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

FABT

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framework {continued )

(a)  Credit risk (continued)
COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss {ECL)

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization ["WHO") efficially declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. In light of the rapid
spread of COVID-19 across the globe, variows economies and sectors have faced significant disruptions and uncertainty and
governments and authorities hawve instigated a host of measures to contain or delay the spread of the virus.

On 27 March 2020, the IASE issued a guidance note, advising that both the assessment of Significant Increase in Credit risk [ “SICR”)
a5 explained below in note 45 |a) and the measurament of Expected Cradit Losses ["ECLs") are required to be based on reasonable
amd supportable infarmation that is available to an entity without undue cost or effort. In assessing forecast conditians,
consideration should be given both to the effects of COVID-19 and the significant povernment support measures being undertaken.
It is difficult at this time to incorporate the specific effects of COVID-19 and government support measures on a reasonable and
supportable basis.

In line with other global regulators, the Central Bank of the UAE, under the Targeted Economic Support Scheme [“TESS"), had
facilitated the provision of temporary relief from the payments or deferral of principal and/er interest / profit on outstanding loans
for all affected private sector corporates, SMEs and individuals with specific conditions. Additionally, the program seeks to
facilitate additional lending and liguidity capacity of banks, through the relief of existing capital and liguidity buffers, which have
been further elaborated an in the sections below.

A key element in determining the ECL is the assessment of whether a SICR has occurred er not, and hence whether a lifetime
Probability of Default (PD) or a 12-manth PD is applied. UAE governmant’s suppart measures induding the Central Bank's TESS
program, have been considered for SICR assessment which indude both quantitative and qualitative criteria and are subject to
rmanagement judgment due to the rapidiy-changing dynamics of COVID-19.The Group continues to closely monitor the impact of
COVID-19 on the Bank's portfolio.

CBUAE has recently phased out the deferrals under TESS by end of 31 December 2021, however, it has extended the relief granted
undar TESS for capital, lquidity and stable funding requirements, to all banks aperating in the UAE, from 31 December 2021 to 30
Jumie 2022, FAB, however on selective basls continues to support clients through deferrale in line with the relief measures
announced earlier.

In addition to the management of credit risk described abowe, the Group has undertaken preemptive measures in respense to the
COVID-19 outbreak, These include significantly reduced underwriting to companies in affected sectars, payment holidays on a
case by case basis in the Private sector and SME segment, in line with CBUAE rellef program and depending on their underlying
credit assessment.

Currantky, there are no deferral relief considered under TESS programme as of Dec 2021, however, CBUAE has extendad the relief
granted under TESS whereby Banks and finance companies may affer new warking capital loans, bridge loans, or any other new
financing to private sectar corparates, SMEs, and individuals in the UAE under the TESS recovery program to facilitate provision of
relief and recovery of their corresponding customers negatively affected by COVID-19 repercussions until June 2022, Currently,
the Group does not have any new exposures granted under the TESS Recovery programme as of Dec 2021,

Further, the Group has undertaken comprehensive review of its clients which are susceptible to macroeconomic conditions and
accordingly have taken preemptive action dentifying clients benefitting from deferrals under twa main categories as required by
Central bank:

Group 1: are the customers who are not expected to face substantial change in their creditworthiness beyond liquidity Issue
caused by the COVID-19 crisis.

The clients in this sub segment could originally be in Stage 1 or in Stage 2, prior to being subject to deferrals. These clients are
expected to remain in thelr original stage as long as the pandemic has an effect on their business, unless factors unrelated to
Ceonvid-19 tripger a credit deterioration. These accounts are not considered to have significant deterioration in credit quality to
trigger a stage migration and the staging maybe retained at the same level,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{a) Creditrisk

COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss (ECL] [continued)

Group 2: customers that are significantly expected to be impacted by COVID-19.

Clients in this sub segment could originally be in Stage 1 orin Stage 2, prior to being subject to deferrals. This sub segment includes
borrowers for which the credit deterioration is more significant and prodonged, ranging beyond liguidity issues, with an extended
recovery period, For these customers, the deterioration in credit risk maybe so significant that it may tigRer a migration to stage
2 | the month fallowing the one that deferrals are processed, In exceptional cireumsta nces the migration w Stage 3 would be
triggered due to liquidation / bankruptcy caused by non-financial events or significant disruptions threatening the long-term

sustainability of clients’ business models.

The Grouping of the client i based on a combination of quantitative analysis and judgmental approach based on subject matter
expert views within the Bank.

Macro economic factors
The bank wses a range of macre-econamic factors in ECL assessment relevant to multipbe jurisdictions of operations which are
disclased in the subsequent notes to this section. The bank periodically revievws and updates selected econarnic sefles and applies

judgment in determining what constitutes reasonable and forward-looking estimates.

To reflect the current uncertain economic enviranmant, the Group has updated its macro-economic forecast accordingly and taken
the impact arising on the ECL calculation and hence management overlays were not required.,

Clients benefiting from deferrals by Segment:

Table 1: Deferrals information as at 31% Dec 2021,

Paymint Exposune at
deferrals Default allowance

Impairment

Segment Group

AED'00D AED'O0D AED'DOO

Retail banking Stage 1 Group 1 66,029 1,600,845 12,560

Group 2 1,901 14,743 75

Stage 2 Group 1 200 3,482 351

Group 2 1424 63,145 1,967

Stage 3 Group 2 36 789 G600

Tatal 69,590 1,683,004 15,813

S ] S

Wholesale banking Stape 1 Group 1 3,705,786 14,003,319 100,722

Stape 2 Group 1 29,366 273,172 15,715

Group 2 1,626,236 3,171,582 623,417

Stapge 3 Group 2 23,965 67,268 31,809

Tatal 5385353 17,515,341 771,663
a5
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements jcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{a)  Credit risk (continued)
COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss {ECL) [continued)
Clients benefiting from deferrals by Segment (continued):

Table 2: ECL change (Flow) since beginning of year to date

Non-credit impalred Credit impaired
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
AEDDOD AED 00D AEDD0D
Retall banking
ECL allowance a5 at 1 Jan 2021 35,605 505 147 36,657
Credit card {10} - - {10}
Housing oan {24) 265 - 245
Persanal lean {21, 790) 318 513 {20,959)
Auta loan {1,077} 12 - {1,065)
Others 131 Bl4 - o945
ECL allowance as of 31 Dec 2021 12,835 2318 660 15,813

Non-credit impaired Credit Impalred
Stage 1 2 Stage 3 Total

AED 000 AED'O0D AED"0D0 AED'DDD

Whaolesale banking

ECL allowance as at 1 Jan 2021 110,221 237,746 4,648 352,615
Emirates government [98) - - {a8)
GRE [Govt. ownership =5084) 214 - a 14
Other Corporates 7.568 401,355 Ba4 409,811
High net worth Individ uals {3,081) - - {3.081)
ShAEs {14,102} 31 26,273 12,202

ECL allowance as at 31 Dec 2021 100,722 639,132 31,809 771,663

e S L] E
a5
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements jcontinued)

45

{a)

Financial risk management {continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis
The following tables set out information about the credit guality of financial assets maasured at amaortised cost, and FYOC! debt

imvestments without taking into account collateral or other credit enhancement. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the
amaounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the

table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.

a8
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk (continued)

Cradit quality analysis (continuwed)

The movermnent of gross exposure i as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 3 POCI

Loans, advances and Islamic financing

AEDODO AEDDOO AED'DDO

Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 362,778,965 20275910 15,166,539 5.067,332 403,288,746
Increase due to acquisition 5,774,324 1221716 - 432, TEG 7.428,826
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {3,994 898) 3,994,898 - . -
Transfer fram Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,B52,162) - 1,852,162 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 4,829,791  {4,829,791) T = =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {3,031,690) 3,031,690 . -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - B7T2.279 {B72,279) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 75,247 - {75,247) - -
{942,022) (2,994,304) 3,936,326 - .
NEt nOn-Stage movements 20,368,101 {139,181) 8,409 340,121 20,577 450
et amounts written-off {21,088) 139,270) {2,304 ,086) {147, 260) {2,511,70d)
Balance as at 31 Dec 2021 387,958,280 18324871 16,807,188 5,692,979 428,783,318
Unfunded exposure
Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 234,823,309 5,373,356 1,132,552 - 241,335,217
Increase due to acquisition B42 918 113,613 - T7.934 964 465
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 [2,082,209) 1,082,209 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {17,761} . 17,761 . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 630,618 {630,618 - . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - |266,546) 266,546 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 56,791 {56,791} - -
Transfer fram Stage 3 to Stage 1 12 - [12) - -
{1,459,340) 1,241,836 227,504 . =
Met NOR-SLage Mavements (23,445,154) {2,039.879) {171,107) 52  (25,656,088)
Balance as at 31 Dec 2021 210,751,733 4,694,926 1,188,949 7,986 216,643,594
L] N S I N
a1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis (continued)

The movermnent of gross exposure s as follows:

Loans, advances and Islamic financing :Et;ﬁ .:':;ﬁ:; :Et;ﬁ EE;E .ﬁEET'ﬂEuE EI
Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 385,583,423 19642585 11,768,567 4,735,753 421,730,328
Transfars:
Transfer fram Stage 1 to Stage 2 [6,517.957) 5,517,957 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [2,179,515) . 2,179,515 . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,347,825 (1,847,825} - . -
Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 3 = |2,763,611) 2,763,611 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 . 459,887 [459,887) . -
Teansfer frarm Stage 3 to Stape 1 55,238 . (55,238) . -
(6,794,309) 2,366,408 4,427 901 - -
Nat non-<tage movaments [16,000,156) (1,714,666) 151,689 441,006 [17,122,117)
Met amounts written-off 19,993) [18,417) [1,181,628) {109,427) [1,319,4955)
Balance as at 31 Dec 2020 362,778,965 20,275,910 15,166,539 5,067,332 403,288,746
Unfunded exposure
Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 200,490,346 5,341,218 1,532,564 - 207,364,128
Transfars:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 [1,393,008) 1,393,006 - . -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 50,211) . 50,211 . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 916478 |916,478) - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {210,722} 210,722 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 6,861 6,861) - -
Transfer fram Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - - -
[526,733) 272,667 254,072 . .
Het non-stage movements 34,859 702 |234,528) [B54,084) - 33,971,089
Balance as at 31 Dec 2020 234,823,309 5,379,356 1,132,552 - 241,335,217

a2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)

(a)  Credit risk {continued)

Credit quality analysis fcontinued)

The external ratings for trading securities and non-trading investments are disclosed below:

Nan-trading investments Investments at fair value

through profit or las
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 EERRECEEvE
AEDOD0 AED DO AED'D00 AEDDOD

AAS 30,281,925 19,851,021 712,673 565421
Adto A 79,096,748 81,811,445 17,189,979 10,291,770
BEBLoB 32,402,191 26,047 880 17,725,308 6,648,558
CCC and below 142,508 TIETE 82,479 -
Unrated 3,552,617 3,786,085 9,851,213 3,760,494

145,475,989 131,574,107 45 572,252 11,266,243
Less: expected credit bosses {599) [345]) - -

145,475,390 131,573,762 45572252 11,266,243

Unrated investments primarily consist of investments in Private equities and investments in eguities which doesn't carry credit
risk. Investrments at fair value through profit or loss are neither past due nor impained.

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

The Group has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation a% a means towards reducing credit risk in an expasure, at faclity
level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance. The types of
Credit Risk Mitigation {"CRM™) include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derwvatives and Stand by Letters of
Credits (“$BLCY). The Group ensures that all documentation used in collateralized transactions and for documenting en and off-
balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant
jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents are reviewed by the appropriate authority and have appropriate
legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability.

The Group holds collateral and ether credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures, An estimate of the collateral
coverage (after the application of halrcuts) against net credit-impaired loans, advances and Islamic financing is shawn babaow:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED'DOD AED0OO

Collateral value cover

0-50% 11,205,853 10,025,681
51— 100% 3,999,618 4,199,743
Above 1006 1,763,711 1,619,624
Total net credit impalred loans, advances and [slamic financing 16,964,282 15,845,054

The Group’s policy & to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The Group does not generally use the
non=cash collateral for its own aperations,

While the Group might not have repossessed significant amount of collateral in 2020 and 2021, maintaining repossession rights
assist the Group in the restructuring and settlement of credit-impaired loans, advances and Bslamic financing.

a3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk (continued)
Derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities borrowing

The Group mitigates the credit risk of derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities lending by entering into
master netting agreements and holding collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities.,

Derivative transactions are transacted on exchanges, with clearing counterparties ("COPs"} or entered into under International
Swaps and Derhvatives Association (ISDA] master agreements, In general, under these agreaments, in certain dreumstances — &g,
when a credit event such as a default occurs — all outstanding transactions under the agreement with the counterparty are
werminated, the termination value ks assessed as per the [urisdiction netting rules and the ameunt (due or payable) in settlerment
with the counterparty. The Group usually executes a credit support annex in conjunction with the 1504 agreament, which requires
the Group and its counterparties to post collateral to mitigate counterparty credit risk. Collateral is also posted daily in respect of
derivatives transacted on exchanges and with COPs.

The Growp's sale-and-repurchase, and reverse sale-and-repurchase, transactions and securities barrawing and lending are
covared by master agreements with netting terms similar to those of 1ISDA master netting agreamants.

Loans, advances and Islamic financlng to custamers

The general credit worthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a lkoans,
advances and Islamic financing extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests
that corporate borrowers provide it. The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge aver real estate, floating charges
over all corporate assets and other liens and guarantees.

Because of the Group's focus on corporate customers’ craditworthiness, valuation of property collateral are conducted once in
two years and maore frequently for credit-impaired assets.

Off-balance sheet

The Group applies the same risk management policies for off- balance sheet risks as it does fer its on- balance sheet risks. In the
case of commitments to kend, custamers and counterparties will be subject to the same credit management policies as for laans,
advances and Islamic financing. Collateral may be sought depending on the strength of the counterparty and the nature of the
transaction.

Amounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impalrment

See accounting policy 3(c)vil),

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the rick of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
bath guantitative and gualitative Information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and expert credit
assessment and including forward-looking informatian.

Far nan-retail exposure, objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has eccurred for an
exposure by comparing:

*  Probability of default at origination adjusted for the koan maturity
s Probability of default at current reporting date adjusted for the remaining life of the lean

Similarly, for retail portfolio, the current and historical performance of the account is used estimate whether a significant increase

in credit risk has accurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {confinued)
Significant Increase In credit risk (continuedl)

The credit risk may also be deemed to hawve increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors linked to
the Group's credit risk management processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely
basis, These assessments usually raflects in placement of such exposires under certain categaries, for example watch list, In these
cases, PD gets calculated on lifetime basis.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance
on an Instrument returns to being measured based on 12-month PD. 5ome gualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such
as dalinguency of forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceasad
to exist. In these cases, the Group determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrate
pood behavior to provide evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficeently. The Group is also complying with all probation
periad requirements in relevant jurisdictians stipulated by bacal central banks,

In addition to the quantitative test based on movement of PD, the Group also applies expert credit judgement to incorperate the
estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results,

Credit risk rating

The Group allocates each Corporate exposure a credit risk rating based on variety of data that is determined to be predictive of
the rick of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk ratings are defined using qualitative and quantitative
factors that are indicative of risk of default, These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of barrower,

Credit risk ratings are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit risk
deteriorates down the curve,

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk rating on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower.
Exposuies are subject to ongoing monitaring, which may result in an exposure belng moved to a different credit risk rating,

Definitlon of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

*  For non-retall segment, a default shall be considered to have occurred with regard to a particular abligor when FAB
Group considers that the obliger is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to iself in full, withowt recourse by itto actions
such as realizing security (if hald).

Some off balance sheet exposures such as bank guarantees, letters of credit etc. should be treated as impaired if the
bank believes it is likely they will be called upon and the customer will not be able to meet these commitments, Where
the off balance sheet exposure is in the form of a Global Market contracts and there is doubt that all contractual future
cash fows will Be recenved from the counterparty, the bank should assess the net marked to market axpasure to the
counterparty taking into account any enforceable netting arrangements in place, The net pasttion (if due from) thus

arrived will be considered impairad.
*  Forretail, a facility or any material credit obligation to the Group Is more than 90 days past due;
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect

changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory capital purposes
[see 45{e])
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {canfinued)

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has
increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement af ECL,

The Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 408 probability of
occurring, and two less likely scenarios, ane upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% probability af occurring, External
information considered includes ecanomic data and forecasts publshed by governmental bodies and manetary autharities in the
countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations such as the OECD and the International Monetary Fund, and
selected private-sectar and academic forecasters,

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments
and, using an anahysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-econamic variables and credit risk and credit
losses.

The economic scenarias used as at 31 December 2021 included the following key indicators for the years ending 31 December

2027 to 2026.

Region Macro Variable'? Seenario 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
MEMA 04l Price Bane 11.15% 335% 1.47% 418% 311%
Upside 1.25% 158% 1.44% 195% 103%

Doawnside -36.77% 33.95% .05 5.21% 4.56%

UAE GDP Base 201% 2.59% 267% 175% 2 66%

Upside 563% 113% 2.02% 2.45% 218%

Downside -G.00% 2. 75% 5A6% 5.15% 4.53%

UAE Housing Price index Base 4.33% 0E5% 1.20% 197T% 3.20%

Upside 241% 1.65% 095% 0.21% 092%

Dewnside 5 50% -3.54% 5.16% TETH 7.07%

Egypt GDP Base 651% 5.00% 4.52% 4.51% 4.45%

Upside B54% 4.73% 4.05% 43T 4.45%

Downside 468% 5.50% 5.51% 531% 4 ER%

Egypt Equity Index Base 333% A06% 5.02% 543% 4.87%

Upside 6.03% 2.39% 4.56% 2.70% 4.02%

Dorvensicle 6.21% 18.24% 923% 692% 4.55%

UK UK GDP Bane 4.05% 2.E4% 1.34% 0.95% 1.31%
Upside 541% 153% 1.23% 057% 1.10%

Downside 054% 511% 2.20°% 1.52% 1.34%

UK Equity Index Bage -3.02% 0.75% 1.16% 3 B5% 31.11%

Upside 326% -3.05% w17% 2.16% 3.42%

Downside -B56% Bodx B15% S63% 31.31%

(1) Represenits the average anrualized inoreane | decresve over The period.
{# There are additional maoo variables faciors used bor other 1eglons which ae relewant Bo thelr market.

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, induding changing market conditions, customer
retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose
terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance
with the accounting policy sat out in Nate 3{c){iv).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the madification does not result in derecognition, the determination of
whether the asset's credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

= s remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with

#  the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the ariginal contractual terms.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {canfinued)
Modified financlal assets (continued)

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties {referred to as Torbearance activities’) to maximise collection
appartunities and minimise the risk of default, Under the Group's forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective
basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all
reasonable effarts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the terms of
loan cowvenants. Both retail and corporate bbans are subject to the forbearance policy. The Group Credit Committee regularly
reviaws raparts on farbearance activities,

For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance palicy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the medification has
improved or restored the Group's ability to collect interest and principal and the Group™s previous experience of simibar
forbearance action. As part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified
contractual terms and considers various behavioural indicatars.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance may
constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired [see Note 3(c)[vii]). A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good
payment behavior over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default.

Loans with renegotiated terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are koans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower's financial position
and where the Group has made material concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once a loan is restructured, it remains
in this category for a minimum peried of twelve months, in order ta establish satisfactory track record of performance under the
restructuring agreement. The Group determines the twelve-month period to commence from the date of signing of the
agreement for restructuring. As at the reporting date, the Group has renegotiated the following exposures:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED D00 AED OGO

Loans with renegotiated terms

Grass carrying amount 11,221,153 11,465,052
Impaired amaunt 3,277 389 1,841,473
Allowance for impairment 2,612,235 2,889,749

L N ]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {confinued)
Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL ara:

+  probability of default (PD);
*  loss given default (LGD); and
*  exposure at default (EAD).

The Lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio
throughout the remaining life of the loans, The matuerity prafile s based on historical observed data,

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It s estimated as at a point in time. The calculation is
based an statistical modek taillored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based
on internal data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors and market data {where available). PDs are estimated
considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimation is based on current conditions, adjusted to take into account
estimates of future conditions that will impact PD.

LG is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD werm structure based on current collateral,
counterparty industry, country of risk and recovery costs that is integral to the financial asset. LGD estimates are recalibrated for
different economic scenarios incerporating the impact of change in oll prices, equity index and other parameters.

EAD represents the expected exposure at the time of defauit. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the
counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contractual obligations. For undrawn commitments.
and unfunded facilities such as letter of cradit and letter of guarantees, EAD represents the amount of expesure when the facility
becomes payable and the funded conversion is based on factors provided by Basel,

Hewewer, far credit card facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment companent, the Group measures ECL
over contractual period and EAD is computed using internal model. Though the Group can cancel the limits with immediate effect
but this contractual right is not enforced in the narmal day-to-day management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an
increase in credit risk at the facility level.

hodelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis wherein the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared
risk characteristics that include:

instrument type;

historical performance;

industry; and

peographic locatien of the barrower.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately
hamogeneous.

a8

309/366



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

.hi.l.,\..:q.ﬁd.u(
Firwt Abas Dbl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {confinued)
Loss allowance

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the dosing balance of the loss allowance by dass of financial
instrument, The basis for determining transfers due to changes in credit risk is set out in the Group’s accounting palicy; see Mote

3lehivii).
Stage 1° Stage 2 FOC Total
AED/000 AED'DDD AED'D00 AED'DOD
Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 3,150,926 3446374 6,308,890 695,474 13,601,664
Increase due to acquisition 51,636 129,844 - 285,747 467,227
Transfers:
Transfer fram Stage 1 to Stage 2 {109,271) 109,271 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {71,619]) - 71,619 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 141,390 {141,350) - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {445,836]) 445,836 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 185,139 {185,139) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 13,647 - {13,647) - -
{25,853) {292,816) 318,669
Impact of change in provision {1,123 ,060] 553,062 3,246,413 17,967 2,694,382
Write-offs and other adjustments {1,893) {24,952] (2,097 582) {146,645) {2,271,072)
Balance as at 31 Dec 2021 2,051,756 3,811,512 7,776,390 852,543 14,492,201

HOn certain assels included a3 part of olher assets, ECL & computed based on smplified approsch and regorted as part of stige 1.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

45

(a)

Financial risk management {continued)
Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {continued)

Loss allowance [cantinued]

Stage 1* Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
AEDTDO0 REDTDDO AEDDOO AEDDDD AEDDOO
Balanee a5 at 1 Jan 2070 2,203,599 3,483,853 4,885,931 1,478,975 12,057,363
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 [75,265) 75,265 . - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [60,343) 60,943 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to 5tage 1 152,032 1152,032) - -
Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 3 {507,951) 507,951 -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 . 243,199 {243,199} - =
Transfer fram Stage 3 to Stage 1 18,233 [1&,233) - -
34,051 {341,519) 307,968 - -
Impact of change in provision 913,751 302,739 2,225 884 (679,344 2,763,030
Write-offs and other adjustments [475) (3,709 (1,110,393} [104,157) 1,218,734}
Balance as at 31 Dec 2020 3,150,926 3446374 6,308,890 695,474 13,601,664

'0n certain assets included as part of other assats,

100

311/366

ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part of stage 1.



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

.i;hm_qud_uT
Farst, Al Diabl Sk,

Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{a) Creditrisk {continved)
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements

The table below shows the maximum expesure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, including derivatives, The
maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Gross

MAXImum

Exposune exposure

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

AED'ODD AEDQOD

Balances with Central Bank q 257,021,822 226,075,792
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5 36,650,351 19,393,786
Due fram banks and financial institutions 5 19,383,306 27,430,792
Reverse repurchase agreements 7 46,288,005 44,088,756
Loans, advances and Islamic financing g 428,TE3318 403,288,716
Mon-trading investments 9 144,472 660 130,962,332
Other assets excluding prepayments 18,125,859 15,793,737
Tatal 950,735,321 BA7,034,001
Derivatives held for trading 38 22,305,976 29,814,440
Derivatives held for hedging k] 1,967,730 2,744,441
Tatal 24,273,766 321,558,881
Contingent liabilities 37 165,236,122 166,752, 876
Commitmant X 51,407 472 74,582,341
Tatal 216,643,594 241,335 217

Total credit risk axpasure 1,191,652,681  1,140,928,089

Where financial instruments are recarded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk expasure bat
not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future a3 a result of changes in values,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk {continued)

Classification of investments as per their counterparties;

Investments at falr value
through profit or loss

Mon-trading investments

31 Dec 2021 31 Deec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Deec 2020

AED"000 AEDDO0 AEDDDD AED QOO0

Government sector 53,954,390 68,001,252 28,835,932 11,538,832
Supranatianal 634,136 879,774 2,065,942 2,062,063
Public Sector 15,337,453 24,330,758 737,753 524,140
Banking sector 18,062,492 31,621,387 4,461,755 5,012,595
Corporate | private sector 7487518 5,740,936 9470,870 2,128,605

145,475,989 131,574,107 45,572,252 21,266,243
Less: allowance for impairment [expected
credit loss) on amartised cost securities {599) (345)

145475390 131,573,762 45,572,252 21,266,243

Settlement risk

The Growp's activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlernent of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss
due to the failure of counterparty to honowr its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. Any
delay in settlement is rare and maonitored.

Derivative related eredit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative fimancial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its contractual
obligations and is imited to the positive market value of instrumants that are favourable tothe Group. The positive market value
Is also referred to as the "replacement cost” since it is an estimate of what it would cost to replace transactions at prevailing

market rates if a counterparty defaults. The majority of the Group's derivative contracts are entered into with other banks and
financial institutions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(b) Liguidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group i unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due or that it

can only do sa at an excessive cost.

Liquidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, including derivatives and other off-balance sheet
commitments, not being matched in currency, size, and term. FAB ensures that all liabilities can be met as they fall due under
brath businesses as usual and stress conditions withowt incurring undue cost.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group has defined the liguidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a controlled liguidity risk position
with adeguate cash or cash-eguivalents to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all foreseeable circumstances and without
incurring substantial additional costs, for a rolling perod of three months. . The risk appetite is supported by a comprehensive
risk management framework that includes Group ALCO approved limits for key funding and liquidity metrics, stress testing and a
centingency funding plan.

The liguidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed liguidity regulation
from both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the Group’s external credit rating objectives.

One of the critical means to measure adequacy of liquidity as per extant global regulation is through Liguidity Coverage Ratio
["LCR"). FAB has been complying with UAE regulation on Basel [l LCR and has been reporting the same for a considerable period
of time, Accordingly, FAB has invested heavily in ensuring systems and controls framework & in place to comply with all the
qualitative and quantitative aspects of Basel Ill. In addition the Group alse ensures that it is compliant with UAE Central Bank
liquidity reguiation on Eligible Liquid Assets Ratio ["ELAR"} at all times.

Liquidity limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughout the organisation to ensure that the Group
complies with the defined Group Liguidity Risk appetite. Similarly International limits are cascaded to ensure compliance with any
additicnal lacal regulatory requirements. on liquidity manage ment.

All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The contractual asset and Habdlity maturity mismatch report withaut considering the Group's retention history i detalled below,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{e) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group's income or capital will fluctuate an account of changes in the value of a financial instrument
because of movemants in market factors such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and markeat prices of equity
and commuodity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposure to market risk betwean trading, investment and non-trading portfolios. Trading and investment
portfolias are held by the Global Markets Division and are managed on a fair value basis.

Investment Management Committee (“IBMCO") i responsible for oversight and guidance to Global Markets trading and
investment activities, It ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles laid down in the market
risk management policy. IMCO acts as a sub-committee of Group Asset and Liabilities (“G-ALCO") which has the overall authaerity
and responsibility to manage market risks.

harket Risk Group & responsible for the development and implementation of detailed market risk appetite, risk management
methodologies and policies including the control framewaork that is reviewed by IMCO and submitted to G-ALCO and BREC for
approval.

Exposure to market risks —trading portfolios

The principal analytical tool used to measure and controd market risk exposure within the Group's trading partfolios which
comprise of investmants at fair value through profic or loss and trading derivativies & Value at Risk (“VaR"), The VaR of a trading
portfolia is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time [halding peried) from an adverse
market movement with a specified probability [confidence level). The VaR model uses historical simulation based on a 99%
confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period, Using market data from the previous two years, and observed relationships
between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future scemarios for market price
maovements.

The Group uses VaR limits for foreign exchanges, interest rates, credit spread and equities, The overall structure of Trading VaR
limits is subject wo review and approval by the IMCO and then ratified at G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded down to trading
desks.

WaR is driven by actual historical observations and hence, it is not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Group could
experience from an extreme market event. As a result of this limitation the VaR is further supplemented with other position and
sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading pertfolio. Moreaver the
trading activity at Group and desk level is subject to Managemant Action Triggers ["MAT”) that are limits on maximum losses that
trigger actions from management. The VaR is as follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AEDO00 AED'DDO AED'D00 AEDO00 AED D00
As at Average Max Min Bs at

YaR —Trading Book
Al 71,793 67,540 102,425 50,797 67417
Interest rate 66,738 60,682 93,610 39,666 40,300
Credit 49,273 37,759 100,567 21,455 27531
Foreign Exchange 25,429 19,517 27,530 11,357 14,045
Equity 558 1,589 5,699 268 1606
Commodity 13 1,010 T.405 13 104
Diversification Benefit {70,218) {53,017) {132,386) {21,962) (16,265}
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{c)  Market risk {continued)

Exposure to market risk — banking portfolios

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking portfalios which comprise of non-trading investments, reverse repurchase agreements
and certain derfvative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments arise primarily from the investment portfolios,
interest rabe gaps in the banking book, and the Group®s overall F¥ positions.

The principal anabytical tool used to measure and control the investment risk exposure within the Group is Value at Risk [*VaR").
The VaR model is the same as the one used for the trading portfolios. The Group uses VaR limits for controlling the averall
investment risk, including foraign exchange, interest rate and credit spread. The overall structure of Banking VaR limits is subject
to review and approval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO, VaR limits are then cascaded to different Investment desks. The
investment risk VaR & as follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED"000 AED"000 AEDYOO0D AEDOO0
As at Average Max As at

VaR — Banking Book
Al 521,783 517,181 607,180 430,650 483,064
Interest rate 123,169 74,282 130,899 26,325 31,676
Crisdit 543,064 485,521 540,280 429,835 451,288
Foreign Exchange 7,944 B.921 16,675 7326 16,675
Equity 20,331 17,923 20,704 15,472 15472
Diversification Benefit {172 715) {e9.4656) [110,387) {48,308) [32,.047)

Forelgn exchange risk

Fareign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates
and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group's functional currency is the UAE Dirham.
The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging strategies are used
b enture positions are maintained within established limits. At 31 December, the Group had the following significant net
exposures denominated in foreign currencias:

HNet spot Forward Total Tatal
position position ESNeltaelirABl 31 Dec 2020
{short]flong {short}flong {short)flong  EEEGLLATE-TT
AED DO AED'D0D0 AED'DDD AED0O0

Currency
Us Dellar {B,096,034) 44,131 826 36,035,792 53,089,049
LK Sterling Pound {2,936,365) 2,763,058 {173,308) {219,015)
Euro 29,681,838 {28,504,576) 1,177,262 529,888
Kuwaiti Dinar {922,720) 738,262 {184,458] 138,706
Saudi Rival 7,821,997 {6,215,212) 1,605,785 (1,154,645
lapanese Yen 5,156,323 {4,979,452) 175,871 {55,698)
Switss Franc {5,778,987) 5,755,665 (23,322) [a.474)
Bahraini Dinar 5,659,444 {2,709,651) 2,949,793 34,942
Egyptian Pound 11,263,576 {11,534,347) {270,771) 172,000
Indian Rupess 2,105,547 {340,838 1,764,709 1,036,059
Libyan Dinar 146,099 ¥ 146,099 225,434

Others {721,458) 1,157,682 436,224 (272,903

As AED, SAR and BHD are pegged against US Dollar, the Group's risk exposure to these currencies s Hmited to that extent.
Exposure to other foreign currencies is insignificant.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)

{c)  Market risk {continued)

The tables below indicate the currencies ta which the Group had significant exposure at 31 Deacember 2021 and 2020 on its
manetary assets, Rabilities and net derivatives forward position. The analysis estimates the effect of a reasonably possible
maovernent of AED against other currencies, with all other variables held constant on the consalidated Income statement.

Currency

Assumed change in exchange rates 1% 1% 1% 1%
Impact on net incame in exchange rate:

31 Dec 2021 (AED000) 11,773 +1,733 +1,769 + 17,649
31 Dec 2020 (AEDDOO) 45,2399 +2.190 + 557 + 10,361

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the effect of the assumed changes in exchange rates on equity is insignificant.
Equity price risk

FAB is exposed to equity price risk on equity investments, either through holding of equities of anather entity or through equity
dertvatives such as forward contracts, options o swaps. The fair value of these instruments will fluctuate due changes in the
market price of the underlying equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta, Vega and Gamma
limits, The Group also enforces diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration.

The following table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in equity markets on the Group's income statement. The
sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value of
investments carried at fair value through the income statement.

Impact Impact

Assumved on net an net
level of income income
change 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

k1 AED'D0O AED Q00

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Referance aguity benchmarks:

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5 340,322 1,045
Dubai Financial Market Index 5% 2,053 2,221
Net asset value of managed funds and private equities 554, 108,893 88,279
Other equity exchanges 5% 1,219 2078
452,387 93,623
—
111
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [conlinued)

45 Financlal risk managerment (continued)
[} Market risk [continued)

Thetr effect cnequity as a result of a change in the Tair value of equity instruments held as availlable for sale at 31 December 2021
aned 2020, due to a reasona by possible change in sguity indices, with all other variabiles held comstant, is as fallows:

Impact Impact

Bvumed or Pt o4 fil
level of Incame Income
change 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

% AE D D00 AECDO0

Non-trading imvestments |excluding investment in
assoclates and joint ventures)
Reference equity benchmarks:

Alvu Dhabd Securities Exchange Index 55 14,787 H,7HD
Dubad Financial Market Index 5% - 1411
Cttheer equity exchanges 5% 21,335 16,552
Unquoted 5% 10,258 1,133

46,380 17876

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arizes rom interest bearing linancial instruments and reflects the posaability that changes in interest rites will
adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income, The Group manages this risk principally throwgh
monitoring intenest rate gaps and by matching the respricing profile of assets and liabilities. Overall interest rate risk positions are
managed by wing derivative irdlruments to manage overall position arising from the Group's interest bearing linancial
instruments. The use of derfvalives Lo manage interest rate risk is described in note 38,

Interest rate risk & ok asseised by measering the impact of reasonable possible change ininterest rate movements, The Group
assurmes a Tluctuation in interest rates of 50 basts points (31 Dec 2020: 50 basis points] and uses its internal madels / management
view Lo estimates the following impact on the net profit for the year and equity at that date:

Met profit for the year Equily

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED D00 AEC DD AEDDOD AEDD

Fluctuation in yielkd 1578,325 1519145 41,091,348 11,456,459

Tiee interest rate sensitivities set oul above are based on AED 776,343 millkon (31 Dec 2020: AED 723,379 milfon) interest bearing
assets and AED 570,703 million (31 Dec 2020: AED 575,855 milfon) interest bearing Babilities with interest re-pricing bess than
one year, for assessing the impact on net profit The impact on equity a8 given in the table below is based on the sensitivity of
interest bearing assels and liabilities. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate
the effect of interest rate movements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{c)  Market risk {continued)
Interest rate rlsk (continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

A fundamental refarm of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, replacing some IBORs with ARRS. The
Group has significant exposure to certain IBORs on its financial instruments that are being reformed as part of these market-wide
initiatives.

IBORs, such as the London Interbank Offered Rate [ “LIBOR™), plays a critical rale in global financial markets, serving as reference
rates for derivatives, Loans, advances and Islamic financing, and as parameters in the valuation of financial instruments,

On 05 March 2021, FCA has announced the future cessation or loss of representativenass dates of all LIBOR tenors across all
currencies. FCA concluded that all Non-USD LIBOR (GBP, JPY, CHF and EUR) and selected tenors of USD LIBOR (1-week and 2-
manth} will either cease to exist or become non-representative after 31 December 2021, while remaining USD LIBOR tenars will
continue thl 30 June 2023, Glabal regulators have recommended Banks to cease Esuance of new LIBOR linked products (including
USD UBOR) after 31 December 2021.

The Financial Conduct Autharity (FCA} announced on 16 November 2021 that it will require the ICE Benchmark Administration
(IBA) to continue to publish the 1-, 3- and &-month LIBOR rates for GBP and JPY on a synthetic basis for a peried of 12 menths
starting on the 1 January 2022, to avoid disruption to legacy contracts and allow market participants mare time to complete
transition. The synthetic LIBOR rates can be used in all lepacy contracts, apart from cleared derivatives, The synthetic rates will
nat be available for vse in any new contracts, The FCA has indicated that the publication of the synthetic JPY rates will ceaze at
the end of 2022 but has nok ruled out the possibility of the GBP rates being published beyond this,

LIBOR is primarily replaced by overnight Risk Free Rates (RFRs), ad ministered by local rate administrators, With the exception of
SAROMN and ESTR (an overnight replacement rates for CHF LIBOR and EUR LIBOR), term rates are available for all other RFRs.

The transition process away from IBORs, including the transition of legacy contracts that reference IBORs, exposes the Group to
material execution risks, and increases some financial and non-financial risks which the project team is managing and monitoring
closely. These risks include but are not limited to the following:

+  Conduct risk arising from discussions with clients and market counterparties due ta the amendments required to existing
cantracts necessary to effect IBOR reform,

+  Financial risk tothe Group and its clients that markets are disrupted due to IBOR reform giving rise to financial kosses. Further,
financial risks resulting from the discontinuation of |IBORs and the development of market liguidity in RFRs will also affect
thie Group throughout transition. The differences in IBOR and RFR interest ratas will create a basis risk that will be managed
actively through appropriate financial hedging. Basis risk in the trading book and in the banking book may arise out of the
asymmetric adoption of RFRs across assets and liabilities and across currencies and preducts. In addition, this may limit the
ability to hedpe effectively.

+  Pricing risk from the potential lack of market information If liquidity in IBORs reduces and RFRs are llliquid and unobservable.

+  Operational risk arising from changes to the Group's I T systems and processes, also the risk of payments being disrupted if
an |BOR ceases to be available; and

*  Accounting risk if the Group’s hedging relationships fail and from unre presentative income statement volatility as financial
instruments transition to RFRs.

As the |IBOR transition project progresses into the execution phase, resilience and operational risks are heightened. This is due to
an expected increase in the number of new RFRs preducts being ralled out, transition of legacy IBOR contracts and the extensive
syatems and process chanpes required to facilitate both new products and the transition. Regulatary compliance, legal and
conduct risks may also increase as a result of the co-existence of LIBORs and ARRs for limited peried.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{c)  Market risk fcontinued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform [continued])
FAB's approach towards IBOR Transition
Loans, Bonds and other On Balance Sheet exposures

FAB initiated its IBOR transition project in 2019. The Project is sponsored by the Group CFO and is being led by senior
represantatives from functions across the Group including the client facing teams, Legal, Finance, Oparations and Technology.
The Group has maintained its momentum in tracking its exposure to IBORs, preparing its IT systems to accommaodate the incoming
Risk-Free Rates, amending, or preparing contractual templates and communicating its progress with beth the Regulators and its
clients, The Project pravides monthly progress updates to the Project sponsors. The Group has successfully achieved the readiness
to transition a significant portion of its IBOR exposure to RFRs and has in place detailed plans, processes, and procedures to
support the transition of the IBOR exposures prior to the Benchmark cessation. The Bank has successfully transitioned part of
LIBOR referencing loans and is on track to complete the transition for most of the non-USD LUBOR referencing loans by the first
reset date im 2022. Loans referencing USD LIBOR will be transitioned prior to the benchmark cessation date.

For contracts indexed to an IBOR that mature after the expected cessation of the IBOR rate, the Group has established policies to
amend the contractual terms, These amendments include the addition of fallback clauses or replacement of the IBOR rate with
an alternative benchmark rate,

The Group has been applying a policy to require that retail products, such as its residential mortgage portfalio, are amended in a
unifarm way, and bespoke products, such as loans and advances to corparates, are amended in bilateral negetiations with the
counterparties,

The Group monitors the progress of transition from I1BORs to new benchmark rates by reviewing the total amounts of contracts
that have yet to transition to an alternative benchmark rate and the amounts of such contracts that include an appropriate
fallback clawse. The Group considers that a contract is not yet transitioned to an alternative benchmark rate {and referred to as
an ‘unreformed contract') when interest under the contract is Indexed to a benchmark rate that is still subject te IBOR reform,
even if It includes a fallback clause that deals with the cessation of the existing IBOR.

As at 31 December 2021, the IBOR reform in respect of currencies to which the Graup has exposure has been largely completed.
The table below sets cut the IBOR rates that the Group had exposure to, the new benchmark rates to which these exposures have
or are being transitioned, and the status of the transition.

Currency Benchmark before Refarm Benchmark after Refarm M Dac 2021 31 Dac 2020
Gap GEBP LIBOR SOMIA Complated In progress
uso UsD LIBOR SOFR In progress In progress
EURQ EOMIA €5TR Completed In progress
EURG EURIBOR EURIBOR reformed Completed Completed

In line with the regulatory guidance, FAB will continue to actively transition LIBOR products to suitable alternatives where
passible. However, if this is nat achieved, those products will use synthetic LIBOR where applicable and until they are transitioned.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{c)  Market risk {continued)

Interest rate rlsk fcontinued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform [continued)
FAB's approach towards IBOR Transition [continued)

Changes to the contractual terms of financial assets indexed to sterling UBOR and certain US doellar LIBOR to incarporate new
benchrmark rates are completed as of 31 December 2021. All of our global businesses have actively developed and implemented
system and operational capabilities for alternative rates, such as base or prime rates and RFR products during 2021. Several key
RFR praduct transactions were undertaken within the Investment Banking, Corporate and Commercial Banking Group, Consumer
Banking and Private Banking segments.

The Group continues to have IBOR derivatives, loan and bond exposures maturing beyond the above mentioned cessation or
non-representativenass dates but will cease the issuance of new LIBOR linked products after 31 December 2021,

Our global businesses have implemented commercial strategies that include active client engagement and communication.
Concerning Group's legacy bond issuances referencing IBORs that may cease to exist, the Group will transition those issuances.
on or before the relevant benchmark cessation ar nan-representativeness event. The success of these transition plans will depend
on the participation and engagement of third-party market participants, For those bonds where Group is the paying agent, there
remains dependence on the engagement of third-party market participants in the transition process of their issued debt.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group:

* amended existing contracts indexed to IBOR to incorparate new benchmark rates for contracts originally indexed to GBP
LIBOR and USD LIBOR; and
» Inserted fallback provisions Into all remaining US dollar LIBOR indexed exposures.

The table below represents the exposures to interest rate benchmark reform by balance sheet account, which have yet to
transition, The exposure disclosed is for positions with contractual maturities l'@fErEﬂL'iI‘IF}:

« non-USD LIBOR, USD 1W and USD 2M LIBOR after 31 December 2021; and
*  USDLIBOR [other than USD LIBOR 1W and 2M tenors) after 30 June 2023

Balances reperted at amertized cost are disclosed at their gross carrying value and de not include any expected credit losses that
may be held against them. Balances reported at fair value are dischosed at their fair value on the balance sheet date,

USD LIBOR GEP LIBOR CHE LIBOR Others
0 AED000 AED000 AED'DOD  AED/DDO

Non-derivative Bnancal assets
Cash and balances with central banks 117084 A - H 8 117088
Irmvestments at fair value through golit or loss 3,730,307 . . . v 3,230,307
Doue from banks and Tinancial instilutions 2,010,402 1,743 a7l - Err] 1,004,538
Reverse repurchase agreements 25,119,531 B E - . 15,119,831
Lowans, sdhances and Islamic financing 141,475 844 3421135 - &3 387 i o] 165,529,026
Kon-tradng imvestments 4,189, %45 - - - BEETS4T 8037 116
Non-derivative Hnancial assets 177143112 23422 878 o7 E31,867 3,539,249 105,038,177
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Druer bz raniks and financial nstitutions 33,140,344 1,035131 30 14,050 21,772 34,221,327
Repurcharee agreements 53 805 557 a = - i 53,808 507
Commercial paper 17,645,538 - - - - 17,845,838
Customer arccunts and other deposits 245 823 .02% 231447 68,940 5,896 102,774 50,232 082
Term borrowings 10,830,000 #,854 - - . 19,929,874
Non-derivative financial liabilities 73,184 704 1,364 402 65,870 18,946 114,546 74634 618
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{c)  Market risk fcontinued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform [continued)
FAB's approach towards IBOR Transition {continued)

In the table below are exposures at 31 December 2021 that were not transitioned from IBORs to RFRs on 1 January 2022 and still
present arsk arging fram IBOR refar m. Instruments referenced te LIBOR USD (3 moenths) will transition nolater than immediately

after 30 June 2023,
GEP LIBOR CHF LIBOR JPY LIBOR Chars Total
AEDOO0 AEDDD AED AEDDOO AEDDOT
Mon-derivative Bnancial sttets
Cash and balanoes with central banks 117689 C = E - 17,059
Imestments at fair value through profit or loss 3,230,307 - . L] . 3,230,207
e frorm banks and Tinancial institutions 2010402 - o7l . Erss 1,003,195
Rewverse repurchise agreements 16,119,831 . - . . 26,119,831
Lesans, sihvances and Islamic financing 141 473,944 = - - 950 141,478,924
Komtradng imestments A 189 560 - - - 1.BE7 547 BOITA1E
Non-derivative financial assets 177143112 - 2071 - 3,839,249 1E0,984.432
Non-derivative financial liabilities
D ko anks and financial institutions 13,150,344 = in . 1,372 3,162,146
Repurchirie agreements 52,805,507 - = . - 52,505,507
Commesrcial paper 17645518 = = s + 17645838
Customer accounts and ather deposits 245,820,005 = 8840 - 102,774 148,894,738
Term borrowings 19,830,020 - - - - 19,530,020
Non-derivative financial liabilithes 371,144,734 - 68,070 - 114,546 A7R408.250

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The Group halds derivatives for trading and risk management purposes. Derivatives held for risk management purpases are
designated In hedging relationships. The interest rate and cress-currency swaps have floating legs that are indexed to various
IBORS,

S04 has reviewed its definitions in light of IBOR reform and isswed an IBOR fallbacks supplement on 23 October 2020, This sets
out how the amendments to new alternative benchmark rates |eg. SOFR, SOMIA) in the 2006 ISDA definitions will be
accomplished. The effect of the supplement is to create fallback provisions in derivatives that describe what floating rates will
apply on the permanent discontinuation of certain key IBORs or on 1504 declaring a nan-representative determination of an IBOR,
The Group has adhered to the protocal to implement the fallbacks to derivative contracts that were entered into before the
effective date of the supglement. If derivative counterparties alsa adhere to the protocal, then new fallbacks will be automatically
implemented in existing derivative contracts. The supplement came into effect on 25 January 2021, From that date, all new
derivatives that reference the ISDA definitions will alse include the fallbacks. Consequently, the Group i monitoring whether its
counterparties will also adhere to the protocol and, if there are counterparties that will not, then the Group plans to negotiate
with them bilaterally about inclusion of new fallback clauses,

For the derivatives exposures, Group have adhered tothe adoption of the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (1504")
protecol a5 a fallback provision, which came into effect in January 2021, and the successful changes made by clearing houses to

discount derivatives using the euro short-térm rate ("€STR') and SOFR, to reduce the risk of a disorderly transition of the
derivatives market.

118

329/366



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

FAB{

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(¢  Market risk {continued)
Interest rate risk {continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform [continued)
Derivativies and hedge accounting (continued)
The table below represents the derivative exposures to interest rate benchmark refarm, which have vet te transition. The
exposure disclosed is for positions with contractual maturities after the respective LIBOR cessation dates. Derivatives are reported

by using the notional contract amount and where derivatives have both pay and receive legs with exposure to benchmark refarm
such a% cross currency swaps, the notional contract amount is disclosed for both legs.

UED LIBOR GEP LIBDOR CHF LIBOR JPY LIBOR Cthers Tatal

AEDDOO AEDY D AED"000 AED D00 AED DO AED D00

Exchange traded interest rate options and

swaplions £35,618.519 - - - = EI561851%
OTC interest rate swaps 1102 852144 16,633 157 55410 - 18383183 1,048, 714,114
OTC interest rate options and swaptions 046,575 . A 3 a 1R4575
OTC other derivalive conlracts 12,319,853 - - - - 13,915,853
Derivative notienal contract amount 1,554 463,001 18, 633,187 855,610 - 28951,181 1000508061

In the table below are derivative exposures at 31 December 2021 that were nat transitioned from IBORs to RFAS on 1 January
2022 and still present a risk arsing from IB0R reform. Instruments referenced to LIBOR USD {3 months) will transition no later
than immediately after 30 June 2023,

USD LIBOR GEP LIBOR CHF LIBOR JFY LIBOR Dthers Total

AEDDD0 AEDQ00 AED 0 AEDD0D AED DO AED D00

Exchange traded interest rate cations and

s plions B35,618 519 ' . . . B35,518 519
OTC interest rate swaps 1,102 682,144 4,459,461 845,942 - 18,583,163  1,136580,710
OTC interest rate options and swaptions 1846578 : - - - 1B46,575
OTC other derivative contracts 13.21%,8%3 . c 5 3 13,315,853
Deriwativer noticnal contract amount 1,954,463,051 4,458,461 545,542 - IB383,163 1988381857

Further, the Group evaluated the extent to which its fair value and cash flow hedging relationships are subject to uncertainty
driven by IBOR reform as at the reporting date. The Group's hedged tems and hedging instruments continue to be indexed to
IBOR benchmark rates, which are mainly Sterling and US Dallar LIBOR. Theses |BOR benchmark rates are quoted each day and
IBOR cash flows are exchanpged with its counterparties as usual,

The Group's cash flow hedging relationships of sterling LIBOR and US dallar LIBOR risks extand beyvond the anticipated cassation
dates for both LIBORs. The Group expects that sterling LIBOR and US dollar LIBOR will be replaced by SONIA and SOFR,
respecthvely, but there & uncertainty over the timing and amount of the replacement rate cash flows. Such uncertainty may
impact the hedging relationship = e.g. its effectiveness assessment and highly probable assessment. For the purposes of these
assessments, the Group assumes that the hedged benchmark interest rate, the cash flows of the hedged item and/or the hedging
instrument will nat be altered as a result of IBOR reform.

If a hedging relationship impacted by uncertainty about 1BOR reform has not been highly effective throughout the financial
reporting period, then the Group evaluates whather the hedpe is expected to be highly effective prospectively and whether the

effectiveness of the hedging relaticnship can be rellably measured, The hedging relationship will not be discontinued as long as
It meets all criteria for hedge accounting, with the exception of the requirement that the hedge was actually highly effective.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
()  Market risk [continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (cantinued)
Derivatives and hedge accounting (continued)

Hedging relationships impacted by uncertainty about IBOR reform may experience ineffectiveness attributable to market
participants’ expactations of when the shift from the existing IBOR benchmark rate to an alternative benchmark interest rate will
eecur, This transition may occur at different times for the hedped item and the hedging Instrument, which may lead 1o hedge
ineffectivenass,

The table bebow represents the notional amounts of interest rate derivatives designated in hedge accounting relationships

represant the extent of the risk exposure managed by the Group that is expected to be directly affected by market-wide IBOR
reform.

Hedging Instrument

Impacted by |BOR reform Pat impactod
Hedging instrument impacted - <0 LB 0 Others atal !
by |BOR redorm GBP LIBOR UsD LIBOR EUR LIBOR Others Tota
AED 0G0 AED'000 AED000 AEDDDD AED'DOD
Fair value hedgos 435,787 123,004 778 E EB5 3492 11k325.957 35,106 748 158521703
Cash flew hedges L 1,599,540 = e 1,599,540 1,959,005 5,558,575
Mt 31 De 2021 435,787 125604318 = 85,292 136,925,497 37,155,781 154,081.178

The objective of the majority of these hedges and consistent with the overall interest rate risk management strategy of FAB isto
reduce fluctuations of the fair value of bonds purchased by FAB or its own issuances which pay a fixed rate and also reduce
fluctuations from forelgn exchange risk If these are denominated in another currency that is not AED or USD.

When the uncertainty arising from |BOR reform no longer exists The Group will cease to apply the assumptions that the hedged
benchrmark interest rate, the cash flows of the hedged item and/or hedging instrument will not be altered as a result of IBOR
reform when the uncertainty arising from IBOR reform is no longer presant. In addition, the Group will amend the formal hedge
documentation of that hedging relationship to reflect the changes required by IBOR reform by the end of the reporting period
during which the changes accur, When a fallback provision inserted in a hedping instrument b tripgered, the Group will alse
amind the description of the hedging instrument in the formal hedge documentation by the reporting date, These changes in the
formal hedge documentation will not cause a discontinuation of the hedging relationship. The Group will also remeasure the
cumulative changes in the hedged cash flows and the hedging instrument based on new alternative benchmark rates —i.e. SOFR
or SONIA = when the uncertainty arising from IBOR reform is removed. For the purpose of remeasuring the cumulative changes
in the hedged cash flows, the Group will amend the terms of the hypothetical derivative to reflect the changes required by IBOR
reform in the hedged item,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45

(d)

(e)

Financial risk management {continued)
Operational risk

Opaerational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed processes, people and systems ar from external
events.

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group. The primary responsibility to ensure these risks are managed and
manitored, resides with the businesses within the Group. Group’s businessas are supported by embedded risk resources and
Group Operational Risk Management as “second line of defense’ to ensure robust risk management,

Group Operational Risk Management [GORM) reports to CRO who has an independent line to Board Risk Committee which is
being apprized of the management of operational risk through periedic reporting. GORM provides tools, trainings and template
to all business function to effectively identify, assess, manage, monitor and control operational risk.

Further, there are reviews conducted by Group Internal Audit a5 the third line of defense’. The results of internal audit reviews
are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and summaries are submitted to the Board Audit Committes.

The Graup has an established Operational Risk framewark consisting of policies and procedures to identify, assess, monitar,
contral, and report and to manage risks and to notify, identify and resolve incidents. The Operational Risk framework also
provides the interrelation with other risk categories, Where appropriate, risk transfer in the form of insurance.

Bank has adopted BASEL event categories to classify its operational risk events, which are:

=  Internal fraud: Risk of unautharized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees

=  External fravd: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

=  Employee practices and workplace safety: Risk of failures in employee relations, diversity and discrimination, and health and
safety risks across the group

*«  Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the group due to natural disasters

&  Clients, products and business practices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fiduciary responsibilities, improper
business practices, flawed products and advisory activities,

*  Business disruption and system failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and disaster recovery for
systems

*  Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer intake and documentation,
vendor managemant and monitoring and reparting,

The Board has oversight responsibilities for operational risk management across FAB Group. These responsibilities are delegated
and exercised through the Group Operational Risk Committee, which is the senior management farum respansible for the
oversight and management of Operational Risk.

Key responsibilities of Group O perational Risk Committes with regards to Opaerational risk include to ensure:

*  Appraval of the Group Operational Rek Management Framewark and oversight aver its impleme ntation

*  Approve the strategy and direction for Operational Risk acrass FAB Group.

=  Establish an effective Governance structure across FAB Group.

Capital management

CBUAE regulations povern regulatory capital requirements for the Group; in addition, the averseas branches and subsidiaries may
b directly supendised by their keal regulators, The capital management process for the Group is linked to the overall business

strabegy to ensure that capital ks adequate to the level of inherent risk in the business and within the firm's capital risk appetite
The Group conducts capital planning in conjunction with the financial budgeting exercise.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
(e}  Capital management (continued)

The Board and top management define the long-term strategic direction for the Group, This provides the framewark for the
development of a bottom up plan based an the projections from individual business units. The bottom up plan is an input ta the
annual bedgeting process and is conducted at a business unit and country level. These are consolidated for each business divislan
and finally, for the entire Group. Business units, within each division, develop forecasted balance sheet and income statements
for the next year, by considering the following key parameters:

the short term [one year) goals
risk appetite and strategy
target growth rates

target returns

The Group’s capital management policies aim to ensure that it has sufficient capital to cover the risks associated with its activities
and the allocation of capital across the Group. The assessment of the various risks across the Group and their likely impact is
carried out in conjunction with the ICAAP undertaken annually. As part of the ICAAP process, Group Risk function identifies the
various risks the Group is exposed to as part of its day-to-day cperations. Next, the Group assesses these risks against the existing
palickes and procedures, frameworks and methodologies, contingency plans and other processes to measure, manage and
mitigata the impact of such risks. Finally the Group determines the capital requirements for the material risk exposures,

The key objectives of the Group's capital management process are:

*«  Maintain sufficient capital to meet minimum capital requirement set by CBUAE.

=  Maintain sufficient capital to support Group's Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per long-term strategic plan.

#  Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scenarios including increased capital requirements determined through
1CAAP,

*  Tosupport the Group's credit rating.

The Group conducts regular stress test exercises to assess the resilience of the group to adverse market developments under
stress scenarios. The risk factors are shocked using the assumptions made under the respective scenarios and the correspanding
impact on the capital adequacy is determined, The Group uses various macroeconomic and idiosyncratic stress tests in order to
project capital need and capital levels under various stress scenarigs. The stress testing is percelved as an important tool in
internal capital planning, The stress test result during 2021 shows that the Group has adequate capital even under adverse
SLenariks.

During the year, the Bank implemented the Basel Il Capital adequacy requirements in accordance with CBUAE Capital adeguacy
Standards psued vide notice no CBUAESBSD/N/2020/4980. CBUAE has also mtroduced additional requirements with respect to
leverage ratio which Domestic-Systemically Important Banks [D-51Bs) must maintain at least 3.5%. CBUAE also released a revised
set of disclosures and reporting frequencies for Pillar 11, These Standards are implemented in a phased manner from June 2021
to June 2022 as presoribed by the CBUAE.

Further, as part of the TESS ralief provided by the UAE Central Bank in response ta COVID-19, the Bank is able to fully utilise its
1.50 % D-5!B buffer and 605 of its capital conservation buffer without supervisory consequences until 31 December 2021,

As per the CBUAE standards regarding the capital definition, the expected [ proposed dividends are to be deducted from CET1.
Consequently, the Capital Adequacy ratio as computed below takes into account the impact of proposed dividend.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)

(e} Capital management (continued)

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AEDDOD AEDDOOD

Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital 10,920,000 10,920,000
Proposed scrip dividend 2,293,200 -
share premium 53,557,581 53,538,584
Retained earnings 22,638,219 13,980,939
Statutory and special reserve 10,920,000 10,920,000
General reserve and share option scheme 478,081 478,081
Fair value resarve 614,796 525375
Hon-controlling Interasts 15,428 290,996
Foreign currency translation resenve {535,023) [377.851)
IFRS transitional arrangement: Partial addback of ECL 163,320 907,796
Less: Proposed dividend! {7,644,000) (8,080,800)
Eligible Tier 1 capital {a) 93,421,602 88,103,570
Deductions:
Treasury shares {6,430) {E.980)
Deferred tax assets {99,056) [100,437)
Goadwill and Intangible assets {21,120,888) (20,765,636)
Other deductions {199.911) (219,197}
Tatal deductions {21,4286,285) (21,095,250)
71,995,317 67,008,320
Additional Tier 1
Tier 1 capital notes 10,754,750 10,754,750
82,750,067 77,763,070
Tier 2 capital
Qualifying subordinated liabilities 269,345 282,483
Allowance for collective impairment 5,963,217 5,514,812
6,232,562 5,747,295
Total regulatory capital base B8, 982,629 53,560,265
pre——
Risk weighted assets:
Cridit rigk 477,057,405 441,184,990
Market risk 69,423,094 28,119,038
Operational risk 32,514,765 35,735,719
Rk welghted assets 578,995 264 505,339,747
Ratios with transition impact:
CET 1 ratio 12.4% 13.3%
Tier 1 capital ratio 14.3% 15.4%
Capital adequacy ratio 15.4% 16.5%
S
The Group and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements for all
periods presented.

‘The above capital adequacy ratios have been calculated in line with Basel guidelines and proposed dividends are subject to share
haolders' appraval at the Annual General Meeting,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{ff  Country risk

Country risk is the likelihood of economic, soctal, and political events in a foreign country negatively influencing the willingness
or ability of state owned and/ar privately ewned customers in that country to pay their debts on time.

The Group undertakes a detailed qualitative analysis pertaining to country risk as a part of the business decision process. These
factors include economic, social and paolitical stability in each country, the manetary policy, the foreign exchange control measure,
the transparency of information, the financial and market structure, banking regulations and superision, the legal system, and
the accounting standards among others, Country fisks are monitared and controlled using country limits st by the Group; thete
limits are in accordance with overall business strategy, capital adequacy and provisions for potential risks, risk rating of each
country, acceptable level of risk, and business opportunithes in each country.

(B}  Strategic risk

Strategic risk refers to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Group's earnings, capital, reputation or standing arising
from changes in the environment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decislons, improper implementation of
decisions or lack of responsiveness to industry, econamic of technological changes. It is a function of compatibility of Group's
strategic goals, strategies developed to achieve those goals, resources deployed to meet those goals and the guality of
implementation,

The Group uses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, including level of integration of risk
management palicies and practices In the strateglc planning process, aggressiveness of strategic goals and compatibility with
developed business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earnings volatility, effectiveness of
communication and consistency of application of strategic goals, objectives, corporate culture, and behaviour throughout the
Group.

Strategic risks are monitored and contralled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Group reviews the progress on
stratepic initiathves vis-a-vis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the external business
environment. The strategic plan is periodically reviewed and updated subject (o an approval process which 15 also a part of the
strabegic planning process.

{h}  Compliance risk

Compliance risk refers to the risk to earnings or capital or reputation or continued business extstence arising from vielations of,
or non-cenformance with, laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards.

The Group, on a continuous basis, identifies and assesses such risks inherent in all new and existing “material” products, activities,
processes and systema. This includes risk assessments on nan-conformance with Laws, Fules, regulations, prescribed practices, of
ethical standards, The Group Compliance function has a group-wide compliance unit that develops internal palicies under which
such risks are managed, and It is supported by the Risk Management, Internal Audit and Legal functions.

In order to monitor compliance and financial crime risks, the Group has developed and implemented due diligence processes,
reviaws of policies and procedures across the Group, im plementation of integrated compliance and financial crime systems which

manage name clearance, transaction manitaring, payment monitaring activities, assessment through compliance checklists etc

Compliance risk is larpely mitigated by way of focused policies and procedures, extensive checklist based and on-spot due
diligence, annual risk assessments, moenitaring and assurance, communications, and regular training sessions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

45 Financial risk management {continued)
{i) Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the risk to earnings or capatal arising from negative public opinion, This can be due to external or internal
events.

The Group identifies and assesses reputational risk by dearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key sources of
reputational risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstancoes, describing the risks identified in terms of the nature
of risk and the potential consequences that the risks may bring to s reputation. The Group also refers to other relevant
infermation for risk identification purposeas, Such information may be saurced from media reports, stakeholder analysis reports,
internal audit and compliance reports, managemeant exception reports o other early warning indicators.

For reputational risks, apart from the regular monitoring of external and internal events that can result in possible reputational
risks, the Group also has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the BOD and senlor
management to take prompt corrective actions to addrass any anticipated reputational event in advance,

In erder te manage reputational risks, the Group has set In place a mechanism that entalls drawing up action plans to identify
reputational risk events and facilitate subsequent monitonng of the progress made; for those risks that may be vary difficult or
too costly to eliminate entirely the mechanism requires development of contingency plans as response actions.

46 Financial assets and liabilities

{a} Valuation framework

The Group has an established control framework for the measurement of fair values. Several control functions support this

framework [Valuation Control and Product Control within Finance and Market Risk Analytics within Risk functions) that are

indepandent of Front Office Management. Specific controls include:

=  |Independent verification of market data used in the valuation process and valuation adjustments when significant deviations
are observed;

# Review of sgnificant unobservable and stale inputs and significant changes to the fair value measwement of Level 3
Instruments;

»  Measurement of exit valuation {'Bid Offer’);

# Validation and approval process for new models and frequent review of existing models or when changes are performed:

*  Quarterly calibration and back-testing of models against abserved market transactions;

»  Model adjustments when inputs are overly simplified or the model has limitations deriving the fair value of a position;

s Analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation mavemenes,

When third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services is used to measure fair value, Valuation Control assesses
and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that the valuations meet the requirements
of IFRS Standards. This includes:

= Verifying that the broker or pricing service is approved by the Group for use in pricing the relevant type of financial
instrument;

¢ Understanding how the fair value has beaen arrived at, the extent to which it represents actual market transactions and
whether it represents a quoted price in an active market for an identical Instrument;

* When prices for similar instruments are used to measure fair value, understanding how these prices have been adjusted to
reflect the characteristics of the instrument subject to measurement; and

= If a number of guates for the same financial Instrument have been obtained, then understanding how fair value has been
determined using those quotes.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group Valuatien and Audit Committees,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

46 Financial assets and liahilities {continued)
(b) Waluvation models

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements.

*  Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

*  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly [i.e. as prices) or indirecthy
(i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using guoted market prices in active markets for similar
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

#  Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instrurmants for which the valuation technigue includes
inputs that are not observable, and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments,

Waluation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments for which
observable market prices exist, Black-5choles and polynomial option pricing models and other valuation models. Assumptions
and inputs used in valvation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used
in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, fﬂﬂ!iﬂ,ﬂ currancy excha nge rates, equity and equity index prices and expected
price volatilities and correlations.

The abjective of valuation technigues i to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be recenved to
sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,

The Group uses widely recopnised valuation medels to determine the fair value of common and simple financial iInstruments,
such as interest rate and currency swaps, that use only observable market data and require little management judgement and
estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for isted debt and equity securities, exchange-
traded derivatives, and simple OTC derivatives such as interest rate swaps. The availability of observable market prices and model
inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and reduces the uncertainty associated with determining
fair values, The availabilivy of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to
changes bazed on specific events and peneral conditions in the financial markets,

Far more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation medels, which are usually developed from recognised
valuation madels. Some or all the significant inputs into these modek may not be observable in the market and may be derived
from market prices or rates or estimated based on assumptions. Examples of instruments involving significant unobservable
inputs include certain OTC structured derivatives, certain leans, securities for which there is no active market. Valvation models
that employ significant unobservable inputs require 3 higher degree of management judgement and estimation in the
determination of fair value. Management judgemeant and estimation are wsually required for the selection of the appropriate
valuation model to be used, determination of expected future cash flows an the financial instrument baing valued, determination
of the probability of counterparty default and prepayments, determination of expected volatilities and correlations and selection
of appropriate discount rates. In cases where inputs are deemed unobsenable, additional provision may be required to cater for
the higher valuation uncertainty

Falr values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group entity
and the counterparty where apprapriate. For measuring derivatives that might change classification from being an asset to a
liability or vice versa = e.g interast rate swaps = fair values take into account both credit valuation adjustment (CWA) and debit
valuation adjustment (DVA] when market participants would take this into consideration in pricing the derivatives,

hodel inputs and parameters are based on and calibrated to market cbservable prices, including broker quotes, current or recent
transaction prices and market consensus, where available. In absence of market observable prices, empirical data and/or

judgement may be required in model calibration process, which is inherently subjective and can yield range of possible inputs
and estimates of fair value. Management uses prudent judgement to select the most appropriate point in the range.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)
46 Financial assets and liahilities {continued)

(k) Valuation models (continued)
OTC structured derivatives

As part of its trading activities, the Graup enters OTC structured darivatives — primarily options indexed to cradit spreads, eguity
prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates — with customers and other banks. Some of these instruments are valued using
models with significant uncbservable inputs, principally expected long-term wvolatilities, and expected correlations betwesn
different underlyings.

Measurement an the basls of net expasures to rlsks

If the Group measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of net exposures to market risks, then it
applies judgement in determining appropriate portfolio-level adjustments such as bid-ask spreads. These adjustments are derived
from observable bid-ask spreads for similar instruments and adjusted for factors specific to the portfolio. Similarly, when the
Group measures portfalios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of net exposure to tha credit risk of 3 particular
counterparty, it takes into account any exsting arrangements that mitigate the credit risk exposure — &g master netting
agreements with the counterparty.

Credit and Debit Valuation Adjustments {“"CVA" and “DVA")

CWA and DVA are incorporated into derivative valuations to reflect the impact on fair value of counterparty credit risk and own
credit quality respectively. These adjustments are calculated for both uncollateralised and collateralised derivatives across all
asset classes, CVA and DVA are calculated using estimates of expected positive and nepative exposures respactively, probability
of default and recovery rates, at a counterparty bevel. Counterparties include (but are not limited to) financial institutions,
corperates, soverelgns and soverelgn agencies and supranationals. Expected exposure s generally estimated through the
simulation of underlying risk factors through Monte Carlo simulation technigues,

Probability of default and recovery rate infarmation is generally sourced from the COS markets. Where this infarmation s not
available, or considered unreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a sector curve based
on the rating, the region and the industry sector. Net adjustment for CWA and DVA remained constant at AED 34 million
(31 Dec 2020: AED 136 million) during the year,

Maodel-related adjustments

hodel related adjustments are applied when either model inputs are averly simplified or the model has limitations deriving the

fair value of a position. These adjustments are required to correct existing model weaknesses or deficiencies that were highlighted
during the model review process
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
46 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
(c)  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy

The table belew analyses financial instruments measuned at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the level in the fair value
hlerarchy inta which the fair value measurement |5 categorsed;

Lewe] 1 Total
AED'DDOD AED' D00

As at 31 Dec 2021
Investrmant at fair value thraugh profit o loss 9,022,529 27,921,612 8,628,111 45,572,252
FYOC] - with recyche to profit or loss 107,011,926 30,680,916 2,287,714 139,980,556
POCI - without recycle to profit or loss 722,426 = 205,158 927,584
Dervative financial instruments |Assets) 73,286 24,200,104 376 24,273,766
115,830,167  B2,202,632 11,121,358 210,754,158
Term borrowings - 619,857 - 619,857
Derivative financial instruments |Liabilities) 103,193 28,267.427 24,465 28,395,085
103,193 28,887,284 24465 29,014,942

As at 31 Dec 2020
Inwestment at fair valuve through profit or loss 9,921,320 5,292,365 6,052,558 21,266,243
FVCCT - with recycle to profit or loss 111,756,913 12,709,056 3,143,446 117,609,415
FVOC! - without recyclia to profit or loss 534,816 - 12,662 557,508
Dervative financial instruments (Assets) 47620 32,511,261 - 31,558,881
122,260,699 50,512,682 9. 218666  1B1,992,047
Tasrm Borfawings - 466,881 - A66,881
Dertvative financial instruments (Liabdlities) 108,153 38,720,806 3,045 38,832,004

108,153 35,187 687 3,045 35,298,885
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

46 Financial assets and liabilities {continwed)

{c)  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The following table shows the transfer between the hierarchies:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

AED'DDD AEDY DeD) AED'DDO
As at 31 Dec 2021
Irvestment at fair value through profit or loss
Transfer from 1to 2 - 90,262 - 90,262
Transfer from 2 to 1 17,745 - - 17,7485
Transfer from 3o 1 4,736 - - 4,736
Transfer from 3to 2 . 534 - 534
MNon-trading investments
Transfer from 1to 2 B 4,907,176 - 4,907,176
-Transfer from 2to 1 774,414 - - 774,414
Transfer from 3ta 1 37,820 = = 37,820
Transfer from 3to 2 - 707,758 - 707,758

834,765 5,705,730 - 6,540,495
Asat 31 Dec 2020
Investrnent at fair value through profit o loss
Transfer from 1to 2 . 152,045 . 152,045
Transfer from1to3 - - 282,570 282,570
Transfer from 2 to 3 - - 12,074 12,074
Man-trading imestments
Transfer fram 1to 2 . 5,161,377 . 5,161,377
Transfer from 2to 1 3,538,569 - 3,538,569
Transfer fram 2 ta 3 . - 113,088 113,088

3,538,568 5313422 407,732 8,259,723

Thee fallowing table shows a recanciliation of instruments measured at fair value (assets) and dassified as Level 3:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
AED DOO AED'ODO

Balance as at the beginning of year 9,218,666 2 506,843
Additions [ Transfars 4,315,518 5,921,464
Settlements and other adjustments {2,412,825) (210,641
Balance as at the end of year 11,121,359 9,218,666

—_— —_———————

The Level 3 financial instruments includes private equity investments, and their valuations are based an the last net asset published
by the fund manager. The effect of changes in its valwation is covered a5 part of equity price risk included in note 43{c). The remaining
mainly comprise of debt instruments which are priced using last available prices.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
a7 Business Combination

On 28 April 2021, the Bank acquired 1005 of the share capital of Bank Audi SAE (Egypt], Bank Audi®s subsidiary in Egypt. The acquisition
was effected through transfer of cash from the acquiror to the acquiree, The acquisition was effected to accelerate FAB Group's
expansion in high-petential market, It will significantly increase the size, scale and experience of FAB Egypt, adding greater depth and
reach to customers both locally and ghobally.

a. Purchase consideration
The purchase consideration paid for the acquisition afl 1005 shares is USD 600 million {equivalent to AED 2,203 million).

b. Integration related costs
The Group incurred integration related costs of AED 117 million till 31 Dec 21, including consultant and external legal fees and due
diligence costs. These costs have been included in "General, adminkstrative and other operating expensas’ In the consolidated financial

statements of profit or loss,

C. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fallowing table summarices the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed en the date of acquisition,

28 Apr 2021
AED' 00D

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 5,596,549
Due from banks and financial institutions 3,251,214
Investment at fair value through profit or loss 7358
Reverse repurchase agreement 490,843
Derivative financial Instruments 30
Leans, advances and Islamic financing 7,000,479
Non-trading investments. 6,706,384
Other assets 318,408
Property and equipment 374,241
Total assets 23,745,546
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 79,567
Derivative financial instruments 3
Repurchase agreament 3,355
Customer accounts and ather deposits 21,165,336
Other liabilities 635,883
21,884,144
I
Met assets as at acquisition date attributable to its common equity holders 1,861,402
—_—
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
a7 Business Combination [continued)

d. Goodwill and Intangibles

The Bank has assumed the carrying value of financlal assets and liabilities as at 28 April 2021 not to be significantly different to their
fair value for the purpose of calculating provisional goodwill:

AED'000
Total consideration 2,203,800
Bank Audi SAE (Egypt] net assets value 1,861,402
Provisional goodwill 342,398

The Bank is in the process of undertaking a comprehensive purchase price allocation which is expected to be completed within twelve
menths fram the acquisition date and will focus an, but is not limited to, the follawing:

valuation of intangible assets;
valuation of properties and equipment;
valuation adjustments on other recognized financial and non-financial assets and liabilities; and
initial adjustments to fair value of leans, advances and bslamic financing have been made, which will be completed in due course.
The goadwill is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from acquisition in high patential market.
e, Impact on Group's results

From the date of acquisition untll 31 December 2021, Bank Audi SAE (Egypt) contributed revenue and aperating income af
AED 597 millian and a prafit of AED 139 million to the Group's resules. If the acquisition had eccurred on 1 January 2021, management
estimate that consolidated operating income and profit for the year would be AED 910 million and AED 244 million respectively. In
determining these amounts, the Group has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined provisionally, that arase on the date
of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 Janwary 2021,

48 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been raclassified where appropriate to confarm to the presentation adopted in these consalid ated
financial staterments.
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2017 12 31 2018 12 31 2019 12 31 2020 12 31 2021 12 31

32.06 31.08 30.55 30.52 31.42
29.36 28.54 28.67 27.87 27.97
30.54 30.08 29.69 29.07 29.91
30.68 29.88 29.57 28.13 31.34
2021 12 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
31.34 31.62 31.58 33.59 35.63 35.54
30.70 30.95 31.15 31.27 33.37 34.52
31.03 31.27 31.37 32.29 34.42 35.07

36.33 2022 17
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Independent Auditors Report
To the Shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C. (the
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financia position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statements of profit or loss,
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes,
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS").

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA
Code") together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethica
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment of loans, advances and Islamic financing

See Note 8 and 33 to the consolidated financia statements

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our
audit

The Group recognized allowances for Our audit procedures in this areainclude

credit losses on its consolidated the following, among others:

financial statements using expected
credit loss (“ECL”) models. The Group
exercises significant judgments and
makes a number of assumptionsin
developing its ECL modelswhichis
determined as a function of the Obtaining an understanding of the ECL
assessment of the probability of defavilt accounting estimate including, but not
(“PD"), loss given default (“LGD"), limited to, obtaining information about
the entity's control environment in
relation to the estimate, obtaining an

Evaluating the appropriateness of the
accounting policies adopted based on the
requirements of IFRS 9, and our business
understanding.

adjusted for the forward looking

information, and exposure at default _ _
(“EAD") associated with the underlying understanding of the process by which
the estimate is developed, understanding

the methods, assumptions and data used

Qualitative adjustments or overlays to develop the accounting estimate.
may also be recorded by the Group

using credit judgement where the
inputs, assumptions and / or modelling
techniques do not capture all relevant
risk factors.

exposures subject to ECL.

Updating our understanding of the ECL
end-to-end processes, including
assessing the design, implementation,
and operating effectiveness of selected
relevant controls.

Furthermore, and where applicable, the
COVID-19 pandemic continues to pose
challenges to businesses thus increasing
the level of judgment needed in
determining the ECL.

Involving our Financial Risk
Management (“FRM™) specialiststo
review the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the methodology and
assumptions used in various components

Thisis considered a key audit matter, as of ECL modelling and governance over
the determination of ECL involves the application of expert credit judgment
significant management judgment, use of to determine the ECL. Thisincluded
complex models and this has a material challenging key assumptionsg/judgments
impact on the consolidated financial relating to significant increase in credit
statements of the Group. risk (" SICR"), definition of default,

probability of default, recovery rates, use
of macro-economic variables and
probability weighted outcomes to check
that the ECL amounts recorded are
reflective of underlying credit quality
and macroeconomic trends including the
impact of COVID-19, as applicable.
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Impairment of loans, advances and Islamic financing (continued)

See Note 8 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our
audit

Testing the completeness and accuracy of
the data used within the ECL calculation.

Involving our Information Technology
(“1T") specidiststo test the relevant
genera IT and application controls over
key systems used in the ECL process.

Re-performing key aspects of the Group’s
SICR determinations and selecting
samples of loans, advances and Ilamic
financing to determine whether a SICR
event was appropriately identified
including assessing the additional
judgements made for the borrowers who
have been granted payment deferrals.

Evaluating the reasonableness of and
testing a sample of post model
adjustments and management overlays
that continue to exist on account of
COVID-19, as applicable.

Involving our valuation speciaist on a
sample basis to assess the reasonabl eness
of the valuation of real estate collaterals
held by the Group, relating to the
determination of ECL, including the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as
applicable.

Performing credit assessments for a
sample of selected customers, including
Stage 3 customers, to test the
appropriateness of the credit grades,
including staging, assessing the financial
performance of the borrower, source of
repayment and future cash flows of the
borrower, and as necessary, challenging
the appropriateness of the ECL calculation
for a sample of borrowers.

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures by reference to the
requirements of the relevant accounting
standards.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Bank’s Annual Report, but does not include the Bank’s
consolidated financial statements and our auditors report thereon (‘the Annual report’). The
Annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility isto
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate
actions in accordance with | SAs.

Responsihilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is ahigh level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Aspart of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether amaterial uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosuresin the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financia statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financia statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We aso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communi cated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattersin our auditors report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legd and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), we report that for the
year ended 31 December 2021

i)

i)

v)

vi)

vii)

viii)

we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for
the purposes of our audit;

the consolidated financia statements have been prepared and comply, in al
material respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of
2015 (as amended);

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

the financial information included in the Chairman’s statement is
consistent with the books of account of the Group;

as disclosed in notes 5 and 9 to the consolidated financia statements, the Group has
purchased shares during the year ended 31 December 2021;

note 41 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party
transactions and the terms under which they were conducted,;

based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the
financia year ended 31 December 2021 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE
Federal Law No.(2) of 2015 (as amended) or in respect of the Bank, its Articles of
Association, which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2021; and

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions
made during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Further, as required by Article(114) of the Decretal Federal Law No.(14)of 2018 (as amended), we
report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the
purposes of our audit.

/9/Richard Ackland

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited

Richard Ackland

Registration No.: 1015

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

Date:26 January 2022
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